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GENERAL INFORMATION

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Annual Report”), “Adaptimmune,” the “Group,” the “Company,” “we,”
“us” and “our”referto Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc and its consolidated subsidiaries, except where the context
otherwise requires. “Adaptimmune” and “SPEAR” are registered trademark s of Adaptimmune.

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This AnnualReport contains forward-looking statements thatinvolve risks and uncertainties, as wellas
assumptions that, if they never materialize or prove incorrect, could cause our results to differ materially from those
expressedorimplied by such forward-looking statements. We make such forward-looking statements pursuant to the
safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and other federal securities laws. All
statements other than statements of historical facts contained in this Annual Report are forward-looking statements. In
some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by words such as “believe,” “may,” “will,” “estimate,”
“continue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “expect” or the negative of these words or other comparable terminology.

Any forward-looking statements in this Annual Report reflect our current views with respectto future events or
to our future financial performance andinvolve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors thatmay
cause ouractual results, performance orachievements to be materially differentfrom any future results, performance or
achievements expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Factors that may causeactual results to differ
materially from current expectations include, among other things, those listed under Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factorsand
elsewhere in this Annual Report. Given these uncertainties, you should notplace undue reliance on these forward-
looking statements. Exceptas required by law, we assume no obligationto update or revise these forward-looking
statements forany reason, evenif newinformationbecomes available in the future.

This AnnualReportalso contains estimates, projections and other information concerning our industry, our
business, and the markets for certain diseases, including data regarding the estimated size of those markets, andthe
incidence and prevalence of certain medical conditions. Informationthat is based on estimates, forecasts, projections,
market research or similar methodologies is inherently subjectto uncertainties and actual events or circumstances may
differ materially from eventsand circumstances reflected in this information. Unless otherwise expressly stated, we
obtainedthis industry, business, market and other data from reports, research surveys, studies and similar data prepared
by third parties, industry, medicaland general publications, governmentdata and similar sources.



Item 1. Business

Overview

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company focused on providing novel cell therapies to people with
cancer. We are a leader in the development of T-cell therapies for solid tumors and have reported responses in multiple
solid tumor indications.

Our proprietary platform enables us to identify cancer targets, find and develop cell therapy candidates active
against those targets and produce therapeutic candidates for administration to patients. Our celltherapy candidates
include Specific Peptide Enhanced Affinity Receptor (“SPEAR” T-cells) which use genetically engineered T-cell
receptors (“TCRs”); next generation Tumor Infiltrating Lymphocytes (“TILs”) where a patient’s own T-cellsare co-
administered with our nextgenerationtechnology, and HLA-independent TCRs (“HiTs”) where surface proteinsare
targetedindependently of the peptide-HLA complex. Our cell therapies are currently manufactured onanautologous or
per patientbasis and we have a proprietary preclinical allogeneic platform for the development of““offthe shelf” cell
therapies.

Our MAGE-A4 celltherapy franchise includes T-cell therapy products targeting solid tumor indications in which the
MAGE-A4 antigenis expressed, with responses seen in eight indications (head and neck, esophagogastric junction
(“EGJ”),non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC)-squamous, synovial sarcoma, melanoma, bladder, ovarian and
myxoid/round cell liposarcoma (MRCLS) indications) across the franchise. A Biologics License Application (BLA) for
the lead product (afamitresgene autoleucel or “afami-cel”) is targeted for filing with the U.S. Food and Drug

Administration (“FDA”)in Q4 2022 for synovial sarcoma. We have multiple clinical trials ongoing or planned across
the remainder of the MAGE-A4 franchise:

e SPEARHEAD-1 Phase 2 Trialwith afami-cel (ADP-A2M4): Aregistration directed Phase 2 clinical trial
is ongoingin synovial sarcoma in which the MAGE-A4 antigen is expressed. Enrollmentin Cohort 1 is
complete, andthe cohort met its primary endpoint with anoverall response rate (ORR) per independent
review of 34%. Subjectto the successful filingand approval of a BLAbythe FDAwe planto
commercially launchafami-cel in the United States (“U.S.”). Cohort 2 of the trialis ongoing.

e SURPASSPhase 1 Trial with ADP-A2M4CDS8: Enrollment isongoingin a Phase 1 trial forournext
generation SPEAR T-cell, ADP-A2M4CDS8, including for patients with lung, gastroesophageal, head and
neck, ovarianand bladder cancers in which the MAGE-A4 antigen is expressed. An overall response rate
0f36% was reported at the European Society for Medical Oncology (“ESMO”) conference in 2021 with a
complete response in a patientwith ovarian cancerand partial responses reported in patients with ovarian,
head and neck, esophagogastric junction, bladder and synovial sarcoma cancers.

e SURPASS-2 Phase 2 Trial with ADP-A2MA4CD8: A Phase 2 clinical trial with ADP-A2M4CD8in
esophagealand EGJ cancers has been initiated and is enrolling.

A furtherPhase 2 trial with ADP-A2M4CD8 in ovarian cancer (“SURPASS-3") is planned to start laterin 2022
and anadditional cohortto the SURPASS trial combining ADP-A2M4CD8 with a checkpointinhibitorisalso in
planning.

We are also planningto initiate a Phase 1 trial with a new next-generation SPEAR T-cell targeting M AGE-A4
forthe treatmentof patients with advanced head and neck squamous cell carcinoma, non-small cell lung cancer, or
ovarian cancer. Developed in collaboration with Noile-Immune Biotech Inc. (“Noile-Immune”), this product (ADP-
A2MA4ANTX19) incorporates I L-7 and CCL19in the celltherapy product.

Outside of the MAGE-A4 franchise, we have an active preclinical pipeline of cell therapy candidates with the
aim of delivering five newautologous cell therapies to theclinic by 2025. The pipeline includes new autologous SPEAR
T-cells, SPEAR T-cells addressing alternative HLA-types, next-generation SPEAR T-cells, HiTsand next-generation
TILs. These are beingdeveloped internally and in collaborationwith third parties including Alpine Immune Sciences



(“Alpine”), the National Center for Cancer Immune Therapy in Denmark (“CCIT””) and Noile-Immune. Aclinical trial
application (“CTA”) for Tumor Infiltrating Lymphocytes (“TILs”) incorporating IL -7 has been filed in Denmark, with a
clinicaltrial planned to startin 2022atCCIT. These approaches enable us to further enhance and extend the reach of our
cell therapies thus increasing the number of patients we can potentially treat.

We are also developing allogeneic or “off-the-shelf” cell therapies utilizing a proprietary allogeneic platform.
The platform utilizes cells derived from Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells (“iPSCs”), which canbe gene -edited to express
ourengineered TCRs or other constructs and thendifferentiated into therequiredend cell type, forexample T-cells. The
platformisapplicable to all of our celltherapies and we plan to bring two allogeneic programsto the clinic by 2025, the
first forallogeneic celltherapiestargeting MAGE-A4.

We have strategic collaborations in place with Astellas and Genentech Inc (“Genentech”):

e During Q32021 we announceda strategic collaboration with Genentechand F. Hoffman-La RocheLtd.to
research, develop, and commercialize allogeneic T-cell therapies (the “Genentech Collaboration™). The
collaboration covers theresearch and development of““off-the-shelf” cell therapies forup to fiveshared cancer
targets (“off-the-shelf”’ products) and thedevelopment ofa novel allogeneic personalized cell therapy platform.
Underthe terms of the agreement, we havereceived an upfront payment of $150 million and will receive
additional payments of $150 million over five years, unless theagreement is earlier terminated. In addition, we
may be eligible to receive research, development, regulatory and commercial milestones payments potentially
exceeding $3 billion in aggregate value. We will also receive tiered royalties on netsales in the mid-single to
low-double digits. We havethe right to optin to a 50/50 U.S. profit/costshare on “off-the-shelf” products. If
we elect to opt in, then we will be eligible to share 50 percent of profits and losses from U.S. sales on such
productsandare eligible to receive ex-U.S. regulatory and sales-based milestone payments, as well as royalties
onex-U.S.netsales.

e Wealso havea strategic collaboration program ongoing with Astellas (through its wholly -owned subsidiary
Universal Cells) in relation to upto threetargets with theaim of co-developing T-cell therapy candidates
directed to those targets and utilizing our allogeneic platform for “off-the-shelf” cell therapies. The first target
subject tothe collaboration is the mesothelin targetto which a HiT cell therapy is being developed. Asecond
target hasbeennominated by Astellas.

We also haveseveral development and research collaborations including our collaboration with GSK forthe
development, manufactureand commercialization of TCR therapeutic candidates for up tofive programs, a clinicaland
preclinicalalliance agreement with MD Anderson Cancer Center and research collaborations with Alpine, Noile-
Immune,and CCIT.

We are an integrated cell therapy company with our own manufacturing facility in the U.S. and dedicated
lentiviral vector manufacturing in the United Kingdom (“U.K.”). This enables us to continue improving the patient
experienceassociated with our celltherapies including the ability to rapidly introduce improvementsto the
manufacturing process and patient supply chain.

Business Strategy

Building on our leadership position with engineered T-cell therapies in solid tumor indications, our strategic
objective isto be a world leader in designingand delivering cell therapies that transform the lives of people with cancer.
To achieveourobjectives, our corevalue drivers are as follows:

Progressingtwo cell therapies toward commercialization. We are planningto file a BLA with the FDA during
Q4 2022 forafami-cel. Data from Cohort 1 of the SPEARHEAD-1 trial metits primary endpoint. Afami-cel continuesto
showa favorable benefit:risk profile across the patients treated. BLA preparations are underway with pe diatric plans
agreed with regulatory agenciesand multiple BLA-directed activities including vectorand T-cell therapy manufacturing
process characterization progressing. Further Phase 2 trials are underway (SURPASS-2 in esophageal and



esophagogastric junction cancers) or anticipatedto startlaterin 2022 (SURPASS-3 in ovarian cancer). Depending on the
clinicaldata obtained from those trials, we plan tofile a BLA following conclusion of those trials.

Progressingtwo celltherapiesinto later clinical phase. Subject to the data from ongoing clinical trials, we
plan to rapidly progress clinical candidates throughclinical trials and towards BLA filing. Forexample, our ADP-
A2M4CD8therapyisina Phase 1 clinicaltrial (SURPASS) focusingon MAGE-A4 positive patients including in lung,
head andneck, bladder, ovarianand gastroesophageal indications. A first Phase 2 trial has already been started in
patients with esophageal and esophagogastric junction indications based on initial data from the Phase 1 SURPASS trial
and a second Phase 2 trialisdue to be initiated later in 2022 in ovarian cancer patients. Depending on the data obtained,
additional indications may be identified for ADP-A2M4CDB8to be progressed into later phasetrials and ultimately toa
BLAfiling.

Progress five new autologous cell therapies into the clinic within five years. We continueto progress our
pipeline of celltherapy candidates including HiT cell therapy candidates, new SPEAR T -cells and next-generation TILs.
We aim to progress these candidates through our preclinical pipeline quickly and start Phase 1 clinicaltrials once
preclinicalwork is complete. Forexample, a next-generation TIL trialin collaborationwith CCIT is in the process of
beinginitiated with a CTAfiled in 2021 in Denmark,anda Phase 1 clinicaltrialwith ADP-A2M4N7X19, a new next-
generation productincorporating IL-7 and CCL19is plannedto be initiated laterin 2022.

Continuingto develop “off-the-shelf” cell immunotherapies and progress two cell therapies to the clinic
within five years. We continue todevelop our “off-the-shelf” (allogeneic) platform, which is broadly applicable to cell
therapies, both internally and in collaboration with our partners Astellas and Genentech. The first allogeneic product
includesa SPEAR T-celltargeting MAGE-A4and a secondallogeneic product includes a HiT targeting mesothelin
(partnered with Astellas).

Continuingto improve our manufacturingand patient supply processes to optimize how we deliver our cell
therapiesto patients. Our integrated cell therapy capabilities enable us to continually enhance our celland vector
manufacturingand supply processes whichwe believe will ultimately enable usto treat patients quicker, at a lower cost
and more effectively. We are planning to open a new manufacturing facility dedicated to allogeneic cell therapy
manufacturingin 2022. This facility is co-located with our research facility in the U.K. Additionally we are expanding
the manufacturing capacity in our existing autologousmanufacturing facility in Philadelphia, PennsyIvania.

Expandingour intellectual propertyportfolio. We continue tobuild and develop our technology platform,
comprising intellectual property, proprietary methods and know-how in the field of cell therapies. These assets form the
foundation of our ability to strengthen our product pipeline and defend and expand our positionasa leader in cell

therapy.
Our Cell Therapiesfor Cancer
The Immune Systemand T-cells

The immune system playsanimportant role in targetingand destroying cancer cells. Specifically, T -cells,
which are a type of white blood cell, and their receptors create a natural system that is designed to scanthe body for
diseased cells. In general, cells process proteins internally and then convert these proteins into peptide fragments which
are then presented on the cell surfaceby a protein complex called the Human Leukocyte Antigen (“HLA”). T -cells
naturally scanall other cellsin the body for the presence of abnormal peptide fragments, such as those generated from
infectious agents. Recognition of this peptide-HLA complex takes place through the T-cell receptor or TCR expressed
onthe T-cells. However, binding of naturally occurring TCRs to cancer targets tends to be very poor because cancer
proteins appear verysimilarto naturally occurring proteins on healthy cells.

Cancer Target Identification and Validation

Before developingany engineered T-cell therapy, it is important to identify and validate a suitable target cancer
peptide or protein. The targetmust be expressed only on the cancer cells of interest and with expression in normalnon -



cancerous tissue only where arisk to the patient would be deemed acceptable. Careful validation and identification of
targetsisimportant toensure thatany engineered cell therapy is specific to the targeted cancerand does notbindto the
same targeton non-cancer cells, or that the receptor in the cell therapy does not recognize a similar peptide or protein
derived in normal cells. Our target identificationand validation platform is focused on three approaches. First, we
identify and validate peptide-HLA targets for cancer testis antigens for the most prevalent HLA-type, forexample, the
HLA A2 peptide forthe MAGE-A4 antigen. Second, we identify and validate similar peptides for non-cancer testis
antigenswhichare closely related to a specific disease indication, for example, the AFP antigen. Finally, we identify and
validate surface HLA peptidesforthese existing intracellular targets in the context of different HLA types as wellas
otherextracellular cell surface targets for HLA-independent TCRs or HiT constructs ensuring that we canaddress a
broader patient populationeitheracross multiple H LA types across our existing therapeutic candidates or cell surface

targets, such as mesothelin, without HLA restriction, respectively.

Cell Therapies

We have developed a range of celltherapies all of which utilize the interactionbetweena T-cellandits TCR’s
and a peptide or protein. Our cell therapies can be made directly from a patient’s own T-cells (“autologous” cell

therapies) ormanufactured from stem cells (“allogeneic” cell therapies).

Forall of ourautologous cell therapies patient T-cells are extracted and are thenengineered to generate the end
cell therapy whetherthisis through engineering of the TCRitself or through the addition of another agent which
enhancestheefficacy ofthe TCRor T-cell. The nature ofthe engineering impacts the type of cell therapy product
generated. Theengineered T-cells are thenexpandedand infused back into the patient. Whenthese T-cells encounter a
recognized peptide or protein within the patient’s body, they multiply and initiate the destruction of the targeted cancer
cells.

Forourallogeneic T-cell therapies, Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells ("iPSCs”) are gene edited to express the
engineered TCRorHiT and potentially a range of next gen modifications. As partof thegene editingtheiPSCsare also
edited to remove certain HLA-type expression so that patients expressingany HLA-type canbe treated with the same
end product. Those gene-edited iPSCs are then differentiated, usinga number of directed process steps, into T-cells,
which can then be used to treat patients expressing the tumor antigen to whichthe TCRor HiT isdirected.

Our SPEAR T-cells

Following identification of a suitable target peptide, we identify TCRs that are capable ofbindingto thattarget
peptide or protein. We thenengineer and optimizethose identified receptors to enhance their ability to recognizeand
bind to the cancertargets, thereby enabling a highly targeted immunotherapy which complements a patient’s immune
system. The optimized TCR for the celltherapy then undergoes extensive preclinical safety testing prior to
administrationto patients. A lentiviral vector isused to transfer the engineered TCR into the patient’s T-cells if that
patienthastherelevant targetand HLA type forour TCR celltherapy. The optimized celltherapy then undergoes
extensive preclinical safety testing prior to administration to patients. Our SPEAR T-cell platform technology enables us
to develop apipeline oftargets and TCR therapeutic candidates that we believe may be effective in a variety of cancer
typesthathave progressed following treatmentwith currently available and experimental th erapies. Within our MAGE-
A4 franchise we have three SPEAR T-cells being developed, afami-cel (our first generation MAGE-A4 targeted SPEAR
T-cell therapy), ADP-A2M4CD8 (a next-generation therapy incorporatinga CD8a homodimer to increase potency) and
ADP-A2M4N7X19 (a new next-generation cell therapy incorporating IL-7 and CCL19).

Our HiT Cell Therapies

Naturally occurring TCRs recognize peptides that are presented on the cell surface by a protein complex called
HLA. Patient treatmentwith our SPEAR T-cells requires patients to express a particular HLA-type. We have now
developeda TCR platform capable of producing TCRs able to recognize targets expressed on the surface of cancer cells
independently of HLA-type. The TCRisengineered torecognize and bind toa cell surfaceprotein. The HiT platform



enables usto identify suitable targets and to then generateengineered HiTs which can bind and interact with those
targets. These HLA-independent TCRs or HiTs use the same immune system processes as naturally occurring TCRs.

Our Next-Generation TIL Therapies

TIL therapy utilizes TILs taken from a patient’s tumor. A section of the tumoris excised, the TILs areisolated
and then those TILswhichbind to tumorantigens are cultured andthen further engineered to co-express oneof our next
generationtechnologies with the aim of making them more effective at attacking cancer cells. The TILsare then infused
back intothe patient. The first next-generation TIL is being developed in collaboration with CCIT, in Denmark and will
combine CCIT’s TIL process with ournext generation IL-7 technology togenerate TIL-IL7 cell therapies.

Our Clinical Product Pipeline

MAGE-A4 franchise

We have multiple celltherapiesin clinicaltrials orenteringclinical trials which targetindications in which the
MAGE-A4 antigenis expressed. The clinical trials ongoingarereflected in the clinical pipeline diagram below:

afamitresgene Phase 1 trial SPEARHEAD-1
autoleucel Migtple anors; i s N Cohort 1 enroliment complete
“afami-cel” BLA planned for 2022**
formerly ADP-A2M4
MAGE-A4 SURPASS
SURPASS-2
ADP-A2M4CD8 gea Initiated in Q32021
Combination witl
I*L _;_[m'.'”:l““V,,_::,:[,'” Initiating in 2022wl SURPASS'E Initiating in 2022
Phase 1 trial
AF P AFP-A2AFP Hepatocellutar carcinoma

e SPEARHEAD-1 Phase 2 Trialwith afami-cel: Aregistration directed Phase 2 clinicaltrialis underway in
synovial sarcomain which the MAGE-A4 antigenis expressed. Enroliment in Cohort 1 is complete, and
the cohortmetits primary endpoint. Subject to the successful filingand approval of a BLAby the FDA we
plan to commercially launch afami-cel in the U.S. Cohort 2 of the trialis ongoing.

Clinicaldata was presentedatthe Connective Tissue Oncology Society (“CTOS”)in November202 1. An
OverallResponse Rate (ORR) perindependentreview of 34% (36% in patients with synovial sarcomaand
25% for patients with MRCLS) and disease control rate of 85%was reported. The charts below summarize
the best overallresponses by RECIST v1.1asof September 1 2021, as perindependentreview.
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The graph represents data from Cohort 1. PR=partial response; SD=stable-disease;
PD=progressive disease. Data represent percent changes from baseline in sum of
diameters (sum ofthe long diameters for non-nodal lesions and short axis for nodal
lesions) in target lesions through progression or prior to surgical resection.

As of September 1 2021, 50 patients had received afami-celwhich appearedto be well-tolerated with a
favorable benefit:risk profile. The durability of responsesis encouraging.

Orphan Drugdesignation for afami-cel for thetreatment of soft tissue sarcomas has been grantedin the
European Union (“EU”)and U.S. together with Regenerative Medicine Advanced Therapy (“RMAT”)
designation in the U.S. forthe treatment of synovial sarcoma and access to the Priority Medicines
(“PRIME”)Regulatory Support initiative by the European Medicines Agency (“EMA”) for the treatment of
synovial sarcoma.

SURPASS Phase 1 Trial with ADP-A2M4CD8: Enrollment isongoingin a Phasel trial fora next
generation SPEAR T-cell, ADP-A2M4CD8 and patients are now being treated in the expansion phase of
thetrial. This next generation SPEAR T-cell utilizes the same engineered T-cell receptor as afami-cel, but
with the addition ofa CD8ahomodimer. The addition ofthe CD8a homodimer has beenshownin vitro to
increase cytokinerelease and SPEAR T-cell potency. Data fromthe trial was reportedat ESMQin
September2021. Asof August 2,2021, responses (per RECIST 1.1) were seen in five solid tumor
indications: a complete response in ovarian cancer and partial responses in ovarian, head and neck,
esophagogastric junction, bladder and synovial sarcoma cancers. Most patients treated experiencedanti-
tumoractivity with a disease control rate of 86%. ADP-A2M4CD8 had an acceptable benefit:risk profile in
the patients treated as of August 2,2021. Initial translational data supports ADP-A2M4CD8beingmore
potentthanafami-cel. The chart below illustrates the bestoverall response seenin patients evaluated as of
August 2,2021.
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The data in the above graphrepresentpercentchanges from baseline in sum of diameters (sum of
the longdiameters for non-nodal lesionsandshort axis for nodal lesions) in target lesions through
progression or priorto surgical resection; Responses were evaluatedby RECIST v1.1 per
investigator assessment. CR=complete response; PR=partial response; SD=stable disease;
PD=progressive disease; NE=notevaluable; EGJ=esophagogastric junction cancer; NSCLC=non-
smallcell lung cancer; MRCLS=myxoid/round cell liposarcoma; OVR=0varian cancer;
ESPH=esophageal cancer; UCC=urothelial carcinomaor bladder cancer; SS=synovial sarcoma;
HN=head and neck cancer

SURPASS-2, Phase 2 Trialwith ADP-A2MACDS: A Phase 2 clinical trial with ADP-A2M4CD8 in
esophageal or esophagogastric cancers has beeninitiatedandis enrolling.

SURPASS-3, a Phase 2 trial with ADP-A2M4CD8in ovarian cancer is planned to start laterin 2022and
combination trialsare also in planning with ADP-A2M4CD8. We are alsoplanningto initiate a Phase 1 trial with a new
next-generation SPEAR T-cell therapy targeting MAGE-A4 which is beingdeveloped in collaboration with Noile-
Immune andwhich incorporates IL-7 and CCL19into the celltherapy product (ADP-A2M4N7X19).

The Spearhead-2trialinvestigating afami-cel in combinationwith a checkpoint inhibitor in head and neck
cancerhasbeenclosedto enable focus on a combination between ADP-A2M4CD8anda checkpointinhibitor. Data

from a radiation sub-study of the Phase 1 trial with afami-cel was also presented during 2021. This sub-study closedto
enrollmentin July 2021.

Other Clinical Programs

ADP-A2AFP Phase 1 Trial: OurPhase 1, open-label, dose-escalation trial designed to evaluate the safety
and anti-tumor activity of ADP-A2 AFP for the treatmentof HCC closed toscreeningin 2021. We are,
however, continuing to focus on the development of new cell therapiestotarget liver cancer. Data from the
ADP-A2AFP trialwas reported atthe International Liver Congress in August 2021. As of April5,2021
thirteen patients with advanced HCC hadreceived ADP-A2 AFP in Cohort 3 and expansion phase ofthe
trial. The best overall responses in Cohort 3 andexpansion included one complete resp onse, six stable
disease and four progressive disease. The disease control rate for patients with at least one scanwas 64% (7
out of 11 patients) and two patients had stable disease lastingbeyond 16 weeks. ADP-A2AFP hadan
acceptable benefit:risk profile in the patients treated.



Autologous Preclinical Candidate Pipeline

We believe we have a strong pipeline of cell therapy candidates and we aim to deliver five products to the clinic
by 2025. Our current pipeline is illustrated below:
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Our aim isto utilize the insights we obtain from our clinical trials and translational sciences work to improve
the efficacy of ourexisting products and approaches; andto increase thescope of our celltherapies andability to treatan
increasing number of patients. For example, our next generation cell therapies including ADP-A2M4N7X19 (a next-
generation SPEAR T-cell producttargeting MAGE-A4) and the TIL-IL7 with CCIT are designedto improve efficacy.
Whereasthecelltherapies directed to alternative HLA types will increase the potentially treatable patients that can be
addressedwith our celltherapies.

Allogeneic iPSC Platform

We continue todevelop ourallogeneic platform which can be used to generate ‘off-the-shelf” cell therapies that
are universally applicable to all eligible patients by developing gene-edited iPSCs differentiated to T-cells by our in-
house proprietary process. These “off-the-shelf” cells are being developed to overcomethe currentlimitation of
autologous therapies that need to be manufactured specifically for each patient. Additionally, our process starts with
iPSCs instead of donor-derived T-cells, which potentially reduces product variability and the need for repeated infusions.

The enhanced T-celltechnology being developed involves selectiveengineering for the removal of potentially
immunogenic cell surface proteins (forexample, HLA molecules) and theaddition of our TCRs, without the use of
nucleases, to develop these T-cell products. Ifsuccessful, this will enable us to treat our patients with an “off-the-shelf”
or on demand cell therapy product withoutthe needto acquire a patient’s own cells. Our first preclinical program is for
the development of an allogeneic SPEAR T-cell productdirected to the MAGE-A4 target using the same TCR that has
been investigated in our currentclinicaltrials.

We also havetwo collaboration programs, one with Astellasin which anallogeneic product incorporatinga HiT
targetingmesothelin is being developed (and a further targethas been nominated); and onewith Genentech, in which



“off-the-shelf” cell therapies forup to five shared cancer targets (“offthe shelf” products) and a novel allogeneic
personalized celltherapy platform are being developed.

Integrated Cell Therapy Company

We are committed to buildingan integrated cell therapy company with a broad range of capabilities that enable
the researchand development of cell therapies, thetranslational analyses of clinical responses, control of the
manufacturingand supply chain and commercialization. The ability to take learnings from every stage of the process and
feed theselearnings backinto further research and developmentenables decisions to betaken at theappropriatetimeand

improvements and enhancements to processes and products to be made effectivelyand in a timely manner.

We have our own autologous cell therapy manufacturing facility at the Navy Yard in Philadelphia,
Pennsylvaniawhichis capable of supplyingall of ourautologous cell therapies currently in the clinic. The Navy Yard
facility isincreasing its manufacturing capacity to support anticipated commercial launchin the US of afami-cel. We
also have our own dedicated vector manufacturing capability in the U.K., within the Catapult Celland Gene Therapy
Manufacturing Centre in Stevenage, which isnowable to produce lentiviral vector for our clinical trials usinga
suspension process developed by the Company. Additionally, in 2022 we plan to open a new manufacturing facility
dedicatedto allogeneic drug product manufacturing, and co-located with our research facility in Milton Park in the U.K.

Control of our own end-to-end manufacturing processes (including vector, T-celland analytical quality control
testing) enables us to improve and further develop these processes for manufacture of our cell therapies. The ability to
manufacture in-house provides security of supply at a lower cost thanusinga third-party provider. In addition, the ability
to continually evaluate and optimize processes enables ongoing reductionin the times taken to treat our patients and the
overallcost of goods applicable to manufacture and supply of our cell therapies.



COVID-19 and Our Business

During the COVID-19 pandemic we have continued to focus on ensuring the safety of our work force whilst
continuingthe work we do to make our therapies available to people with cancer. Our facilities in the U.S.and U.K.
remained opento support critical manufacturing and scientific activities. We are working with ouremployees to ensure
thatthey follow guidelines set out by the U.K.and U.S. governments, as wellas regional guidance including
requirements for social distancingand mask wearing. In addition to safe working practices, we have invested in
personal protective equipmentand installed screens and other physical measures to enhancethe safety of our facilities.

The pandemic has created challenges for conducting clinical trials and we continue towork with our clinical
sitesto enrolland treat patients atthe earliest possible time particularly given that many of our patients have late -stage
cancer. Certain clinical sites have chosen to postpone treatment of patients or participation in trials whilst the pandemic
is impacting resources at those sites. We have experienced challenges around our supply chain. Many of the materials
and consumables we require for manufactureand supply of products andalso for research are alsorequired for
manufacture of COVID-19vaccinesand as a result these were prioritized to meet vaccine supplies. In certain cases, for
example, in accordance with the U.S. Defense Production Act, suppliers were required to prioritize vaccine supplies.
Thisresulted in some delays in supply of materials and consumables we require for our business, however, we were able
to mitigate againstimpacts associated with any supply delays by purchasing in advance where possible, prioritizing use
of such supplies and sourcing a lternative suppliers where necessary.

We have continued and will continue toadjustour working practices as the pandemic evolves to ensure we can
continue to treatpeople with cancer as quickly and as effectively as possible whilst protecting the health of our
colleagues.

Core Alliances and Collaborations
Genentech Strategic Collaboration and License Agreement

On September 3,2021, Adaptimmune Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Adaptimmune Therapeutics Plc,
entered intoa Strategic Collaboration and License Agreementwith Genentech, Inc.and F. Hoffman-La Roche Ltd (the
“Agreement”).

The collaboration has two components:

1) Developmentof allogeneic T-celltherapiesforup to fiveshared cancer targets

2) Developmentof personalizedallogeneic T-celltherapies utilizing oy T-cellreceptors (TCRs) isolated from
a patient, with suchtherapies beingadministered to the same patient.

The parties will collaborateto performa research program, initially duringaneight-year period (which may be
extended forup totwo additional two-year terms at Genentech’s electionupon payment ofan extension fee foreach
two-year term), to developthe cell therapies, following which Genentech will determine whether to further developand
commercialize such therapies. Under the Agreement, Adaptimmuneexclusively licenses to Genentech certain
intellectual property rights it controls to enable Genentech to research, develop, manufactureand commercialize (i) off -
the-shelf T-celltherapies directed to the collaboration targets and (i) personalized T-cell therapies developed within the
scope of the Agreement, and Genentechis solely responsible for the clinical developmentand commercialization of any
cell therapies arising fromthe collaboration. Adaptimmunewill manufactureand supply celltherapies for Phase 1 trials
of off-the-shelf T-cell therapies unless Genentech decides to assume responsibility for such manufacturing.

Underthe Agreement, Adaptimmuneis also subjectto certain restrictions on its ability to further developand
commercialize certain cell therapies. In particular, restrictions apply in relation to its ability to develop celltherapy
products to nominated targets and to develop competing personalized cell therapies. This restriction does not prevent
Adaptimmune from developing cell therapies to other targets or cell therapies containing differenttypes of receptors.

10



Underthe terms of the Agreement, Adaptimmune received a $150 million upfrontpayment. Adaptimmune may
also receive:

e $150 million in additional payments spread over a period of fiveyears from the effectivedate of the
Agreement, unless the Agreementis earlier terminated,;
research milestones of up to$50million;
development milestones of upto $100 million in relation to the development of off-the-shelf T-cell therapies
per collaborationtarget (unless Adaptimmune exercises its right to opt-in to receivea profit share) and upto
$200 million inrelation tothe development of personalized T-cell therapies;

e commercialization milestones ofup to $1.1 billion for “off-the-shelf” T-cell therapies (unless Adaptimmune
exercises its right to opt-in to receivea profit share and assuming off-the-shelf T-celltherapies are developed to
five targets) and for personalized T-cell therapies; and

e netsalesmilestones of up to $1.5 billion for “off-the-shelf” T-cell therapies (unless Adaptimmune exercises its
right to opt-in to receive a profit share and assuming “off-the-shelf” T-cell therapies aredevelopedto five
targets) and for personalized T-cell therapies

In addition, Adaptimmunewill receive tiered royalties on net sales in the mid-single to low-double digits.

Adaptimmune also has a right to opt-in to receive a profit share and to co-promote “off-the-shelf” T-cell
therapies. If Adaptimmuneelectsto opt in, then Adaptimmunewill be eligible to share 50 percentof profits and losses
from U.S.saleson such productsandto receiveup to $800 million in ex-U.S. regulatory and sales-based milestone
payments,aswellas royalties on ex-U.S. net sales.

The parties canterminate the Agreement in the eventof material breach or insolvency of the other party.

Genentech is entitled toterminate the Agreement in its entirety, on a product-by-product basis or collaboration target by
collaborationtarget basis on provision of 180 days notice.

Universal Cells Co-development Collaboration Agreement

OnJanuary 13,2020, the Company entered into a Co-developmentand Co-commercializationagreement (the
“Astellas Collaboration Agreement”) with Universal Cells, Inc., a wholly -owned subsidiary of Astellas Pharmalnc.
(“Universal Cells”).

Underthe Astellas Collaboration Agreement the parties willagree on up to threetargets and will co-develop T-
cell therapies directed to those targets pursuant to an agreed research plan. For eachtarget, Universal Cells will fund co-
development up untilcompletion of a Phase 1 trial for products directed to suchtarget. Up on completion of the Phase 1
trial fora product, Universal Cells and Adaptimmunewill elect whether to progress with co -developmentand co-
commercialization of such product, orto allowthe other party to pursue the candidate independently. The first target
programaims to develop an allogeneic (“off-the-shelf”) mesothelin directed HiT cell therapy.

Inaddition, Universal Cells is also granted the right to develop, independently of Adaptimmune, allogeneic T -
cell therapy candidates directed to two targets selected by Universal Cells. Universal Cells will have sole rights to
develop and commercialize products directed against such products.

Under the terms of the agreement, Adaptimmune may receiveup to $897.5million in payments, including:
e anupfront payment of $50 million, which was received in January 2020;
development milestones of upto $73.75 million for each co-developed and co-commercialized product; and
development milestones of upto $147.5 million per productand upto $110million in sales milestones for
products developed unilaterally by Universal Cells.

Inaddition, Adaptimmunewill receive research fundingof up to $7.5 million per year andtiered royalties on net
sales in the mid-single to mid-teen digits.
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Underthe terms of the Astellas Collaboration Agreement and in consideration for rights under certain contributed
Universal Cellstechnology fora product unilaterally developed by Adaptimmune, Universal Cellsmayreceiveup to
$552.5 million, includingup to $147.5million in milestone payments per productand upto $110million in sales
milestones for products developed unilaterally by Adaptimmune. In addition, Universal Cells will receive tiered royalties
on netsales in the mid-single to mid-teen digits.

To the extent that Universal Cellsand Adaptimmune co-developand co-commercialize any product, the parties will
share equally allworldwide costs and profits.

In addition tothe Astellas Collaboration Agreement, the parties havealso entered intoanagreementrelatingto the
use of Universal Cells gene editingand HLA-editing technology in the context of the development of our own allogeneic
T-cell therapies. Adaptimmune retains exclusive rights in the T-cell field under the agreement.

Developmentand Research Collaborations
GSK Collaboration and License Agreement

We entered into the GSK Collaborationand License Agreementregarding the development, manufacture and
commercialization of TCRtherapeutic candidates in May 2014. Thecollaborationis for up to five programs. The first
programwastheNY-ESO SPEAR T-cell program, in relationto which GSK has now exercised its option totakean
exclusive license. The second program relatedto development ofa SPEAR T-cellto a peptidederived from the PRAME
antigen. This program has now completed. The third target program with GSK remains ongoingandisalso directed to
the PRAME target. We are responsible for taking the third target programthrough preclinical testingand up to IND
application filing. GSK is responsible forthe IND filing itself should the preclinical testingand developmentbe
favorable.

Preclinicaland Clinical Collaborations
We have third party collaborations in place with Noile-lmmune, Alpine Immune Sciences andwith CCIT.

With Alpine, we are collaboratingto develop next-generation SPEAR T-cell products that incorporate Alpine’s
secreted and transmembrane immunomodulatory protein technology. The collaboration agreement was announced in
May 2019, and we believe thatthe Alpine technology could complementour existing internal next generation
technology and enhance anti-tumor potential through engagement of further rapid and flexible immunomodulatory
mechanisms.

In the Noile-lmmune collaboration, announced in August 2019, we will co-develop next-generation SPEAR T-
cell products, incorporating Noile-Immune’s PRIME (proliferation inducing and migration enhancing) technology, based
upon co-expression of IL-7 and CCL19.

With CCIT, we are combining CCIT’s existing TIL therapies with our nextgeneration IL-7 construct with the
aim of creatingenhanced TIL celltherapies. TIL therapy has previously seen efficacy in certain solid tumors including
melanomaandthe aim isto build on thatefficacy.

We also havea strategic alliance agreement with the MD Anderson Cancer Center which covers boththe
conduct of certainclinical trials forour SPEAR T-cell therapies andalso certain pre-clinical researchwork.

Intellectual Property
We actively seekto protectthe intellectual property and proprietary technology that we believe isimportantto

ourbusiness, including seeking, maintaining, enforcing and defending patentrights forour SPEAR T-cellsand
processes, whether developed internally or licensed from third parties. Our success willdependon our ability to obtain
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and maintain patent and other protection including data/market exclusivity for our cell therapies, manufacturingand
platform technology, preservethe confidentiality of our know-how andtrade secrets and operate without infringing the
valid and enforceable patents and proprietary rights of third parties. See “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Intellectual
Property.”

Our policy isto seek to protectour proprietary position generally by filingan initial priority filingat the U.K.
Intellectual Property Office (“UKIPO”)and/orthe U.S. Patent Trademark Office (“USPTO”). This is followed by the
filing of a patent application under the Patent Co-operation Treaty (“PCT”) claiming priority from the initial
application(s) andthen application for patent grant in, for example, the U.S., Europe (includingmajor European
territories), Japan, Australia, New Zealand, India and Canada. In each case, we determine the strategy andterritories
required after discussion with our patent professionals to ensurethatwe obtainrelevant coverage in territories thatare
commercially important tous and reflect the scope of cell therapies being developed. We will additionally rely on data
exclusivity, market exclusivity and patent term extensions when available, including as relevantexclusivity through
orphan or pediatric drug designation. We also rely on trade secrets and know-how relating to our underlying platform
technologies, manufacturing processes and pre-clinical candidates.

Product Patent Families

Afami-cel -We own three patentfamilies coveringthe composition of matter of ADP-A2M4 and other related
TCRsand T-celltherapies. The patent application claims are primarily directed to the engineered TCR therapeutic
candidate andin particulartheamino acid substitutions required for such engineered TCR therapeutic candidate.
National/regional applications have been filed via the PCT in allcommercially relevantterritories and claims have been
allowed in Europe andthe US. We project the patents within these families, if issued, and if the appropriate
maintenance, renewal, annuity, or other governmental fees are paid, will expire in 2037 (worldwide, excluding possible
patent term extensions). PCT applications havealsobeenfiled in relationto the useof ADP-A2M4 TCRin the treatment
of headandneck, lungand ovarian cancers.

ADP-A2M4CD8 — We own a patent family covering the composition of matter of ADP-A2M4CD8and other
related TCR T-celltherapies. Thepatentapplication claims are directed to the engineered TCR therapeutic candidate in
combination with the CD8 next generation technology. We project the patents within this family, if issued, and if the
appropriate maintenance, renewal, annuity, or other governmental fees are paid, to expire in 2039 (worldwide, excluding
possible patent term extensions). APCT application has also been filed in relation to the use of A2ZM4CD8 TCRin
treatmentof esophageal and gastric cancers.

Platform Technology

We own a number of platform technology patents and patent applications which are directed to certain aspects
of the process thatwe use to engineer our SPEAR TCRs and other cell therapies. These are owned jointly with
Immunocore Limited, with whom we have historically had a shared development history.

Novel targets - We havefiled 28 patent families which cover peptides expressed onthe tumor cell surface and
the TCRswhich recognize them. The applications as filed cover multiple peptides from multiple different target
proteins. National/regional applications havebeenfiled in allcommercially relevant territories.

TCR libraries - We have filed two patent families which cover large libraries of TCR geneswhich we have
generated andthemethod of their generation: these actas proprietary sources forscreening for TCRs, which are the
starting points foraffinity engineering into clinical candidates. National/regional applications have beenfiled in all

commercially relevantterritories.

We also havepatents or patentapplications directed to our phage display technology, decreasing off-target
reactivity andselection for the affinity-enhanced TCRs.
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Manufacturing Process Patents and Patent Applications

We have tradesecrets and patentapplications relatingto the manufacture of our cell therapies. Forexample, we
have filed patentapplications in commercially relevant territories, which claim priority from initial priority patent
applicationsfiled at the USPTO and UKIPO, which aredirected to a particular modification to the lentiviral vector
technology. We believethis modification enhances the safety profile of thelentiviral vector technology. This has been
granted in the U.S,. Further patent applications have been filed on the manufacturingand quality control of our products.

Preclinicaland NextGeneration Approaches

We have filed four patent families covering a range of next generation technology approaches and/for
combination approaches.

Allogeneic iPSC Platform Approaches

We have filed a number of patentapplications covering our proprietary iPSC stem cell differentiation
technology which enables thedifferentiation of stem cells into T-cells which can thenbe administeredto patients. The
patent applicationsare primarily directed tothe various stages required for the differentiation ofthe iPSC stem cells into
differentcellline typesincluding NK cells, NKT cells, macrophages, dendritic cellsand T-cells. The earliest of these
applications havenow been filed as PCT applications and will be pursuedin allcommercially relevant territories. Patent
protection is projectedto extend to 2040 (worldwide, excluding possible patentterm extensions).

Third-Party Intellectual Property Rights

We have a non-exclusive license from ThermoFisher Inc. under certain of its intellectual property rights
coveringits Dynabeads® CD3/CD28technology. This technology is used in our manufacturing process toisolate,
activate and expand patient T-cells. We also have a supply agreementwhich runs untilDecember31,2025. See “Risk
Factors—Risks Related to Our Reliance Upon Third Parties—We rely heavily on ThermoFisherand thetechnology we
license from them.”

Whether licenses are required under any third -party patents depends on what steps we take going forward in
relation to our manufacturing processes, development processes and development products including our allogeneic
manufacturingand differentiation process. We may needto negotiate a license under any third -party patents or develop
alternative strategies for dealing with any third party patents if licenses are notavailable on commercially acceptable
termsoratall.

Competition

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries are characterized by rapidly advancing technologies and
intense competition. Competitors include large pharmaceutical companies with established developmentand
commercialization programs, smalland large biotechnology companies with varying development and
commercialization capabilities and academic centers developing novel technologies and products.

We face competitionin all of the following areas:

(@) Fromother cell therapies: There are a number of other cell therapies which havealready received
marketingapproval or which are currently in late stage clinicaltrials. Theseinclude CAR-T therapies, for
example, Kymriah™ (tisagenlecleucel) and Yescarta™ (axicabtageneciloleucel) which have received
marketing approval in hematological malignancies, TIL cell therapies, for example, lovance’s TIL therapy
which is in late stage clinicaltrialsand celltherapies, or other products directed tothe peptide-HLA
complex (pHLA). These celltherapies arebeing developed in both solid and hematological indications.

(b) Fromother T-celltherapies: Third parties and academic institutions are developing TCR-based cell
therapies which are directed to a multitude of shared targets includingHPV-16 E6/E7, KRAS, MAGE-A1,
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MAGE-A3, MAGE A3/A6, MAGE-A4, MARTL, NRAS, NY-ESO-1, p53, PRAME, mesothelin, as well
aspersonalized neoantigen targets. Thesecelltherapiesare ata variety of preclinicalandclinical
development stage. There are additionally third parties with T-cell therapy platforms capable of generating
multiple TCR T-cell therapies or celltherapies potentially directedto multiple targets or cell therapies
which utilize T-cells and theimmune system in similarways, suchas TRuC T-cells being developed by
TCR? Therapeutics. Examples include Medigene AG’s PRAME TCR therapeutic candidate (MDG1011),
which hasbeguna Phase 1/2 clinical investigation in AML, MM and myelodys plastic syndromes and
Immatics N.V.which hasseveralengineered TCR T-cell therapies in Phase 1 clinical trials for solid
tumors.

(c) Fromother cell-based immunotherapy approaches: Theimmunesystem utilizesa number of different
cell typesand processes. Otherimmunotherapy approaches may targetdifferent parts of the immune
system including differenttypes of T-cells (for example, gamma delta T-cells), macrophage based systems,
NK-cell based products, Marrow-infiltrating lymphocytes (MILs) and virus-specific T-cells.

(d) Fromothertherapeutic product types. In any indicationthatwe address there may be multiple other
productmodalities which are already being marketed and where we will have to show increased benefit to
patients, orwhich are in clinicaltrials. Where products receive approval and start being used within the
patientsetting, such products canalso impact our ability to completeclinical development and obtain
informationaroundthesafety and efficacy of our own products.

Where we see competitionin any indicationand a competitor receives marketing approval before our cell
therapy, we will need to demonstrate increased efficacy over the competing product. We may also see competition in
relation to areas that are still in research and development. Forexample, allogeneic approachesto cell therapies are being
developed by multiple third parties, forexample, Fate Therapeutics Inc., Allogene Therapeutics and Takeda
Pharmaceuticals Limited. Given the potential advantage such therapies have over autologous cell therapy products, such
approaches may increasingly impactour ability to further develop and progress with our cell therapies which is why we
have focused onalso developing our own equivalent “off-the-shelf” products in parallel.

Government Regulation and Product Approvals

Government authorities in the U.S., at the federal, state and local level, andin other countries and jurisdictions,
includingthe EUand U.K, extensively regulate, among other things, the research, development, testing, manufacture,
quality control, approval, packaging, storage, recordkeeping, labeling, advertising, promotion, distribution, marketing,
post-approval monitoringand reporting, and importand export of pharmaceutical products. The processes for obtaining
regulatoryapprovals in the U.S. and in foreign countries and jurisdictions, along with subsequent compliance with
applicable statutes and regulations and other regulatory authorities, require the expenditure of substantial time and
financial resources. Failure to comply with the various federal, state and local level laws and requirements can also result
in severe penaltiesand restrictions to the business.

FDA Approval Process

Inthe U.S., therapeutic products, including drugs, biologics, and medical devices are subjectto extensive
regulation by the FDA. The Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (the “FDC Act”), and other federal and state statutes
and regulations, govern, among other things, the research, development, testing, manufacture, storage, recordkeeping,
approval, labeling, promotion and marketing, distribution, post-approval monitoringand reporting, sampling, and import
and export of pharmaceutical products. Some biological products are subjectto regulation under the FDC Act. Most
biologicalproducts are approved for marketing under provisions ofthe Public Health Service Act (“PHSA”) via a BLA.
The applicationprocess and requirements for approval of BLAs are generally similarto those for newdrugapplications
(“NDAs”), and biologics are associated with generally similar, if not greater, approval risks and costs as drugs. Failure to
comply with applicable U.S. requirements may subjecta companyto a variety of administrative or judicial sanctions,
such as FDA refusalto approve pending NDAs or BLAs, warning or untitled letters, productrecalls, productseizures,
totalor partial suspension of production or distribution, injunctions, fines, civil penalties, and criminal prosecution.
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Biological product developmentfora new product or certainchanges to an approved product in the U.S.
typically involves preclinical laboratory and animal tests, the submissionto the FDA of an Investigational New Drug
application (“IND”), which must become effective before human clinical testing may commence, and adequate and well-
controlled clinical trials to establish the safety and effectiveness of thedrug foreachindication forwhich FDAapproval
is sought. Satisfaction of FDA pre-market approval requirements typically takes many years and the actual time required
may vary substantially based uponthetype, complexity, and novelty of the product or disease.

The FDA may order thetemporary, or permanent, discontinuation ofa clinical trialat any time, orimpose other
sanctions, if it believes that the clinical trial either is not being conducted in accordance with FDA requirements or
presents anunacceptable risk to the clinicaltrial patients. An Investigational Review Board (“IRB’’) may also require the
clinicaltrialatthe site to be halted, either temporarily or permanently, for failure to comply with the IRB’s requirements,
or mayimposeother conditions.

Clinicaltrialsto support BLAs for marketingapproval are typically conducted in three sequential phases, but
the phases may overlap. In Phase 1, the initial introduction of thebiologic into healthy human subjects or patients, the
productis tested to assess metabolism, pharmacokinetics, phamacological actions, side effects associated with
increasingdoses, and, if possible, early evidence on effectiveness. Phase 2 usually involvestrialsin a limited patient
population todetermine the effectiveness of thedrugor biologic fora particularindication, dosage tolerance, and
optimum dosage, andto identify commonadverseeffects and safetyrisks. If a compound demonstrates evidence of
effectiveness and anacceptable safety profile in Phase 2 evaluations, Phase 3 trials are undertakento obtainthe
additional informationaboutclinical efficacy and safety in a larger number of patients, typically atgeographically
dispersed clinicaltrialsites, to permit the FDA to evaluate the overall benefit-risk relationship of the drug or biologic
and to provideadequate information for the labeling of the product.

Aftercompletion of the required clinical testing,a BLA is prepared and submitted to the FDA. FDA approval
of the BLAis required beforemarketing of the productmay begin in the U.S.. The BLA must include the results of all
preclinical, clinical, and other testing, compilation of data relatingto the product’s pharmacology, chemistry,
manufacture, and controls as wellas proposed labeling fortheproduct. The FDAhas 60 days fromits receipt of a BLA
to determine whether the application will be accepted for filingbased on thea gency’s threshold determination that it is
sufficiently complete to permit substantive review. Once the submission isaccepted for filing, the FDA beginsan in-
depth review. The FDAhasagreedto certain performancegoals in the review of BLAs. Most such applications for
standardreview biologic products are reviewed within 10 months of the date the FDA receives the BLA; most
applications for priority review biologics are reviewed within six months of the date the FDA receives the BLA. Priority
review can be appliedto a biologic that the FDA determines has the potential to treat a serious or life-threatening
conditionand, if approved, would bea significant improvement in safety or effectiveness comparedto available
therapies. The review process for both standard and priority review may be extended by the FDA forthree
additional months to consider certain late-submitted information, orinformation intended to clarify information already
provided in the submission.

Afterthe FDA evaluatesthe BLA, it issues eitheran approval letter ora complete response letter. Acomplete
response letter generally outlines thedeficiencies in the submission and may require substantial additional testing, or
information, in order forthe FDAto reconsider theapplication. If, orwhen, those deficiencies have beenaddressed to
the FDA’s satisfaction in a resubmissionof the BLA, the FDA will issue an approvalletter. The FDA has committed to

reviewing such resubmissions in two or six months depending on thetype of information included.

An approval letter authorizes commercial marketing of the biologic with specific prescribing information for
specific indications. Asa conditionof BLA approval, the FDA may require a risk evaluationand mitigation strategy
(“REMS”) to help ensure that the benefits ofthe biologic outweigh the potential risks. REMS caninclude medication
guides, communication plans for healthcare professionals, and elements to assure safe use (“ETASU”). ETASU can
include, butare not limitedto, special training or certification for prescribing or dispensing, dispensing only under
certain circumstances, special monitoring, and the use of patient registries.
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Expedited Pathways

The FDA is required to facilitate the development, and expedite the review, of biologics thatare intended for
the treatment of a serious or life- threatening disease or condition for which there is no effective treatmentand which
demonstratethe potential to address unmet medical needs for the condition. These expedited programs include fasttrack
designation, breakthrough therapy designationand RMAT designation (Regenerative Medicine Advanced Therapy
designation), accelerated approval, and priority review designation.

Orphan Drug Designation

Underthe Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grantorphandrug designation to biological products intended to
treata rare disease or condition, generally a disease or condition that affects fewer than 200,000 individuals in the U.S.,
or if it affects more than 200,000 individuals in the U.S., there is no reasonable expectation that the costof developing
and makinga product available in the U.S. for such disease or condition will be recovered from sales of the product.
Orphan drug designation must be requested before submittinga BLA. Afterthe FDA grants orphan drug designation, the
identity of thebiological product and its potential orphan use are disclosed publicly by the FDA. Orphandrug
designation does not convey any advantage in, or shorten the duration of, the regulatory reviewand approval process.
The first BLAapplicant to receive FDA approval for a particular activemoiety to treata particular disease with FDA
orphan drug designation is entitled to a seven-year exclusive marketing period in the U.S. for that productfor that
indication. During the seven-year exclusivity period, the FDA may not approveany otherapplications to marketa
biological productcontaining the same active moiety for the samedisease, exceptin limited circumstances, such asa
showingof clinical superiority to the product with orphandrugexclusivity. A product is clinically superior if it is safer,
more effective or makesa major contributionto patientcare. Orphandrugexclusivity d oes notprevent the FDA from
approvinga different drug or biological product for the same disease or condition, or the same biological product fora
differentdiseaseor condition. Amongthe other benefits of orphan drug designation aretax credits for certain research
and a waiver of the BLA userfee.

Pediatric Information

Underthe Pediatric Research Equity Act,or PREA, NDAs or BLAs or efficacy supplementsto NDAs or BLAs
must contain data to assess the safety and effectiveness of the biological product forthe claimed indicationsin all
relevantpediatric subpopulations and to support dosingand administration for each pediatric subpopulationforwhich
the biological product is safe and effective. The FDA may grant full or partial waivers, or deferrals, for submission of
data. Unless otherwise required by regulation, PREA does notapply to any biological product foranindication for
which orphan designationhas been granted. Underthe Best Pharmaceuticals for Children Act, or BPCA, a sponsor that
qualifies for “pediatric exclusivity” is entitled to an additional six months of market exclusivity if it complies with a
Written Request, or WR, issued by FDA for pediatric studies. The sponsor may apply to FDAto issue a WR. Pediatric
exclusivity may apply to patent rightsand to FDA regulatory exclusivity and operates by adding six months of
exclusivity on tothe end of the latest-expiring form of exclusivity. To qualify for pediatric exclusivity, at least one of
those rights must stillbe currently in forceatthe time FDA approvesthe pediatric studies.

Additional Controls for Biologics

To help reduce theincreased risk of the introduction of adventitious agents, the PHSA emphasizes the
importance of manufacturing controls for products whoseattributes cannotbe precisely defined. The PHSA also
provides authority to the FDAto immediately suspend licenses in situations where there exists a danger to public health,
to prepareorprocure products in the event of shortages and critical public health needs, and to authorize the creationand
enforcement of regulations to preventthe introduction or spread of communicable diseases in the U.S. and between
states.

Aftera BLAIs approved, the product may also be subject to official lot release as a condition of approval. As
part of themanufacturing process, the manufacturer is required to perform certain tests on each lot of the product before
it is released fordistribution. If the productis subjectto official release by the FDA, the manufacturer submits samples
of each lot of product to the FDA together with a release protocol showinga summary of the history of manufacture of
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the lot and theresults of all of the manufacturer’s tests performed on thelot. The FDA may also perform certain
confirmatorytests onlots of some products, suchas viral vaccines, before releasing thelots for distribution by the
manufacturer. In addition, the FDA conducts laboratory research related to theregulatory standards on the safety, purity,
potency, andeffectiveness of biological products. As with drugs, afterapproval of biologics, manufacturers mustaddress
any safety issuesthat arise, are subject to recalls ora halt in manufacturing, and are subject to periodic inspection after
approval.

Biosimilars

The Biologics Price Competitionand Innovation Act of 2009, or BPCIA, created an abbreviated approval
pathway forbiological products shownto be highly similarto or interchangeable with an FDA-licensed reference
biologicalproduct. Underthe BPCIA, a biological product may be deemed biosimilarto an FDA-approved biological
productorreferencebiological product upona showingthat there are nodifferences in conditions of use, route of
administration, dosage form, and strength, and no clinically meaningful differences betweenthe biological productand
the reference productin terms of safety, purity, and potency.

Areference biologic isgranted 12 years of marketing exclusivity from thetime of first licensure of the
reference product, which includesfour years fromthe date of licensure of thereference productduringwhich no
application for a biosimilar can be submitted. Thefirst biologic product submitted under theabbreviated approval
pathway thatis determinedto be interchangeable with the reference product has exclusivity againsta finding of
interchangeability for other biologics for the same condition of useforthe lesser of (i) one yearafter first commercial
marketing of the first interchangeable biosimilar, (i) 18 months after the first interchangeable biosimilar is approved if
there is no patent challenge, (i) 18 months after resolution of a lawsuit over the patents of thereference biologic in
favorof thefirst interchangeable biosimilar applicant, or (iv) 42 months a fter the first interchangeable biosimilar’s
application has beenapproved if a patent lawsuit is ongoing within the 42 -month period.

Post-Approval Requirements

Oncea BLAIs approved, a productwill be subject to certain post-approval requirements. For instance, the FDA
closely regulates the post-approval marketingand promotion of biologics, including standards and regulations for direct-
to-consumer advertising, off-label promotion, industry - sponsored scientific and educational activities and promotional
activities involving the internet. Biologics may be marketed only for the approved indications and in accordance with the
provisions of the approved labeling.

Adverse event reportingand submission of periodic reports is required following FDA approval of a BLA. The
FDA also may require post-marketing testing, known as Phase 4 testing, REMS, and surveillance to monitor the effects
of anapproved product, orthe FDA may place conditions on anapproval thatcould restrict thedistributionor use of the
product. In addition, quality control, biological product manufacture, packaging, and labeling procedures must continue
to conformto cGMPs after approval.

FDA Regulationof Companion Diagnostics

If safe and effective useof a therapeutic product depends onan in vitrodiagnostic, thenthe FDA generally will
require approval or clearance of the diagnostic, knownasa companion diagnostic, at the same time that the FDA
approvesthe therapeutic product. The FDA has generally required invitrocompanion diagnostics intended to select the
patients who will respond to cancer treatment to obtain marketingapproval through the pre -market approval (“PMA”)
process for thatdiagnostic simultaneously with approval of the therapeutic. The review of these in vitro companion
diagnostics in conjunction with the review of a cancer therapeutic involves coordination ofreview by the FDA’s Center
forBiologics Evaluationand Researchand by the FDA’s Center for Devices and Radiological Health.

The PMA processinvolvesa rigorous premarket review duringwhich the applicant must prepare and provide

the FDA with reasonable assurance of the device’s safety and effectiveness and information about the device and its
components regarding, among other things, device design, manufacturingand labeling. In addition, PMAs for certain
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devices must generally include the results from extensive preclinical and adequate and well-controlled clinical trials to
establish thesafety and effectiveness of the device for eachindication forwhich FDA approval is sought.

SuccessfulPMA approval is uncertain, and the FDA may ultimately respond to a PM A submission with a not
approvable determinationbased ondeficiencies in the applicationand require additional clinical trial or other data that
may be expensive and time-consumingto generate and that can substantially delay approval. If the FDA finds the PMA
application isapprovable, the FDA typically issues anapprovable letter requiring the applicant’s a greementto specific
conditions, suchas changes in labeling, or specific additional information, such as submission of final labeling, in order
to secure finalapproval of the PMA. If the FDA concludes that thea pplicable criteria have been met, the FDA will issue
a PMAforthe approved indications, which can be more limited than those originally soughtby the applicant. The PMA
canincludepost-approval conditions thatthe FDA believes necessary toensure the safety and effectiveness of the
device, including, among other things, restrictions on labeling, promotion, sale and distribution.

Anti-Kickback, False Claims Laws

In addition to FDA restrictions on marketing of pharmaceutical products, several other types of stateand federal
laws have beenappliedto restrict certain marketing practices in the pharmaceutical industry in recent years. These laws
include anti-kickback statutes, false claims statutes, and other statutes pertainingto health care fraudand abuse. The
federal healthcare program anti-kickback statute prohibits, among other things, knowingly and willfully offering, paying,
soliciting or receiving remuneration toinduce, or in return for, purchasing, leasing, ordering orarranging for the
purchase, lease or order of any healthcare item or service reimbursable under Medicare, Medicaid, or other federally
financed healthcare programs. Violations of theanti-kickback statute are punishable by imprisonment, criminal fines,
civil monetary penalties, and exclusion from participation in federal healthcare programs.

Federalfalse claims laws prohibit any person from knowingly presenting, or causingto be presented, a false
claim for payment to the federal government, or knowingly making, or causingto be made, a false statement to have a
false claim paid. In addition, certain marketing practices, including off -label promotion, may alsoviolate false claims
laws. Additionally, the Healthcare Reform Act amendedthe federal false claims law such that a violation of the federal
healthcare program anti-kickback statute can serve as a basis for liability under the federal false claims law.

Otherfederal statutes pertaining to healthcare fraud and abuse include the civil monetary penalties statute,
which prohibits the offer or payment of remunerationto a Medicaid or Medicare beneficiary that the offeror/payor
knows or should know s likely to influencethe beneficiary to order a receive a reimbursable item or service froma
particular supplier, and the healthcare fraud statute, which prohibits knowingly and willfully executing orattempting to
executea scheme todefraud any healthcare benefit program or obtain by means of false or fraudulent pretenses,
representations, or promises any money or property owned by orunder the control of any healthcare benefit program in

connectionwith the delivery of or payment for healthcare benefits, items, or services.
Other Federaland State Regulatory Requirements

Various federal, state and local laws, regulations, and recommendations relating to safe working conditions,
laboratory practices, the experimental use of animals, the environment and the purchase, storage, movement, import,
export, use, and disposal of hazardous or potentially hazardous substances, including radioactive compoundsand infectious
disease agents, used in connectionwith our research are applicable to ouractivities. They include, among others, the U.S.
Atomic Energy Act, the Clean Air Act, the Clean Water Act, the Occupational Safety and Health Act, the National
Environmental Policy Act, the Toxic Substances Control Act, and Resources Conservation and Recovery Act, national
restrictions on technology transfer, import, export, and customs regulations, and other present and possible future local,
state, orfederal regulation.

European Union, UK and Rest of the World Regulation
Inaddition toregulations in the U.S., we are subjectto a variety of regulations in other jurisdictions both due to

the location of our facilities and the fact that we are engaging in clinical programs outside ofthe U.S. and will need to
obtainworldwide regulatory approval forour TCRtherapeutic candidates. In particular we have clinical trials ongoing in
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the United Kingdom and in certain countries in the European Union (“EU””)and are subject to regulations relating to
performance of those clinical trials and manufacture and supply of our cell therapies in those countries. Prior to
supplyingany celltherapy in any country or startingany clinical trials in any country outside ofthe U.S. we must obtain
the requisite approvals from regulatory authorities in such countries. The existence of a U.S. regulatory approval does
not guarantee that regulatory approvals will be obtained in other countries in which we wish to conduct clinical trials or
market our celltherapies. In the EU, for example, a clinical trial application mustbe submitted to each country’s national
health authority andan independentethics committee, much like the FDA and IRB, respectively priorto any clinical trial
beingconductedin the relevant country. Amarketing authorizationapplication is then submitted to the EMA for
approval by the European Commission. Finally, prior to any commercial supply, a pricingand reimbursement
application is submitted to eachrelevant country’s national or local health authority(ies).

The requirements and process governing the conduct of clinical trials, product licensing, pricingand
reimbursementvary from country to country. In all cases, the clinical trials are conducted in accordance with Good
ClinicalPractice (“GCP”’) and the applicable regulatory requirements and the ethical principles thathave their origin in
the Declaration of Helsinki. However, the interpretation of these requirements may well differ from country to country.

Review and Approval of Drug Products Outside of the U.S.

In orderto market any productoutsideof the U.S.,a company must also comply with numerous and varying
regulatory requirements of other countries and jurisdictions regarding quality, safety and efficacy and governing,among
otherthings, clinicaltrials, marketing authorization, commercial sales and distribution of products. Whether or not it
obtains FDAapproval fora product, the company would need to obtain the necessary approvals by the comparable
foreign regulatory authorities before it cancommenceclinical trials or marketing of the product in those countries or
jurisdictions. The approval process ultimately varies between countries and jurisdictions and caninvolve additional
producttestingandadditional administrative review periods. Thetime required to obtain approval in other countriesand
jurisdictions mightdiffer from and be longer than thatrequired to obtain FDA approval. Regulatory approval in one
countryorjurisdictiondoes not ensure regulatory approval in another, but a failure or delay in obtaining regulatory
approvalin one country or jurisdiction may negatively impact the regulatory process in others.

Procedures Governing Approval of Products in theEU and U.K.

Pursuant to the European Clinical Trials Directive, a system fortheapproval of clinicaltrials in the EU has
been implemented through national legislation of the member states. Under this system, ana pplicantmust obtain
approval from the competent national authority ofa EU member state in which the clinical trialis to be conducted.
Furthermore, the applicant may only start a clinical trial aftera competentethics committee has issued a favorable
opinion. Aclinicaltrialapplication must be accompanied by an investigational medicinal product dossier with
supporting information prescribed by the European Clinical Trials Directive and corresponding national laws of the
member states and further detailed in applicable guidance documents. Similarapproval requirements apply in the UK
and a clinicaltrialapplication mustbe madeto the UK regulatory authority (MHRA) prior to startingany clinical trial.

To obtain marketingapproval of a product under EU regulatory systems, anapplicantmust submit a marketing
authorizationapplication,or MAA, eitherundera centralized or decentralized procedure. The centralized procedure
provides forthegrant of asingle marketingauthorization by the European Commission thatis valid forall EU member
states. The centralized procedure is compulsory for specific products, including for medicines produced by certain
biotechnological processes, products designated as orphan medicinal products, advanced therapy medicinal products and
products with a new active substance indicated for the treatmentof certain diseases. For products with a newactive
substance indicated for the treatment of other diseases and products that are highly innovative or forwhich a centralized
processisin the interest of patients, thecentralized procedure may be optional.

Under the centralized procedure, the Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use, or the CHMP,
established at theEMA is responsible for conducting the scientific assessment of a product. The CHMP is also
responsible for several post-authorizationand maintenance activities, suchas the assessment of modifications or
extensions to an existingmarketingauthorization. Foradvancedtherapy medicinal products (ATMPs), the scientific
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evaluationof MAA is primarily performed by the Committee for Advanced Therapies (CAT). The CAT prepares a draft
opinion of each ATMP subjectto a MAAwhich issent for finalapproval to the CHMP.

Underthe centralized procedure in the EU, the maximum timeframe for the evaluationofan MAAis 210 days,
excludingclock stops, when additional information or written or oral explanation is to be provided by theapplicantin
response to questions of the CHMP. Accelerated evaluation might be granted by the CHMP in exceptional cases, whena
medicinal product is of major interest from the point of view of public healthand in particular from the viewpoint of
therapeutic innovation. In this circumstance, the EMA ensures that the opinion of the CHMP is given within 150 days.
Then, the European Commission grants or refuses the marketing authorization, followinga procedure thatinvolves
representatives of the member states. Although the CHMP's opinion is not binding, the Commission's decision to grant
or refuse the marketauthorizationis frequently in accordance with the CHMP's assessment except in very rare cases. For
marketingapproval in the U.K, an application for marketing approval will be made forthe MHRA and follows a similar
process to thatused in the EU.

Marketingauthorizationis valid for five years in principle and the marketing authorization may be renewed
after five years on the basis of a re-evaluation of the risk-benefit balance by the EMA or by the competentauthority of
the authorizingmember state orin the U.K. To thisend, the marketing authorization holder must providethe EMA or the
competentauthority with a consolidated version ofthe file in respect of quality, safety and efficacy, includingall
variations introduced since the marketing authorizationwas granted, at least six months before the marketing
authorization ceases to be valid. Once renewed, the marketing authorizationis valid foran unlimited period, unless the
Commission orthe competentauthority decides, on justified grounds relating to pharmacovigilance, to proceed with one
additional five-year renewal. Any authorizationwhich is not followed by the actual placing of the drugon the EU market
(in case of centralized procedure) or on the market of the authorizing member state within three years after authorization
ceasesto be valid (theso-called sunsetclause).

As a result of Brexit,as of January 1, 2021, marketing authorizations granted onthe basis of a centralized
procedure inthe EUare only valid in Northern Ireland, but not in Great Britain (England, Scotlandand Wales).
However, prior EU authorizations have all been automatically converted into U.K. marketing authorizations effectivein
Great Britain. UK rules require marketing authorization holders to be established in the U.K. orin the EU/European
Economic Area. EU rules require marketing authorization holders to be establishedin the EU/European Economic Area
and, in addition, thatcertainactivities be performed in the EU, related for example to pharmacovigilance, batch release
and quality control. Marketing authorization holders may needto take steps to comply with these requirementsaimingat
holdingboth aEUanda U.K. marketingauthorization.

With regard to the sunset clause, from the perspective of the U.K, the period of three years duringwhich the
drughasnot been marketed in Great Britain will be restarted from the date of conversion to a Great Britain marketing
authorization. From the perspective ofthe EU, in case the drug has been marketed in the U.K, the placingon the U.K.
market before theend of the Brexit transition period will be taken intoaccount. If, afterthe end of the Brexit transition
period, the drugisnot placed on any other market of the remaining member states of the EU, the threeyear period for
the sunset clause will start running from the last date the drugwas placed on the U.K. market before the end of the Brexit
transition period.

Legal Proceedings and Related Matters

From time to time, we may be partyto litigation that arises in the ordinary course of our business. We do not
have any pending litigation that, separately or in the aggregate, would, in the opinion of management, havea material
adverseeffect onour results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.

Employees and Human Capital Management
As of December 31,2021, we had 494 employees. Of these employees, 366 were in research and development

(including in manufacturingand operations, and quality controland quality assurance) and 128 were in management and
administrative functions (including business development, finance, intellectual property, information technology and
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generaladministration). We have never had a work stoppage and noneof our employees are covered by collective
bargainingagreements or represented by a labor union.

We value ouremployeesandasacompanywork hard toemploy those individuals that will work with us to
achievethe objectives of the Company and share our values. We engage with ouremployees in multiple ways including
through companywide business meetings, social events and smaller team events. We employ individuals based ontheir
experienceandability to perform the applicable job and encourage diversity in our workforce whenever possible. We
have an equal opportunities policy which promotes the right of every employee to be treated with dignity and respectand
not to be harassed or bullied on any grounds. We employ individuals from approximately 29 d ifferent nationalities
within our U.K. and U.S. offices and are working to encourage diversity within our workforce. During 2021, we
established a Diversity and Inclusion Council with membership comprising diverseemployees fromalllevelsin the
Company. A Diversity and Inclusion Plan has beencreated and championed across the business by the CEO and
executive teamand presented tothe Board. D&I progress updates are reviewed regularly by the Board Remuneration
Committee.

We have a performance-based reward scheme, bonus scheme andshare option planwhich allemployeesare
entitled to participate in. These schemes and other employee incentive programs are designed to retain employees. Over
2021, the total global attrition rate was 19.5% and we continually work to keep attritionto a minimum.

Other Information

The Company’s primary website is www.adaptimmune.com. Informationin the investor sectionand on our
website is not partof this Annual Report on Form 10-K orany of our other securities filings unless specifically
incorporated herein ortherein by reference. The Company makes available, free of charge, at its corporate website, its
Annual Report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, currentreports on Form 8-K and amendments to those
reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, asamended (the
“Exchange Act”), assoonas reasonably practicable a fter they are electronically filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”). The SEC maintains an internetsite that contains reports, proxy and information statements and
otherinformation regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at www.sec.gov.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Our business has significant risks. You should carefully consider thefollowing riskfactorsaswellasall other
information contained inthis Annual Report, including our consolidated financial statements and the related notes,
before makingan investmentdecision regarding our securities. The risks and uncertainties described beloware those
material risk factors currently knownand specific to us that we believe are relevantto our business, results of
operations andfinancial condition. Additional risks and uncertainties not currentlyknownto us or thatwe nowdeem
immaterial may also impair our business, results of operations and financial condition.
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Risk Factors Summary

The followingis a summary of the principal risks thatcould adversely affect our business.

Risks Related to Our Financial Condition and Capital Requirements

We have incurred netlosses every year since inceptionandexpectto continueto incurnetlosses in the future.
If we are unable to obtain additional financing or funding we may beunable to complete the development and
commercialization of our cell therapies.

We may never generate revenue from sales of our cell therapies and become profitable and our generation of
revenue depends onour ability to timely progress our cell therapies through development.

Risks Related to the Developmentof Our Cell Therapies

Our ability to fund our business and continue to develop our cell therapies is dependent onthe data obtained
from ourongoingafami-cel (““SPEARHEAD-1"") and ADP-A2M4CD8 clinical trials (“SURPASS”).

Our clinicaltrialsand clinical data are atanearly stage and future data may not supportcontinued development
of ourcelltherapies.

Clinicaltrialsare time consumingand expensive and we may notbe able to recruit patients as planned.

Our cell therapiesarenovelandthere isan increased risk that we may see unacceptable toxicities.

Risks Related to the Manufacture and Supply of Our Cell Therapies

Manufacture of cell therapies is complex and we may encounter difficulties manufacturingandsupplyingour
cell therapies to patients, whether for clinicaltrials or for commercial purposes.

We have our own manufacturing facility and our ability to manufacture cell therapies is dependent on our
ability to maintain regulatory approval for thefacility, recruit employees required for manufacture, manufacture
cell therapies reliably and reproducibly and increase manufacturingand supply to meet therequired demand.

We are planningto opena new manufacturing facility for allogeneic cell therapies during 2022 and our ability
to manufactureallogeneic cell therapies on currenttimelines is dependenton (a) thetiming of opening of the
new facility; (b) ourability to obtain regulatory approval for the facility; and (c) ourability to recruit the
employees required for manufacture.

Risks Related to the Commercialization and Marketing of Our Cell Therapies

We have never commercialized a product asa company and our ability to commercialize is dependent onour
ability to increase manufacturing capacity, set up processes and recruit employees required forsuch

commercialization.

We may notbe able to obtain marketing approvals of our celltherapies as broadly as planned oron the
timescales we plan.

Risks Related to the COVID-19 pandemic

The COVID-19 pandemic hasand may in the future materially delay our clinical programs and research
programs, delay our ability to treat patients whereclinical sites decide to delay participation, interrupt our

ability to carry out our normal processes and cause delays with regulatory authorities.
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Risks Related to Government Regulation

e Wearesubjectto significantregulatory, complianceand legal requirements and will continueto be subject to
these requirements.

e Any commercialization of our celltherapies willalso require approval fora companion diagnostic. We are
reliant on a third party for developmentof the companion diagnostic.

Risks Related to Our Reliance Upon Third Parties
e Wearerelianton third parties for provision of services including manufacturing services and clinical research
services, forthe provision of components and materials required for manufacturing, researchand development
and fortheperformance of our collaborations.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

e Wemay be forcedto litigate to defend our intellectual property rights and we may be subjectto patent
infringement proceedings broughtagainst us by third parties.

e Our ability to be competitive depends, in part, on ourability to protectour proprietary technology including
through patents and through maintaining confidentiality in ourtrade secrets.

General Business Risks
e Ourinability to continueto attract and retain qualified personnel may hinder our business.

e Weexpectto face intense competition from third parties and this competition may come from companies with
significantly greater resources and experiencethan we have.

e Failure of ourinformationtechnology systems could significantly disrupt the operation of our business.
e Themarketprice of our ADSs is subject to volatility.
Fora more complete discussion of the risks we faceasa business, please see the discussion below.
Risks Related to Our Financial Condition and Capital Requirements
We have incurred net losses every year since our inception and expectto continue toincur net losses in the future.

We have generated losses since our inceptionin 2008, duringwhich time we have devoted substantially all of
ourresourcesto research and development efforts relating to our cell therapies, includingengaging in activities to
manufacture and supply our cell therapies for clinical trials, conducting clinical trials of our cell therapies, providing
generalandadministrative supportforthese operations, enhancing ca pabilities to support commercialization for ADP-
A2M4 and protectingour intellectual property. Forthe years ended December 31,2021,2020 and 2019, we incurred net
losses of $158.1million, $130.1 million and $137.2 million respectively. As of December 31, 2021, we had accumulated
losses of $743.8 million. We do not haveany products approved for sale and have not generated any revenue from
productsupplies or royalties. Based on our current plans, we do not expect to generate productor royalty revenues
unlessand untilwe obtain marketingapproval for,and commercialize, any of our SPEAR T-cells or other celltherapies.
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If we fail to obtain additional financing, we may be unable to complete the developmentand commercialization of our
cell therapies.

We expect to continue incurring significant losses as we continue with our researchand developmentpro grams
and to incurgeneraland administrative costs associated with our operations. The extent of funding required to develop
our cell therapies is difficult to estimate given the novel nature of our cell therapies and their un -proven route to market
and we may not haveanticipatedallthe costs requiredto meetour planned objectives. As of December 31,2021, the
Company had cashandcash equivalents 0f'$149.9 million, marketable securities of $219.6 million, and stockholders’
equity of $205.0 million. We expect to use thesefunds to advanceandacceleratethe clinical developmentof ourcell
therapies, to further develop and enhance our manufacturing capabilities and securea commercially viable
manufacturing platform forall of our cell therapies, to advanceadditional cell therapies into preclinical testingand
progress such celltherapies through to clinical trials, to supportcommercialization for ADP-A2M4 andto fund working
capital, including for other general corporate purposes. We believe that our cashand cash equivalents and marketable
securities will be sufficientto fund our operations, based upon our currently anticipated research and development
activitiesand planned capital spending, into early 2024. This belief isbased onestimates that aresubject to risks and
uncertainties and may change if actual results differ from management’s estimates. Our expenses may increase
significantly in the event of any of the following:

e any requirement to outsource manufacture of our celltherapies tothird parties, oracquire additional
raw materials to supportmanufacture in the eventof any inability to manufacture atour own facilities;

e any requirement to conductadditional or further clinical trials or to treat additional patients to satisfy
the regulatory authorities that a cell therapy is safe or thatit is efficacious and can be approved for
marketing orto proceed to the next stage of development;

e any requirement to vary, change oramend our current manufacturing processes;
e third party litigation, including patent litigation, being broughtagainst the company;

e arequirementto payanythird party upfront, milestone, royalty or other payments in order to continue
to develop orcommercialize any of our cell therapies;

e arequirementto create additional infrastructure to support our ongoing operations, including future
commercialization efforts;

e any inability to recruit patients toour clinical trials on a timely basis necessitating the need toopen
additional clinical sites or otherwise enable increased recruitment;

e any unplanned capital expenditure including any requirement to increase or enhance manufacturing
capability orinvest in additional manufacturing facilities;

e changesinthetimingon whenwe receive payments from ourthird party collaborators, including GSK
and Astellas; or

¢ inability of third parties to provide critical supplies on a timely basis necessitating alternative or
additional third party suppliesto be putin place.

We cannot be certain that additional funding will be available onacceptable terms, orat all. We have no
committed source of additional capitaland if we are unable to raise additional capital in sufficientamounts or on terms
acceptable to us, we may have to significantly delay, scale back or discontinue the developmentor commercialization of
our cell therapies or other research and developmentinitiatives. Our license and supply agreements may also be
terminated if we are unable to meetthe payment obligations under these agreements. We could be required to seek
collaborators forour cell therapies atanearlier stage than otherwise would be desirable or on termsthat are less
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favorable to us than mightotherwise be available or relinquish or license on unfavorable terms our rights to our cell
therapies in markets where we otherwise would seek to pursue development or commercialization ourselves.

Our current cash projections include relianceonthe ability to obtain certain tax credits and the operation of certain
tax regimeswithinthe U.K. Should these ceaseto be available, this could impactour ongoing requirement for
investment andthe timeframes within which additional investmentis required.

As a company that carries out extensive researchand development activities, we benefit from the U.K. research
and development tax credit regime for small and medium sized companies, whereby our principal research subsidiary
company, Adaptimmune Limited, isable to surrender the trading losses that arise from its research and development
activitiesfora payable tax credit of up to approximately 33.4% of eligible research and developmentexpenditures.
Qualifying expenditures largely comprise employment costs for research staff, consumables and certain internal
overheadcosts incurred as part of research projects. Subcontracted research expenditures are eligible fora cashrebate of
up to approximately 21.7%. The majority of our pipeline research, clinical trials management and manufacturing
development activities, all of which are being carried out by Adaptimmune Limited, are eligible forinclusion within
these tax credit cashrebate claims.

We may notbe able to continue to claim research and developmenttax credits (R&D taxcredits) in the future
aswe increase our personnelandexpand our business because we may nolonger qualify asan SME (small or medium-
sized enterprise). In order to qualify asan SME for R&D tax credits, we mustcontinueto be a company with fewer than
500 employees and also have either anannual turnovernotexceeding €100 million or a balance sheet not exceeding €86
million. Once we no longer qualify for SME R&D tax credits, it is likely we would qualify forthe U.K. researchand
development expenditure credit scheme (the “RDEC Scheme”) which is claimable by large companies. The cashcredit
rate forthe RDEC Scheme is currently approximately 10.5% of qualifying expenditure in comparisonto approximately
33.4% for SME R&D credits. In addition, the types of qualifying expenditure are more restricted under the RDEC
Scheme, in that certain subcontracted costs can no longer qualify for relief. The U.K. governmenthas proposed some
changesto the U.K. research and development credit rules from 2023, which include potential restrictions in the
eligibility of costswhere research and development activities are performed overseas. Ifimplemented thesechanges are
likely to give rise to a reductionin our U.K. research and development credit claims in the future.

We may alsobenefit in the future from the U.K.’s “patent box” regime, which would allow certain profits
attributable to revenues from patented products tobe taxed at a rate of 10%. As we havemany different patents covering
our products, future upfront fees, milestone fees, product revenues, and royalties could be taxed at this favorably lowtax
rate. When takenin combination with theenhanced relief available on our research and developmentexpenditures, we
expect a long-term lower rate of corporation tax to apply to us. If, however, there are unexpected adverse changes to the
U.K. research and development tax credit regime orthe “patent box” regime, or we are unable to qualify for such
advantageous tax legislation, our business, results of operations and financial condition may be adversely affected.

Our ability to generate revenue fromsales of our cell therapies and become profitable dependson our ability to
progressour celltherapies through development.

We have no celltherapies approved for commercial sale, have notgeneratedany revenue fromsales of ourcell
therapies, and donotanticipate generatingany revenue from sales of our cell therapies until sometime after we receive
regulatoryapproval,if atall, forthe commercial sale ofa celltherapy. We may never become profitable.

Our ability to generate revenue and achieve profitability depends on many factors, including:

e progressingour celltherapies through preclinical developmentand clinical development without
substantial delays;

e demonstratinga favorable benefit (efficacy parameters): risk (safety) for our celltherapies;
e obtainingregulatory approvals and marketing authorizations for our cell therapies for which we orour

collaborator completeclinicaltrials;
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e developingsustainable and scalable manufacturingand supply processes for our cell therapies to support
commercial supply;

e obtaining marketacceptance, pricingand reimbursement of our cell therapies as viable treatmentoptions;
e thecostsof commercializingany cell therapy;

e theindicationsany celltherapy isapprovedin andthe patient population treatable with any cell therapy;
and

e ourability to developand obtain approval forthe companion diagnostic assay required foradministration
of ourcelltherapies.

Risks Related to the Developmentof Our Cell Therapies
We are heavilyreliant on the dataobtained from our ongoing ADP-A2M4CDS8 clinical trials.

Our ability to obtain additional financing is dependenton the data from our ADP-A2M4CD8 (“SURPASS”,
“SURPASS-2” and “SURPASS-3”) clinical trials among other factors. Data from any of these trials mightnotbe
sufficientto enable usto further develop ADP-A2M4CD8 or other cell therapies within the pipeline. If we do not see
sufficiently positive data in any ofthese clinical trials or if we see an adverseside effectprofile preventing continuation
of any clinical trials, we maynotbe able to obtain the additional financing required to fund our anticipated business
operations. Thisin turn may necessitate delays in plannedactivities, including the commercialization of ADP-A2M4 in

synovial sarcomaand our ability to progress other cell therapies intoand through clinical development.

Our cell therapy products requiresignificantadditional clinical testing before we can seek regulatory approval and
begin commercialization.

Our cell therapies may not achieve regulatory approval or proceed tothe nextstage of development. All of our
cell therapies require further clinical development before a BLA can be filed with any regulatory authority to permit
commercialization. Results seen in early clinicaltrials, forexample, with our ADP-A2M4, ADP-A2M4CD8, and ADP-
A2AFP cell therapy candidates may not be predictive of the data we will obtain in our later phase clinical trials.
Negative results in any cell therapy clinical program may also impactour ability to continue with clinical development
of othersimilarcelltherapies. Although each cell therapy may target a different cancer peptide or protein, the underlying
technology platform and other aspects of our clinical programs are the same or substantially similar formany of our cell
therapies. Accordingly, a failure or delay in any one program may affectthe ability to obtain regulatory approval to
continue orconductclinical programs for other cell therapies.

The data produced inour ongoingclinicaltrials is at an early stage and future data may not supportcontinued
progressionofany of our therapiesthrough development.

The patient response data thathas beenreported in our trials (excluding SPEARHEAD-1 in synovial sarcoma
patients) represents data from small numbers of patients within each study at the applicable dosing level. Assuch, the
dataisinitialdataand there is no assurance that any responses will persist, that we will see responses in any other
patients or thatsuch patients will not suffer severeadverse events whichmay result in a delay or halt to any clinical tria I.
Furtherdatamay berequiredin orderto progress celltherapiesto the nextstage of development. Negative results in one
clinicaltrialmay also impactability to proceed with development in other clinical trials given the common technology
platformandsimilarity of other aspects of our clinical programs.

Like otherbiologic products, we expect there may be greater variability in results for cell therapies which are
administered ona patient-by-patient basis than for “off-the-shelf” products, like many other biologics. Thereis typically
an extremely high rateof attrition from thefailure of any products proceeding through clinical trials. Cell therapies in
later stages of clinical trials may fail to showthe desired safety and efficacy profile despite having progressed through
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preclinical programs andinitial clinicaltrials. Anumber of companies in the biopharmaceutical ind ustry have suffered
significant setbacks in advanced clinicaltrials due to lack of efficacy or unacceptable safety issues, notwithstanding
promising results in earlier trials. Most biologic candidates thatbegin clinical trials are neverapproved by regulatory
authorities for commercialization. We may therefore be unsuccessful in demonstrating the required efficacy and sa fety
profile from the performance ofany of our clinical programs.

We are aware that certain patients donot respondto our SPEAR T-cellsand that other patients may relapse or
cease to presentthe peptide beingtargeted by such SPEAR T-cells. The percentage of the patientpopulationin which
these events may occur is unknown, but the inability of patients to respond andthe possibility of relapse mayimpact our
or our collaborator’s ability to conductclinicaltrials, to obtain regulatory approvals, if at all, and to successfully
commercialize any SPEAR T-cell.

We plan to providefurther data updates as and when the applicable data is believed to be sufficiently
mature. Given the nature of T-celltherapies andthe time takento observe patientresponses to our SPEAR T-cells, we
cannotprovide any assurance that further data updates will be provided frequently or that such data updates will be
available atany particulartime.

We may not be able to commence additional clinicaltrials for celltherapies on the timeframes we expect.

Progression of new celltherapiesinto clinicaltrials is inherently risky and dependent onthe results obtained in
preclinical programs, the results of other clinical programs and any other activities which may impact our ability to
commenceclinicaltrials, for example, availability of manufacturing process and components. If any issues are identified
duringany celltherapy development, we may experience significant delays in development of pipeline candidates and in
existing clinical programs. This may alsoimpactourability to achieve certain financial milestones and the expected

timeframes to market any of our celltherapies.

The FDA orotherregulatory authorities may notapprove any IND (or equivalent application) forany of our
future celltherapies, or fornew indications for our cell therapies already in clinical trials, or may require amendments to
existing protocols (includingas a result of the COVID-19 pandemic). For example, we amendedthe protocols forall of
ourpendingandon-going ADP-A2M4 and ADP-A2M10clinical trials in response toreported serious adverse events
(“SAEs”) of prolonged serious pancytopenia in our clinical trials for ADP-A2M4 and ADP-A2M 10 in two patients
treated with the highest lymphodepletion regimen. Suchamendments and updates may delay our clinica Itrials, may
require changes or resubmission of our INDs, ormay result in or be related to a halt in our planned or contemplated
clinicaltrials.

We are continuingto expand our clinicaltrial footprintin Europe. This requires gaining theapproval of country
specific review bodies for GMO application and Clinical Trial Application (“CTA”). As this is not a harmonized
process, the requirements canvary considerably, and delays canbe incurred at a country level. Forexample, the
information required in relationto manufacturing processes or assays may differ between countries and may require
additional testing to be conducted in order forapproval to be obtained.

T-cell therapy isa novel approach to cancer treatment that creates significant increased risk interms of side -effect
profile.

Developmentof a pharmaceutical or biologic therapy or producthas inherent risks based on differences in
patientpopulation and responses to therapy and treatment. The mechanism of action and impact onother systemsand
tissues within the humanbody following administration of our cell therapies is complex and not completely understood,
which means that we cannot predict the long-term effects of treatment with any of our cell therapies (whetherby usora
collaborator). In addition, it is not possible forany pre-clinical safety package to completely identify all potential safety
risks. Forexample, there is a risk that thetarget (or similar) peptide towhich any SPEAR T-cellis directed may be
present in both patients’ cancer cells and other non-cancer cellsandtissues. Cross-reactivity orallo-reactivity (binding to
peptides presented onother HLAtypes) could also occur where the affinity-enhanced engineered TCR contained within
any celltherapyincluding SPEAR T-cells binds to peptides presented by HLAs other than the HLA type for which the
relevant TCR was developed. Should any of these cross-reactivities occur, patients may suffera range of side effects
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associated with the SPEAR T-cellbindingto both the cancer cells and/or other cells and tissues and such side effects
could cause patient death. The extent of these side effects willdepend on which cellsand tissues are affectedaswellas
the degree to which the target (or similar) peptide is expressed in thesecells and tissues. One of our prior SPEAR T-
cells, designed to targetan HLA-1 restricted M AGE-A3 cancer-specific peptide, recognized another unrelated peptide
from a protein called TITIN, expressed within normal cardiac and other muscle tissues in patients. As a result of this
cross-reactivity to the TITIN protein in the heart, two patients died duringour MAGE-A3 clinical program, the program
was put on pause, then formally placed onhold by the FDA, after which we terminated the program.

Any unacceptable toxicities arising in ongoing clinical programs could result in suspension or termination of
those clinical programs. Themore SAEs that are reported the greater therisk of suspension of termination of clinical
programs, evenwhere the SAEs are unrelated to each other orto our cell therapies. Our patients undergo
lymphodepletion priorto receivingour SPEAR T-cells which leaves them immune-compromised fora period of time
afterthelymphodepletionand increases their risk of contracting other unrelated diseases or pathogens including
COVID-19. The treatmentregimenused in our protocols, in particular the use of chemotherapy, also carriesan inherent
risk of cytopenia (including pancytopenia), where blood cell levels reduce to lower thannormal. If blood cell levels do
not recover sufficiently the patientmay suffer serious adverse events, which may even be life threatening. There have
been multiple events of pancytopenia as wellas SAEs similar to those reportedacross our clinicaltrials; these are
multifactorialin etiologiesand could result in regulatory authorities imposinga hold ononeormore clinical programs
whilst the events are investigated further. Serious adverse events seen with otherimmunotherapy products, suchasthe
severe cytokinerelease syndrome (“CRS”) and neurotoxicity events observed with CD19-directed CAR-T cell
treatments, may also occuratany stage of the clinical program. Further, following infusion ofany SPEAR T-cells, there
may be a transient inflammatory reaction ofthe disease to the treatment. Symptoms in any given subject would be
dependenton the locationand other characteristics of their tumor. For example, subjects with lung tumors may
experiencedyspnea. Cardiactoxicities may be observed in patients with pre-existing cardiac or pericardial masses.
These inflammatory reactions and related symptoms may be mild and self -limited, but canbe severe, potentially life-
threateningand require medical intervention.

Any side effects mayalsoresult in the needto perform additional trials, which will delay regulatory approval
forsuch celltherapies and require additional resources and financial investmentto bringthe relevantcell therapyto
market.

Use of celltherapies in combinationwith other third party products or therapies may increase or exacerbate side
effects thathave been seenwith our cell therapies alone or may result in new side effects thathave not previously been
identified with our celltherapies alone. Any undesirable side effects seenin combination trials may affectourability to
continue with and obtain regulatory approval for the combination therapy, but may also impact our ability to continue
with and obtain regulatory approval forour celltherapiesalone.

Summary information onadverse events seenin relationto each of our cell therapies are provided below based
on data cuts as of thedates stated. Where we havebecomeaware of material safety eventsafterthe date of any data cut,
a descriptionof sucheventsisalso included.

e AsofDecember27,2021, for ADP-A2M4 studies:

Adverse events occurring in >10% of patients treated with ADP-A2M4 (N=107) considered by investigators to be
atleast possibly relatedto ADP-A2M4 include CRS, neutropenia/neutrophil count decreased, pyrexia, fatigue,
leukopenia/WBC decreased, lymphopenia/ lymphocyte countdecreased, sinus tachycardia/tachycardia, nausea,
decreased appetite, hypotension, rash, thrombocytopenia/platelet count decreased, chills, and dyspnea.

SAEs, considered by investigators to be at least possibly related to ADP-A2M4, were reported for 31 (29%)
patients underthe ADP-A2M4 program. These events include CRS, empyema, sepsis, pleural effusion,
pneumothorax, pulmonary embolism, pyrexia, anemia, aplastic anemia, pancytopenia, cerebrovascular accident,
encephalopathy, neurotoxicity, arrhythmia, alanine aminotransferase increased, aspartate aminotransferase
increased, bloodalkaline phosphatase increased, plateletcountdecreased, lymphoproliferative disorder, deep vein
thrombosis, superior vena cava occlusion, acutekidney injuryand rash. Two of these patients have had treatment
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related fatal SAE reports: one patient experienced pancytopenia/aplastic anemia and the other experienced a
cerebrovascularaccident (stroke).

e AsofDecember6,2021, for ADP-A2M4CDS:

The adverse events occurringin >10% of patients treated with ADP-A2M4CD8 (n=29) and considered by
investigators to be at least possibly related to ADP-A2M4CD8 include CRS, neutropenia/neutrophil count
decreased, pyrexia, fatigue, anemia/red blood cell count decreased, leukopenia/white blood cell count decreased,
hypoxia, sinus tachycardia/tachycardia, decreased appetite, immune effector cell-associated neurotoxicity
syndrome (ICANS), lymphopenia/lymphocyte countdecreased, pleural effusion, rash, thrombocytopenia/platelet
countdecreased, chills, dyspnea, and hypotension.

SAEs, considered by investigators to be at least possibly related to ADP-A2M4CD8, were reported for 15 (51.7%)
patients underthe ADP-A2M4CD4 program. Theseeventsinclude: CRS, ICANS, anemia, pancytopenia, pyrexia,
hypoxia, drug reaction with eosinophilia and systemic symptoms (DRESS Syndrome), small intestinal obstruction,
device related infection, pneumonia, blood creatinineincreased and tumor lysis syndrome.

e Asof August2,2021, for ADP-A2AFP:

The adverse events occurring in > 10% of the 20 patients treated (one patients had a second infusion) with ADP-
A2AFP and considered by investigators to be atleastpossibly relatedto ADP-A2 AFP include alanine anaemia,
aminotransferase increased, , aspartate aminotransferase increased, cytokines release syndrome, fatigue,
lymphocytes count decreased, neutrophil count decreased, plateletcountdecreased, white blood cell decreased,
pyrexia, bloodalkaline phosphatase increased, hypotension, and vomiting.

SAEs reportedwith ADP-A2 AFP whether consideredrelatedto SPEAR T-cells or not includebile duct
obstruction, abdominal pain, back pain, confusional state, cytomegalovirus infection reactivation, cytokine release
syndrome, infusion related reaction, and neutropenia,

Out of data cut-off, one patient experienced multiple related and unrelated serious adverse events. The patient
eventually died due to an unrelated SAE.

We may encounter substantial delays inour clinical trials or may notbe able to conduct our trials on the timelines we
expect.

Any delay in ourclinical trials will impactour ability to obtain clinical data from those trials and our ability to
progress our business alonganticipated timelines and to raise capital. Delaysin clinicaltrials canalsoincreasethe costs
incurred in performingthoseclinicaltrials or necessitatea need to initiateadditional clinicaltrial sites. Ourability to

progressour clinicaltrials is dependenton a number of factors including:

o findingclinicalsites preparedto carry out therelevant clinical trials, screening of patients by the
clinicalsites, recruitmentof patients both in terms of number and type of patients and general
performanceof therelevant clinical site.

e Theability of ourclinicalssites to recruit patients onthe timelines we expect. It can bedifficult for
clinicalsitesto find patients thatexpress both the required HLA-type and required antigen typeand
which also meetthe inclusion criteria for our clinicaltrials. In addition, duringthe COVID-19
pandemic, resources atclinical sites are being prioritized towards treatment of COVID-19andasa
result there may be a delay in their ability to progress our clinical trials, recruit and enroll patients into
clinicaltrials or to start new clinical trials.

e The patient populationin which anyrequired peptide antigen is presented. The patient population may
be lower thanexpected whichwill increase thetimescales required to findand recruit patients into the
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applicable clinicaltrial. Screeningofa large number of patients is required to identify HLA and tumor
antigen positive patients forall of our clinicaltrials with our SPEAR T-cells.

Our ability to select, initiate and activateclinical sites on the timelines we expect. Selection and
activationof clinical trial sites can take a long period of time andincludes requirements to assess the
clinicaltrialsite, obtain IRBapproval of clinicaltrial protocols, negotiateand execute clinical trial
agreements and educate study staff to enable themto carry out the clinical trial.

Any requirementto change clinical trial design astheclinicaltrial progresses. It isalso difficult to
predict whether changes may be required to any clinical trial design as our clinicaltrials progress. The
need to make changes to any clinical trial design can result in delays to the performance of thatclinical
trialwhilst any changesare approved by the FDA or other relevantauthority and implemented at
applicable clinicaltrialsites.

Any competition for patientsatour clinical sites. Many of our clinical trial sites have multiple clinical
trials ongoingwhich competefor patients in any specific indication. We may have to wait before
treating patients while patients complete existing clinicaltrials or receive other treatment therapies for
theircancer. Moreover, because our cell therapies representa departure from more commonly used
methods for cancer treatment, potential patients and their physicians may opt to use conventional
therapies, suchas chemotherapy and hematopoietic cell transplantation, rather than enroliment in any
of ourcurrent or futureclinicaltrials. This may also meanwe cannotrecruit patients at a suitable time
in theirdisease progression.

Any change in the standard of care for patients. Where standard of care for patients changes clinical
sitesmay no longer be preparedto continuewith any clinical trial or require amendments toagreed
protocols forclinicaltrials. Such circumstances can leadto the suspension of the relevant clinical trial
ata site, inability to recruit further patients at that clinical site ora requirement to amend the protocol,
all of which will delay or potentially halt progression of a cell therapy through clinical trials.

Any country specific requirement. In certain countries additional data, studies or documentation may
be required ahead of any clinical trial starting. For example, comparability studies may be required in
relation to any changes in manufacturing process andthe extentof these comparability studies can
vary betweendifferentcountries. This canresult in delays to thestart ofany clinical trials in those
countriesand leadto increased research and development being required ahead of the startof those
clinicaltrials.

The severity of thediseasewe are tryingto treat and thetype of patient we are tryingto recruit. For
many of our clinicaltrials patients have received numerous prior therapies and have few or no other
remaining treatmentoptions. Given the latestage of their disease the patients also tendto be veryill
and hencerequire treatmentquickly and have the potential for increased SAEs following treatment.
Dependingon the protocol it can be difficult tofind patients that meet the inclusion requirements for
ourclinicaltrialsand canwait for manufacture of our cell therapy products.

The clinicaltrial protocol design andin particular the inclusion and exclusion requirements applicable
to the clinicaltrial.

Patient referral practices. It iscommon for investigators or physicians not to refer patients to other
investigators or physicians either within their own clinicalsites or to other clinical sites. This increases
the number of clinicalsites which have to be initiated in orderto recruit patients to our clinical trials.

Availability of reimbursement from insurance companies. The availability of reimbursementfor
patients to participate in clinicaltrials canimpacton theirability to enrollin our clinicaltrials.
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Even if we are able to enrolla sufficient number of patients in our clinicaltrials, delays in patientenroliment
may result in, and haveresulted in, increased costs or may affectthe timing or outcome of the planned clinical trials,
which could preventcompletion of these trials and adversely affect our ability to advance the development of our
SPEAR T-cells and other cell therapies.

Certain of ourclinicaltrials include dose escalation studies in which the dose of cell therapies administered to
patientsis varied orinitial studies in which the pre-treatment regimen may be varied, forexample, a regimenwith and
without fludarabine. The outcome of such dose escalation or initial studies will inform the clinical study going forward.
However, theneedto carry out dose escalationor other initial studies may result in delays in data from such clinical
programs while the most suitable dose or regimen is assessed. Forexample, thetrial design for our SPEAR T -cell trials
includes dose escalationand therefore efficacy data may notbe obtained from initial patients treated in such studies
duringthe dose escalation phase.

Our cell therapies represent a novel approach to cancer treatment that could result in heightened regulatory scrutiny
and delaysinclinical development.

Use of any of our celltherapiesto treata patient involves genetically engineeringa patient’s T-cells. This is a
noveltreatmentapproach that carries inherent developmentrisks including the following, any of which can result in
delaysto ourability to develop our cell therapies:

e  Furtherdevelopment, characterization and evaluation may be required at any point in the development of
any celltherapywhere clinical or preclinical data suggestany potential safety risk for patients. The needto
develop furtherassays, orto modify in any way the protocols related to our cell therapies to improve safety
or effectiveness, may delay theclinical program, regulatory approval or commercialization, if approvedat
all, of anycelltherapy.

e Endusersandmedical personnel require a substantialamount of educationandtraining in their
administration of celltherapies either to engage in clinicaltrials andrecruit patients or ultimately to

provide celltherapies to patients once our cell therapies have beenapproved.

¢ Regulatorsmaybe more risk averse or require substantial dialogueand educationas partof thenormal
regulatoryapproval process for each stage of development of any celltherapy. Many regulators have
additional requirementsor processes relating to cell therapy products which need to be addressed during
development. To date, only a limited number of gene therapy products have beenapproved in the U.S.and
EU. Consequently, it isdifficult to predict and evaluate what additional regulatory hurdles may apply to the
development of our cell therapies and whether additional investment, time or resources will be required to
overcomeany such hurdles.

¢ Regulatory requirements governing gene and cell therapy products have changed frequently and may
continue to change in the future.

¢ Randomgene insertionassociated with retrovirus-mediated genetically modified products, knownas
insertional oncogenesis, could lead to lymphoma, leukemia or other cancers, or other aberrantly
functioning cells. Insertional oncogenesis was seen in early genetherapy studies conducted outside of the
U.S. in 2003 althoughthese studies utilizeda murine gamma-retroviral vector rather than a lentiviral
vector.

e Although ourviralvectorsare not able to replicate, there may be a risk with the use of retroviral or
lentiviral vectors thatthey could undergo recombinationand lead to new or reactivated pathogenic strains
of virus orotherinfectious diseases.

e Thereis the potential for delayed adverse events following exposure to gene therapy products due to
persistent biological activity ofthe genetic material or other components of products used tocarry the
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genetic material. In part for this reason, the FDA recommends a 15-year follow-up observation period for
all surviving patients who receive treatmentusing gene therapies in clinicaltrials.

e Clinicaltrials using genetically modified cells may be subjectto additional or further regulatory processes,
forexample, by the NIH Office of Biotechnology Activities” Recombinant DNA Advisory Committee, or
RAC orthe need to apply fora specific applications relatingto the use of Genetically Modified Organism
application in the EU. These additional processes may delay orimpedethe initiationofa clinical trial.

o Increasedrisk to patient safety caused by the need to lymphodeplete patients prior to administration of our
cell therapies including in circumstances in which there is a heightened safety risk or in which medical
resources could be prioritized elsewhere, forexample, duringa pandemic suchas COVID-19.

e Negativeresultsseenin third party clinical trials utilizing gene therapy products may result in regulators
haltingdevelopment of our celltherapies or in requiringadditional data or requirements prior to our cell
therapies progressing to the next stage of development. Forexample, regulators could require changes to be
madeto our clinical trial protocols or increase requirements for dose escalation studies as partof our

clinicaltrial protocols.

Our clinicaltrials mayfail to demonstrate adequately the safety and efficacy of any celltherapies which would
prevent or delay regulatoryapproval and commercialization.

Thereis a risk in any clinicaltrialthatside effects from cell therapies will require a hold on, ortermination of,
clinical programs or further adjustments to clinical programs in order to progress any cell therapy. Our celltherapy must
demonstrateanacceptable benefit:risk profile in its intended patient populationand for its intended use. The benefit:risk
profile required for product licensurewill vary depending on these factors and may include not only the ability to show
tumorshrinkage, but also adequate duration of response, a delay in the progression of the disease and/or an improvement
in survival. Forexample, responserates fromthe use ofthe SPEAR T-cellsmay notbe sufficientto obtain regulatory
approval unless we orour collaborators canalso show an adeguate duration of response.

The regulatoryauthorities (includingthe FDA) may issue a hold on our clinicaltrials as a result of safety
informationanddata obtainedin third party clinical trials or in relation to third party products. Any such hold will
require addressing by us and will inevitably delay progression of theclinicaltrials concerned, if such clinical trials
progressatall.

Inaddition, evenif such trials are successfully completed, the FDA or foreign regulatory authorities may not
interpret the results as we or our collaborators do. Accordingly, more trials may be required beforewe can submit any
cell therapy forregulatory approval. To the extent that the results of the trials are not satisfactory to the FDA or foreign
regulatory authorities for support of a marketing authorization application, we may be required toexpend significant
resources, which may not be available to us, to conduct additional trials in supportof potential approval of our cell
therapies. We cannotpredict whetherany of our cell therapies will satisfy regulatory requirements at all or for
indications in which such celltherapies are currently beingevaluatedas part ofany clinical programs.

We have limited experience conducting later stage clinical trials which may cause a delay in any clinical program
and inthe obtaining of regulatory approvals.

Although we have recruited a teamthathas significant experiencewith clinicaltrials,asa company we have
limited experience in conducting clinicaltrials through to regulatory approval. In part because of this lack of experience,
we cannotbe certain that planned clinical trials will begin or be completedon time, if atall. Large-scale trialswould
require significantadditional financial and management resources, and reliance onthird -party clinical investigators,
contractresearchorganizations, or CROs, or consultants. Relying on third -party clinical investigators, consultants or
CROsmayforce usto encounter delays that are outside of our control.

33



Clinicaltrials areexpensive, time-consuming and difficult to implement.

Clinicaltrials, depending on the stage, can becostlyas wellas difficult toimplement and define, particularly
with technologies that are not tried and tested, such as our cell therapies. Thesefactors canleadto a longer clinical
development timeline and regulatory approval process, including a requirement to conduct further ormore complex
clinicaltrials in orderto obtain regulatory approval. Regulatory authorities may disagree with the design of any clinical
program, and designinganacceptable program could lead toincreased timeframes for obtaining of approvals, if any. In
addition, progression of clinical trials depends on theability to recruit suitable patients to thosetrials and delay in
recruiting will impactthe timeframes of such clinical trialsandasa result thetimeframes for obtaining regulatory
approval, if any, forthe relevant cell therapy.

In particular, eligible patients must be screened for the target peptide and HLA type, which may reduce the
number of patients who canbe recruited forany clinical program. Forexample, lowtarget peptide expression levels in
the NY-ESO SPEAR T-cell and ADP-A2M 10 programs a ffected speed of patient recruitmentin certain of theclinical
trials. The ability to administer cell therapies to patients in accordance with set protocols for the clinical trialsand the
results obtained depends on patient participation for the duration of the clinical trial, which many ofthese patientsare
unable to do because of their late-stage cancerand limited life expectancy.

Validation of our cell therapies requires access to human samples which we may be unableto obtainor, ifthey can be
obtained, that the terms under which theyare provided will be favorableto us.

Certain ofthe steps involved in validatingand carrying out safety testing in relationto our celltherapies require
access to humansamples (e.g., tissues samples or cell samples) from third parties. Such samples may be obtained from
universities or research institutions and will often be provided subjectto certain terms and conditions. We may not be
able to obtain samples in sufficient quantities to enable preclinical testing in sufficient quantities for planned activities,
particularly during the period in which COVID-19 impacts theability of research institutions to supply and access such
samples. In addition, the terms under which such samples are available may not be acceptable to us or may restrict our
use of any generated results or require us to make payments to the third parties.

Our cell therapies and theirapplication are not fully scientifically understood and are still undergoing validationand
investigation.

Cell therapies includingour SPEAR T-cellsandtheir potential associated risks are stillunder investigation. Our
cell therapiesincludingour SPEAR T-cellsmay notwork in the way that we currently anticipate and affinity
modification of the receptors within T-cells or other cellular therapies may not produce theanticipated enhancements in
activity. Forexample, there isa potential risk that, given that the TCR chains in our SPEAR T-cellsare produced
separately andthen assembled within patient T-cells into full TCRs, the TCR chains from both transduced and naturally
occurring T-cells could be assembled intoanunintendedend TCR due to mispairing of TCR chains, which could create
unknown recognition and cross-reactivity problems within patients. Althoughthis phenomenon has not been reported in
humans, it remains a theoretical risk forour SPEAR T-cellsand other similar cell therapies andis still being studied and
investigated. This could delay regulatory approval, if any, forthe relevant cell therapy. To theextent that any mispairing
is identified, either in our or our competitors’ clinicaltrials, additional investment may be required in order to modify
relevantcelltherapies andto further assess and validate the risk of such mispairing to patients. Following modification
of the relevant SPEAR T-cell or other cell therapy, such modified cell therapy may notremain suitable for patient
treatmentand may noteliminate therisk of mispairing of TCR chains and regulatory approval maynot beobtained ona
timely basis oratallin relation to such modified cell therapy. The occurrence of such events would significantly ham
ourbusiness, prospects, financial conditionand results of operations.

We may not be able to identify and validate additional target peptides or isolate and develop affinity-enhanced TCRs
orother cell therapy candidates that are suitable for validation and further development.

The success of our cell therapies depends on boththeidentification of target peptides presented on cancer cells,

which can be boundby our celltherapy products, and isolationandaffinity enhancement of receptors including TCRs,
which can be usedto treat patients if regulatory approval is obtained. Any failure to identify and validate further target
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peptides will reduce the number of potential cell therapies that we cansuccessfully develop, which in turn will reduce
the commercial opportunities available to usandincrease our reliance on our existing SPEAR T-cells. Delays in our
ability to identify and develop target peptides and cell therapies, includingas caused by COVID-19 orsimilar
pandemics, may also impact our ability to progress development of programsand obtain additional funds to support our
business.

We may notdevelop new cell therapy candidates for which the safety and efficacy profiles enable progression
to and through preclinical testingand into clinical development. Failure to identify further candidates for progression
into preclinicaltestingand clinical programs will significantly impact our pipeline of celltherapiesandalso increaseour
reliance on the SPEAR T-cells currently in clinical development. If resources become limited or if we fail to identify
suitable target peptides, receptors including TCRs or affinity-enhanced receptors, our ability to submit INDs for further
cell therapies may be delayed or never realized, which would have a materially adverse effecton our business.

Developmentofan “off-the-shelf” cell therapy takes a considerableamount of time and such development may not be
successful.

We have a platform process whichmay enable us to treat patient populations with an “off-the-shelf” product.
We have entered into an alliance with Universal Cells, Inc. to further develop thatplatform process. However, our
research program or the research programwith Universal Cells, Inc. may notbe successful, might notbe carried out
within the timescales currently anticipated, or evenif successful might not result in a celltherapy that canbe usedto
treat patients orachieve a profitable return oninvestment. In particular thevarious cell lines developed during this
process will need to be properly characterized and produced in accordance with regulatory requirements andthis
development process can take a significantamount oftime and resourceto ensure that any process or cell lines can be
used forthe productionof clinical stage and ultimately commercial stage products. It is not atthis time whether the cell
therapy candidates resulting from the process will have a similar profile of activity to our existing cell therapy products
or whethersuch celltherapy candidates will be safe to administer to patients. A manufacturing facility is plannedto open
in 2022 specifically directed to our “off-the-shelf” therapies. Delays may occur atany part of the process, including the
opening of our manufacturing facility and results obtained during development may necessitate a requirement to repeat
or modify stepsin the process.

Risks Related to the Manufacture and Supply of Our Cell Therapies

Manufacturingand supplyofcell therapies iscomplexand ifwe encounter any difficulties in manufacture or supply
of cell therapies our abilityto providesupply of our cell therapies for clinical trials or for commercial purposes could
be delayedor stopped.

The process of manufacturingandadministering cell therapies is complex and highly regulated. The
manufacture of celltherapies requires the harvesting of white blood cells from the patient, isolating certain T-cells from
these white blood cells, combining patient T-cells with our lentiviral delivery vector through a process knownas
transduction, expanding the transduced T-cells to obtain the desired dose, and ultimately infusing the modified T-cells
back intothe patient. Asa result of the complexities, our manufacturingand supply costs are likely to be higherthan
those at moretraditional manufacturing processes and the manufacturing process is less reliable and more difficult to

reproduce.

Delaysorfailures in the manufacture of celltherapies (whether by us, any collaborator or our third party
contractmanufacturers) can result in a patientbeing unable to receive their cell therapy ora requirementto re-
manufacture whichitself then causes delays in manufacture for other patients. Any delay orfailure or inability to
manufacture ona timely basis can adversely affecta patient’s outcomes and delay the timelines for our clinicaltrials.
Such delays or failure or inability to manufacture (includingas a result ofthe impact of the COVID-19 pandemic) can
result from:

o afailure in the manufacturing process itself forexample, by anerrorin manufacturing process (whether by
usor ourthird party contract manufacturing organization), equipment or reagent failure, failure in any step
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of the manufacturing process, failure to maintain a GMP environment, failure in quality systems applicable
to manufacture, sterility failures, contaminationduring process;

a lack of reliability or reproducibility in the manufacturing process itself leading to variability in end
manufacture of celltherapy. Should the process be unreliable, the relevant regulatory agency (such asthe
FDA in the U.S.) may place a hold on aclinicaltrial or requestfurther information onthe process which
could in turn result in delays to the clinical trials;

variations in patientstarting material or apheresis product resulting in less productthanexpected or product
which is not viable, orwhich cannot be used to successfully manufacture a celltherapy;

productlossorfailure dueto logisticalissues including issues associated with the differences between
patients’ white blood cells or characteristics, interruptions to process, contamination, failure to supply
patientapheresis material within required timescales (forexample, as a result of animportorexport hold -
up)orsuppliererror;

inability to haveenough manufacturing slots (includingthoseat our Navy Yard facility) to manufacture
cell therapies for patients as and when those patients require manufacture;

inability to procure starting materials or to manufacturestarting materials (includingat our U.K. vector
facility), forexample, vector required for SPEAR T-cell manufacture includingas a result ofthe COVID-

19 outbreak;

loss of or close-down of any manufacturing facility used in the manufacture of our cell therapies. For
example, we will be manufacturing celltherapiesatour Navy Yard manufacturing facility. Should there be
a contamination event at the facility resulting in the close-down of that facility, it would not be possible to
find alternative manufacturing capability for these cell therapies within the timescales required for ongoing
clinicaltrials. In addition, as with many pharmaceutical manufacturing facilities, the facility will have
periods of time within which it cannot be used for manufacture of patient productto enable routine checks
to be performedon the facility;

loss or contamination of patient starting material, requiring the startingmaterial to be obtained again from
the patient or the manufacturing process to be re-started,;

a requirementto modify or make changes to any manufacturing process. Such changes may additionally
require comparability testingwhich then may reduce theamount of manufacturing slots available for
manufacture of our cell therapies. Delays in our ability to make the required modifications or performany
required comparability testing within currently anticipated timeframes or that such modifications or
comparability testing, whenmade, will obtain regulatory approval or thatthe new processes or modified
processes will successfully be transferred to thethird party contractsuppliers within currently anticipated
timeframes can also impacttimelines for manufacture;

reductionor loss of the staff resources required to manufacture our cell therapies at our facilities or those of
ourCMOs;

allocation of theresources, materials, and services of any collaborator or our third party contract
manufacturers away from our cell therapy programs, forexample, to utilize such assets on theresearch,
development and manufacture of COVID-19vaccines or therapies;

reduction in available workforce to perform manufacturing processes, for example, asa result ofa COVID-

19 outbreak or workforce exhibiting potential COVID-19 symptoms, and pending receipt of test results for
COVID-19 infection;
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e increased country-specific requirements. Forexample, our current manufacturingsite is in the U.S. and this
means that for patients outside ofthe U.S. there isa need to transfer patient specific apheresis material
from clinicalsites in Europe to the manufacturerin the U.S., for the patient product to be converted into
ourend celltherapy product, for that product to be released for use in Europeand thenfor that cell therapy
productto be transported back to thesite in Europe foradministrationto the patient. The supply and
manufacturing chain required to achieve this is very complexand could be subject to failures atany point;
and

e changesin the manufacturingand supply process. As our cell therapies progress through preclinical
programs and clinical trials towards approval and commercialization, it is expected that various aspects of
the manufacturingand administration process will be a Itered in an effort to optimize processes and results.
We have already identified some improvements to our manufacturing and administration processes, but
these changes may not achievethe intended objectives, may notbe transferable to third parties orable to be
used at largerscalesand could cause our cell therapies to perform differently oraffect theresults of
planned clinical trials or other future clinical trials. Any changes to the manufacturing process may require
amendments to be madeto regulatory applications or comparability tests to be conducted which can further
delay timeframes. If cell therapies manufactured under the new process have a worse safety or efficacy
profile thanthepriorinvestigational product or the processis less reproducible than the previous process,
we may need to re-evaluate the use of that manufacturing process, which could significantly delay oreven

resultin the haltingof ourclinicaltrials.

We have insuranceto cover certain business interruption events whichis cappedat £10 million in the U.K.and $5
million in the U.S. However, because our level of insuranceis capped, it may be insufficientto fully compensate us if

any of these events were to occur in the future.

Our manufacturing process needsto complywith regulations and any failureto comply with relevant regulations
could resultindelays in or termination of our clinical programs and suspension or withdrawal of any regulatory
approvals.

In orderto commercially produce our products, we will need to com ply with the FDA’s and other regulatory
authorities’ cGMP requirements atour Navy Yard facility, vector facility and third party contract manufacturing
facilities. We may encounter difficulties in achieving quality control and quality assurance and may experience shortages
in qualified personnel. We and our third party contract manufacturers are subjectto inspections by the FDAand
comparable agencies in other jurisdictions to confirm compliance with applicable regulatory requirements once the
process has beenapproved. Any failure to follow cGMP or other regulatory requirements, reliably manufacture product
or delay, interruption or other issues thatarise in the manufacture, fill- finish, packaging, or storage of our cell therapies
asa result of a failure of our facilities or the facilities or operations of third parties to comply with regulatory
requirements or pass any regulatory authority inspection could significantly impair our ability to develop and
commercialize our celltherapies, including leading to significant delays in the availability of our cell therapies for our
clinicaltrials or the termination of or suspension of a clinical trial, orthe delay or prevention ofa filingorapproval o f
marketing authorizationapplications for our cell therapies. Significantnon-compliance could also result in the
imposition of sanctions, includingwarning letters, fines, injunctions, civil penalties, failure of regulatory authorities to
grant marketingapprovals for our cell therapies, delays, suspension or withdrawal of approvals, license revocation,
seizuresorrecalls of products, operating restrictionsand criminal prosecutions, any of which could damage our
reputation and our business.

Given we now manufacture celltherapiesatourown U.S. manufacturing facility and vectorata dedicated U.K.
vector facility, regulatory authorities might raise non-compliance issues or require us to make changes to the way in
which we operateeither facility. This may result in a delayin ourability to manufacture cell therapies at our own facility
or in ourability to supply vector material for use in the manufacturing process. In addition, any cell therapy or vector
produced in any of our facilities might not beable to meet regulatory requirements and we may be unable to recruitand
maintain sufficientstaff toenable manufacture of products within required timescales. Resourcing of cell manufacturing
facilities is increasingly competitive, which may restrict the number ofavailable skilled operators which canbe recru ited
atourmanufacturing facilities. Any failure to meet regulatory requirements or produce cell therapies and vector
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accordingto regulatory requirements could result in delays to our clinical programs, potential side effectsand even
fatalities to patientsand may result in withdrawal of regulatory approval for our manufacturing facility.

We have our own manufacturing capabilities which may result inincreased costs beingincurred by us.

During 2017, we opened a manufacturing facility for our SPEAR T-cell products within our Navy Yard facility
in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania and havestarted manufacturing SPEAR T-cells foruse in ourclinicaltrials. Regulatory
authorities, in particularthe FDA, might not continue to approve our ability to manufacture SPEAR T-cells or other cell
therapiesatthe Navy Yard facility. We are planning to open a manufacturing facility in the UK for our off-the-shelf cell
therapies in 2022 and manufacture of cell therapies at that facility will require the obtaining of regulatory approvaland
maintenance of theregulatory approval once obtained.

Our ability to successfully manufacture our own celltherapies atour facilities within a reasonable period of
time and within currently projected costs is dependent ona number of factors including:

e ourability to recruit the required employees ata suitable leveland experience and within required
timescales and to maintain employment of such required employees;

e ourability to obtain regulatory approval for the facility and for the manufacture of cell therapies at the
facility and to satisfy regulatory authorities onanongoing basis;

e ourability to manufacture celltherapies reliably and reproducibly and to timescales sufficient to support
required patient administration;

e ourability to manufacture cell therapies in compliance with the applicable regulatory requirements,
including requirements applicable in the U.S., UK and EU;

e ourability to developinternal quality controls and processes sufficientto enable manufacture and supply of
cell therapies at our facilities;

e ourability to establish comparability with currently used manufacturing processesandforsuch
comparability data to be accepted by the appropriate regulatory authorities; and

e ourability to be able to fund the ongoing development including equipment requirements necessary for
successfulmanufacture of celltherapies atour facilities.

Any delay or failure in manufacture at our facility could result in delays to the supply of celltherapies forour
clinicalprograms. Should any of our third party manufacturers also cease to be able to or be unable to supply cell
therapiesata timewhere our own manufacturing facility is unable to produce cell therapies for use in our clinical
programs oris unable to produce cell therapies at the required level, then we will be unable to support suchclinical
programs untilalternative manufacturing capability is secured.

Our autologous celltherapyproducts are patientspecific and we needto ensure thatthe correctproductis
administered to the correct patient.

Administration of cell therapies is patientspecific. The process requires careful handling of patient-specific
products and fail-safetrackingto ensure that thetracking process is without error and that patient samples are tracked
from patient removal, through manufacturing and re-administration to the same patient. While such mechanisms arein
place, should thetracking process fail, whether at our own facility, a third party facility oratany pointin the
manufacturing and supply process, a patientcould receiveanother patient’s T-cells resulting in significant toxicity and
potentially patient fatality. We will need to invest in enhanced systems, suchas bar coding, to further ensure fail safe
tracking. Thereisalwaysarisk of a failure in any such system. Inability to develop oradopt an acceptable fail-safe
tracking methodology and handling regime may delay or prevent us from receiving regulatory approval and/or result in
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significant toxicity and potentially patient fatality if a patientreceives another patient’s T-cells. This risk may be
increasedwhere celltherapiesare used in clinical programs that we do notcontrol or sponsorand, should anerror be
madein the administration of our cell therapies in such clinical programs, this could affectthe steps required in our own
clinical programs and manufacturing process requiring the addition of further tracking mechanisms to ensure fail-safe
tracking. The tracking systems required to further ensure safe patientadministration may also require increased
administration to satisfy other regulatory requirements, for example, data protection requirements in Europe. The need to
ensure tracking systems are adequate and to comply with theseadditional regulatory requirements may result in delay to
the start of trials orthe needto obtain additional regulatory licenses or consents prior to starting such trials.

Risks Related to the COVID-19 pandemic

The outbreak of COVID-19and its variants or any other similar pandemic may materially delay development of our
cell therapies and our abilityto obtain additional financing.

The outbreak of coronavirus, SARS-CoV-2 (“COVID-19”) has developed intoa global pandemic, spreading to
most regions of theworld includingthe U.S., U.K. and areas of Europe where we have facilities orongoingclinical
trials. Our business is affectedin the followingways:

e Wehave beenrequired to introduce a work from home policy forat least some of our work force, with our facilities
remaining opento support thoseactivities thatcannot be conducted from home, in particular the manufacture of cell
therapies, treatment of clinical patients and critical researchand development activities. The requirementto stay at
home andthe control measures required to mitigate risks to our work forceincluding social distancing requirements
limits effectiveness of ourwork force, thenumbers of individuals that canwork atthe facility atany one time and is
resultingin delaysto performance of manufacturing, developmentand research activities. Increased working from
home also impacts normal communications and may increasethe cyber security risk or create data accessibility
concerns.

e Anyoutbreak of COVID-190rone of its variantsatany of our facilities could result in manufacturing operations or
facilitiesbeing closed or necessitate a further reductionin the work we are able to perform at those facilities which
in turn could result in a delay tothe treatmentof patients anda delay in our researchand develo pment programs.

e Manyclinicalsites havediverted resources away from the performance of clinical trials or have imposed restrictions
on theirability to perform clinical trials, particularly where those clinical trials may increase the risk to the patients
beingtreated. This has resultedin many of our clinical trial sites choosing to delay treatmentof cell therapy patients
and notenrolling or screening patients until the situation improves which has inevitably delayed our ability to obtain
datafrom our clinical trials and will extend the time required to complete enrollment in currentclinical trials.

e Wehave provided our clinicalsites with guidancein relation tothe treatmentof patients duringthe COVID-19
pandemic, however, there isan increasedrisk to our patients asa result of the pandemic includingas a result of
infection with COVID-19whilst they are beingtreated in any of ourclinicaltrials orare attendingat clinical sites
forroutine scans or treatments. Thisrisk is increased by therequirement in our clinicaltrial protocols to treat
patients with a lymphodepletion regimen which leaves patients’ immune-compromised fora period oftime. This
increasedrisk may delay treatment of patients or delay recruitmentof patients intoour clinicaltrials.

e Thecurrentrestrictionsin place asaresult of COVID-19has resulted and may continue toresult in interruptionto
ourability andthat of our clinicalsites to conduct clinical trial activities in accordance with theapplicable clinical
trial protocol or other regulatory requirements including monitoring requirements, timing of patientvisits, ability to
follow patients after they have received treatment, ability to perform scans and patient assessments. Deviations and
changesto clinicaltrial protocols may be requiredin order to address the interruptions caused by COVID-19.
Inability to perform clinical trials in accordance with regulatory requirements may impact a later ability to obtain
regulatoryapproval in relationto our celltherapies or may delay our ability to obtain such regulatory approval.

e Manyof thethird parties we rely on for our developmentof cell therapies have alsobeenimpacted by the COVID-
19 pandemic. Whilst we havenotseen any material impacton theability of third parties to supply goods or services
to us, we anticipate delays with thesupply of certain raw materials and consumables required for manufacturingand
research activitiesasaresult of diversion of those materials and consumables to high priority vaccine development
requirements. Any delays may impact our ability to manufacture product for our clinicaltrialsand may cause delay
to ourresearchand preclinical developmentprojects.
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e Giventhird partyservice providers aresubject to restrictions onresources asa result of the COVID-19 pandemic,
we may see delaysin the provision of their services to us. Where these delays are in critical areas of thebusiness for
example, vector manufacturing, plasmid manufacturing which supports our ability to manufacture and supply cell
therapies, we may see an impact onour ability to provide cell therapies for patients in our clinicaltrials.

e Regulatory authorities havein certain cases postponed certainactivities including surveillance inspections of
manufacturing facilities. We also anticipate that there could be delays from regulatory authorities to any requests
that are madegiven thatapplications andauthorizations relevantto COVID-19 vaccination will be prioritized. If a
prolonged government shutdown occurs, or if globalhealth concerns continueto prevent the regulatory authorities
from conductingtheir regularinspections, reviews or other regulatory activities, it could impactthe ability of the
FDA or otherregulatory authorities to timely review and process our regulatory submissions.

The COVID-19 pandemic continues to evolve and the extentto which it may impact our future business is
highly uncertain and difficult to predict. The impact on global health systems, the life sciences industry more generally
or the economyas a whole isnot yet known. Depending on the lengthand progression of such pandemic, we may
experiencedisruptions that would significantly impact our business.

Risks Related to the Commercialization and Marketing of Our Cell Therapies

We may not be able to obtain marketing approvals of our cell therapies as broadly as planned or on the timescales we
plan.

The process of obtaining marketingapprovals, bothin the U.S.and in countries outside ofthe U.S., is
expensive, may take many yearsand can vary substantially based upona variety of factors, including the type,
complexityand novelty of the cell therapies involved. For example, clinicaltrials may be required in pediatric
populations before any marketingapproval can be obtained, which canbe time consumingand costly. Changesin
marketing approval policies during the development period, changes in orthe enactmentof additional statutes or
regulations, or changes in regulatory review for each submitted product application, may cause delays in the approval or
rejection ofanapplication. The FDA and foreign regulatory authorities also have substantial discretion in the drugand
biologicsapproval process. The numberand types of preclinical programs and clinical trials that will be required for
regulatoryapproval varies depending on the cell therapy, the disease or conditionthat the cell therapy is designed to
address, andtheregulations applicable to any particular cell therapy. Approval policies, regulations or thetype and
amount of clinical data necessary to gain approval may change duringthe course of a cell therapy’s clinical development
and may vary among jurisdictions, and there may be varying interpretations of data obtained from preclinical programs
or clinicaltrials, either of which may cause delays or limitations in the approval or the decisionnotto approvean
application.

Inaddition, approval of our cell therapies could be delayed or refused formany reasons, including the
following:

o the FDA orcomparable foreign regulatory authorities may disagree with the design orimplementation of
ourorourcollaborators’ clinicaltrials;

e we orourcollaborators may be unable to demonstrateto the satisfaction of the FDA or comparable foreign
regulatoryauthorities thatour SPEAR T-cells have a beneficial risk: benefit profile forany of their
proposed indications;

e theresultsof clinicaltrials may notmeet thelevel of statistical significance required by the FDA or
comparable foreign regulatory authorities forapproval;

e the FDA orcomparable foreign regulatory authorities may disagree with our interpretation of data from
preclinical programs or clinicaltrials;
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o thedatacollected from clinical trials of our celltherapies may not besufficient to the satisfaction of the
FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities to support the submissionofa BLA (includingas a result
of impacts caused by the COVID-19 outbreak) or other comparable submissionin foreign jurisdictions or
to obtain regulatory approvalin the U.S. or elsewhere;

e ourmanufacturing processes or facilities or those of the third -party manufacturers we use may not be
adequate tosupport approval of our cell therapies;

o theapprovalpoliciesorregulations of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may
significantly change in a manner rendering our clinical data insufficient for approval

e requirement foradditional clinicaltrials ahead of the grantof any regulatory approval,

o requirement for further development or characterization of processes. Forexample, the potency of our cell
therapies will need to be assessed by a potency assay andalthough we believe that ourassay will be
satisfactory to assess potency, theregulatory authorities may disagree which will necessitate development
of a furtherassay or process;

e third partieswe rely on beingunable to meet regulatory requirements or provide information or
documentationto support regulatory applications or questions from regulatory authorities. Forexample, we
rely on a third party vector manufacturer who will be required to provide certain information to enable us
to file the BLA;

e accesstoan approved companiondiagnostic to support the launch ofany cell therapy. Commercialization
of ourcelltherapies will require approval forand access toa companion diagnostic. We are relianton a
third party for development of our companion diagnostic assay and there is no certainty that development
will be possible in the timelines we require orthatend regulatory approval will be available in the timelines
we require; and

e datafromclinicaltrials sponsoredby third party competitors for similar cell therapy products which might
impacta regulators view of the safety or efficacy profile or our cell therapies or the grant of marketing
approvals to competitors ahead of any application we make for marketing approval which may preclude
ourability to obtain marketingapproval in the same indication unless we canshow increased efficacy.

Our estimates of the patientpopulation that may be treated by our celltherapies is based on estimates informed
by publishedinformation. This information may not be accurate in relation to our celltherapiesand our
estimates of potential patient populations could therefore be much higher or lower thanthose that are actually
available or possible for commercialization. Inaddition, these estimates are based on assumptions aboutthe
number of eligible patients which have the peptide and HLA type targeted by theapplicable cell therapy.
Different patient populations will present different peptides according to their specific HLA type. HLA types
vary across the patientpopulation and, dueto this variability, any therapy will initially only be suitable for
treatmentof patients expressing the particular HLA type presenting the relevant peptide.

Manufactureofa commercially available cell therapywill require anincrease in manufacturing capacityand itis not
currently known whether this will be possible within the timescales planned for commercialization.

Subject tothe successful conclusion of the SPEARHEAD-1 study, which was fully enrolled in 2020, and
approval of a BLA by the FDA, we plan to commercially launch ADP-A2M4in 2022 for patients with synovial sarcoma
in the U.S. Manufacture ofa commercial celltherapy will require an increase in manufacturing capacity and further
development of processes for manufacture and supply to support commercialization. Suchincrease in manufacturingand
development will require significant additional resources and may take considerable time, costs and effort to facilitate.
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Developmentofa commercially available cell therapy process is difficult and we may be unableto develop the process
oncurrently anticipated timescalesoratall.

Developinga commercially viable processis a difficult and uncertain task, andthere are risks associated with
scalingto the level required foradvanced clinical trials or commercialization, including, among others, requirements to
characterize the manufacturing process, increased costs, potential problems with process scale-out, process
reproducibility, stability issues, lot consistency, loss of product, and timely availability of reagents or raw materials or
contractmanufacturing services or facilities. Afailure to develop sucha commercially viable process within anticipated
timescales may preventordelay progression of our T-cell therapies into pivotal clinicaltrials and ultimately
commercialization. This failure to developa timely process may result from, for example, inability to scale-up within
required timelines, inability to put in place therequired processes and control measures fora commercial process or
failure of third parties (including vector suppliers) to put in place adequate facilities or processes to enable commercial
manufacture. In addition, we may ultimately be unable to reducethe expenses associated with our SPEAR T-cells to

levelsthat will allow us to achieve a profitable returnon investment.

Following grant of marketing authorization we will be subject to ongoing regulatory obligations, which may resultin
significant additional expenseas wellas significant penalties if we fail to comply with regulatory requirements or

experience unanticipated problems with our cell therapies.

If the FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory authority approves our cell therapies, the manufacturing
processes, labeling, packaging, distribution, adverseevent reporting, storage, advertising, promotion, import, export and
recordkeeping forour celltherapies will be subject to extensive and ongoing regulatory requirements. These
requirements include submissions of safety and other post-marketing information and reports, registrationand listing, as
well as continued compliancewith cGMPs and cGCPs forany clinicaltrials thatwe conduct post-approval. We and our
contractmanufacturers will be subject to periodic unannounced inspections by the FDA to monitorandensure
compliance with cGMPs. We must also comply with requirements concerning advertisingand promotionforany cell
therapies forwhich we obtain marketing approval. Promotional communications with respect to prescription drugs,
includingbiologics, are subjectto a variety of legaland regulatory restrictions and must be consistent with the
informationin the product’s approved labeling. Thus, we will not be able to promote any cell therapies we develop for
indications oruses forwhich theyare not approved.

We may not be able to develop or obtain approval for the analytical assays and companion diagnostics required for
commercialization of our cell therapies including ADP-A2M4.

Administration of our cell therapies requires the use of an immuno-chemistry or other screeningassay in which
patientsarescreened for the presence of the cancer peptide targeted by our cell therapies. Forexample, in our ADP-
A2M4 trial patients arescreened for the presence of MAGE-A4. This assay requires the identification of suitable
antibodies which can be used to identify the presence of the relevant target cancer peptide. Our patients are also screened

fortheirHLA-typeasonly patients with certain HLA-types canreceive our cell therapies.

If safe and effective use of a biologic productdepends on an in vitrodiagnostic, suchasatest to detect patients
with a particular cancer peptide, thenthe FDA generally requires approval or clearance of the diagnostic, knownasa
companion diagnostic, concurrently with approval of the therapeutic product. To date, the FDA has generally required in
vitro companion diagnostics that are intended for use in selection of patients whowill respond to cancer treatmentto
obtaina pre-market approval, or PMA, which can take up toseveral years, for thatdiagnostic approval or clearanceto
occursimultaneously with approval of the biologic product.

We expect that, forall our cell therapies, the FDA and similar regulatory authorities outside of the U.S. will
require the development and regulatory approval of a companion diagnostic assay as a conditionto approval. We also
expect that the FDA may require PMA supplemental approvals for use of that same companion diagnostic asa condition
of approval of additional celltherapies. We do not have experience or capabilities in developing or commercializing
these companion diagnosticsandplan to rely in large part onthird parties to perform these functions.
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If we or ourcollaborators, orany third parties that we engage to assist us, are unable to successfully develop
companion diagnostic assays for use with any SPEAR T-cells, orare unable to obtain regulatory approval or experience
delaysin either developmentor obtaining regulatory approval (including as a result of the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic), we may be unable to identify patients with the specific profile targeted by the relevant cell therapy for
enrollmentin ourclinicaltrials. In addition, delay in development and approval of any companion diagnostic (including
asaresult of the impactof the COVID-19 pandemic) may also impactour ability to obtaina marketing approval for the
therapeutic product andto commercialize the therapeutic product. Forexample, delays in the developmentof a
companion diagnostic for detection of the MAGE-A4 antigen in synovial sarcoma and MRCLS indications may result in
delaysto any marketing approval for ADP-A2M4 in those indications. Accordingly, further investment may be required
to further develop or obtain the required regulatory approval for the relevant companion diagnostic assay, which would
delay orsubstantially impactourability or our collaborators’ ability to conduct further clinicaltrials or obtain regulato ry
approval.

Obtainingand maintaining regulatory approval of our cell therapiesin one jurisdiction does not mean that we will be
successful in obtaining regulatoryapproval of our cell therapies in other jurisdictions.

We or our collaborators may submit marketing a uthorization applications in multiple countries. Regulatory
authorities in different countries have different requirements for approval of cell therapies with which we must comply
priorto marketingin those jurisdictions. Obtaining foreign regulatory approvals and compliance with foreign regulatory
requirements could result in significant delays, difficulties and costs forus and could delay or prevent the introduction of
our cell therapies in certain countries. Forexample, in certain jurisdictions additional clinical trials in different patient
populations may be required. If we failto comply with the regulatory requirements in international markets and/or
receive applicable marketingapprovals, our target market will be reduced and our ability to realize the fullmarket
potential of our celltherapies will be harmed.

The market opportunities for celltherapies maybe limited to those patients who havefailed prior treatments.

Initialapproval of new cancer therapies may be limited to what is referred to asthird-line use. Third-line
treatmentis the third type of treatmentfollowinginitial, or first-line, treatment and second-line treatment, which is given
when first-line treatment does not work or ceases working. However, cancer therapies may be used fromthe pointat
which cancerisdetected in its early stages (first line) onward. Whenever thefirst-line therapy fails or the process is
unsuccessful, second-line therapy may be administered, such as additional rounds of chemotherapy, radiation and
antibody drugs ora combination of these treatments. If second-line therapies fail, patients are generally given the
opportunity to receive third-line therapies, which tend to be morenovel therapies. Our current clinical trials generally
require thatpatients have received chemotherapy prior to enrollment and are primarily directed tothird-line use.
Dependingupontheoutcome of current trials, we or our collaborators may conduct future clinical trials using cell
therapies for first-line therapy, but clinical trials might notbe approved or if approved suchtrials mightnotleadto
regulatory approval. If our celltherapies only receive third-line or second-line approval, the patient population into
which we or our collaborators can supply our cell therapies will be significantly reduced, which may limit commercial
opportunities.

Inaddition, our patient populationmay be derived from those who have previously failed checkpointtherapy,
which mayresult in tumor resistance mechanisms which also impart resistance to our cell therapies and hence may
reduce the effectiveness of our cell therapies.

We currently have a limited marketing and sales organization and have no experiencein marketing products.

As an organization, we have never marketed or supplied commercial pharmaceutical or biologic products or
therapies. We will need to transition from a company with a researchand development focus to a company capable of
supportingcommercial activities. We may notbe successful in such a transition.

We do not currently have a sales force and will need to hire and develop thesales functionand associated

support network if we are to supply celltherapies on a commercial basis. As our cell therapies proceed through clinical
programs, we intend todevelopan in-house marketing organization and sales force, which will require significant capital
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expenditures, managementresources, and time. We will have to compete with other pharmaceutical and biotechnology
companiestorecruit, hire, train, and retain suitably skilled and e xperienced marketing and sales personnel. This process
may result in additional delays in bringing our cell therapies to market or in certain cases require us to enter into
alliances with third parties in orderto do so. However, there can be no assurance thatwe will be able to establish or
maintain such collaborativearrangements, orevenif we are able to doso, that they will result in effectivesales forces.
Any revenuewe receive will depend uponthe efforts of such third parties, which may not be successful. We may have
little or no controloverthe marketingand sales efforts of suchthird parties, and our revenue from cell therapy sales may
be lower thanif we had commercialized our cell therapies ourselves. We also face significant competition in o ur search
forthird parties to assist us with the sales and marketing efforts of our cell therapies. Such competition may also result in
delay or inability to supply cell therapies to particular countries or territories in the world which in turn will restrict the
revenue that canbe obtained from any cell therapy. Any inability on our part to develop in-house sales and commercial
distribution capabilities or to establish and maintain relationships with third -party collaborators that can successfully
commercialize any celltherapy in the U.S. orelsewhere will have a materially adverse effecton our business and results
of operations.

If product liability lawsuits are brought againstus, we may incur substantial liabilities and may be required to limit
commercialization of our cell therapies.

We face aninherentrisk of productliability as a result of theclinical testing of our cell therapiesand our
ongoing manufacture of celltherapies and will face aneven greater risk upon any commercialization. Forexample, we
may be sued if any of our SPEAR T-cells causes oris perceived to cause injury oris foundto be otherwise unsuitable
duringclinicaltesting, manufacturing, marketing or sale. Any such product liability claims may include allegations of
defects in manufacturing, defects in design, a failure to warnof dangers inherent in the product, negligence, strict
liability or a breach ofwarranties. Claims could also be asserted under state consumer protection acts. If we cannot
successfully defend ourselves against product liability claims, we may incur substantial liabilities or be required to limit
commercialization of our cell therapies. Even a successful defensewould require significant financial and management
resources and, regardless of the merits or eventual outcome, liability claims may result in:

o decreaseddemandforourcelltherapies;

e injurytoourreputation;

o withdrawalof clinicaltrial participants;

e initiation of investigations by regulators;

o coststodefendthe related litigation;

e adiversion of management’s timeand ourresources;

e substantial monetary awards to trial participants or patients;

e productrecalls, withdrawals or labeling, marketing or promotional restrictions;

e loss of revenue;

e exhaustionof anyavailable insuranceand our capital resources;

¢ theinability to commercialize our cell therapies; and

e adeclineinourshareprice.
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Our inability to obtain sufficient productliability insuranceatanacceptable price to protect against potential
productliability claims could also prevent or inhibit the commercialization of our cell therapies. We currently hold
£15.0 million in clinical trial insurance coverage in the aggregate per year, with a per trial limit of £5.0 million. We also
hold products and services liability insurance capped at £3.0 million in the aggregate and public liability insurance
capped at £5.0 million per occurrence. These levels may not be adequate to cover all liabilities thatwe may incur. We
may also need toincrease our insurance coverage as we expandthescope of our clinical trials and commercialize any of
our cell therapies. In addition, insurance coverage is increasingly expensive. We may notbe able to maintain insurance
coverage ata reasonable cost orin an amount adequateto satisfy any liability that may arise.

Evenifwe or our collaborators obtain regulatoryapproval of our cell therapies, they may not gain marketacceptance
among physicians, patients, hospitals, cancer treatment centers and others in the medical community.

The use of engineered T-cellsand cell therapies more generally as a potential cancer treatment isa recent
development and may not become broadly accepted by physicians, patients, hospitals, cancer treatment centers and

others in the medical community. Additional factors will influence whether SPEAR T-cells are accepted in the market,
including:

e theclinicalindications forwhich our celltherapies are approved;

e physicians, hospitals, cancer treatment centers and patients consideringthe SPEAR T-cellsas a safe and
effective treatment;

e the potentialand perceivedadvantages of our cell therapies over alternative treatments;

e the prevalence and severity of anyside effects;

e productlabelingor prescribinginformation requirements of the FDA or other regulatory authorities;
e limitationsorwarnings contained in the labelingapproved by the FDA,;

e thetimingof market introduction of our celltherapies aswellas competitive products;

e thecostof treatment in relation to alternativetreatments;

o theavailability of coverage, adequate reimbursementand pricing by third-party payors and government
authorities;

¢ thewillingness of patientsto pay for cell therapies on an out-of-pocket basis in the absence of coverage by
third-party payors and government authorities;

e relative convenienceand ease of administration as compared to alternative treatments and competitive
therapies; and

o theeffectiveness of oursalesand marketing efforts.

Inaddition, although we are not utilizingembryonic stem cells or replication competentvectors in our
manufacturing process, adverse publicity due to the ethical and social controversies surrounding the therapeutic use of
such technologies, and reported side effects from any clinical trials using these technologies or the failure of such trials
to demonstrate that these therapies aresafe and effective may limit market acceptance of cell therapies including SPEAR
T-cells. If ourcelltherapies are approved but fail to achieve marketacceptance among physicians, patients, hospitals,
cancer treatment centers or others in the medical community, we or our collaborators will not be able to generate
significant revenue.
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Even if our cell therapies achieve market acceptance, we or our collaborators may not be able to maintain that
market acceptance over timeif new products or technologies are introduced that are more favorably received thanour
cell therapies, are more cost effective or render our celltherapies obsolete.

Coverage and reimbursementmay be limited or unavailable in certain marketsegments for cell therapies.

Successful sales of celltherapies, if approved, depend onthe availability of coverage and adequate
reimbursementfrom third-party payors. In addition, because cell therapies representnew approaches to the treatment of
cancer, we cannot accurately estimatethe potential revenue from cell therapies. Patients who are provided medical
treatmentfortheir conditions generally rely on third-party payors to reimburse all or part of the costs associated with
theirtreatment. Obtaining coverage and adequate reimbursement from governmental healthcare programs, suchas
Medicare and Medicaid, and commercial payors is critical to new product acceptance.

Government authorities and third-party payors, such as private healthinsurers and health maintenance
organizations, decidewhich drugs and treatments they will cover and the amount of reimbursement. Reimbursement by
a third-party payor may depend upon a number of factors, including, butnotlimited to, thethird -party payor’s
determination thatuse of a product is:

e acoveredbenefitunderitshealthplan;
o safe,effectiveand medically necessary;
e appropriate forthe specific patient;

e cost-effective; and

e neitherexperimental norinvestigational.

Obtaining coverage and reimbursement approval of a cell therapy from a governmentor other third-party payor
is a time-consumingand costly process which could require us to provide to the payor supporting scientific, clinicaland
cost-effectiveness data for the useof our products. Evenif we obtain coverage for a given celltherapy, the resulting
reimbursement paymentrates mightnotbe adequate for us to achieve or sustain profitability or may require co payments
that patients find unacceptably high. Patients are unlikely to usecell therapies unless coverageis provided and
reimbursementis adequate to covera significantportion ofthe cost of the celltherapy.

Inthe U.S., no uniformpolicy of coverage and reimbursement for products exists among third -party payors.
Therefore, coverage and reimbursement for products can differ significantly from payor to payor. Asa result, the
coverage determination process is often a time-consuming and costly process thatwill require usto provide scientific
and clinical support for the use of our cell therapies to each payor separately, with no assurancethatcoverageand

adequate reimbursement will be obtained.

In some foreign countries, particularly those in the EU, the pricing of biologics is subjectto governmental
control. In these countries, pricing negotiations with governmental authorities can take considerable time after obtaining
marketingapproval of a celltherapy. Inaddition, marketacceptanceand sales of our cell therapies will depend
significantly onthe availability of coverage and adequate reimbursement from third-party payors for the cell therapies
and may be affected by existingand future health care reform measures.

There have been, and likely will continueto be, legislative and regulatory proposals at the foreign, nationaland

state levels directed at broadening the availability of healthcare and containing or lowering the cost of healthcare. We
cannotpredictthe initiatives that may be adopted in the future. The continuing efforts of the government, insurance
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companies, managed care organizations and other payors of healthcare services to contain or reduce costs of healthcare
and/orimpose price controls may adversely affect:

o thedemandforcelltherapies, if we orour collaborators obtain regulatory approval,

e ourorourcollaborators’ ability to set a price thatis fair for our cell therapies;

e ourorourcollaborators’ ability to generate revenue and achieve or maintain profitability;
o thelevelof taxesthat we are required to pay;and

o theavailability of capital.

Any reductionin reimbursement from Medicare or other government programs may result in a similar reduction
in payments from private payors, which may adversely affect our future profitability.

Our cell therapies for which we intend to seek approval as biologic products may face competition sooner than
anticipated.

The enactment of the Biologics Price Competitionand Innovation Act of 2009, or BPCIA, created an
abbreviated pathway for the approval of biosimilar and interchangeable biological products. The abbreviated regulatory
pathway establishes legalauthority for the FDA to review and approvebiosimilarbiologics, including the possible
designation ofa biosimilar as “interchangeable” based on its similarity to an existing reference product. Under the
BPCIA, an application fora biosimilar productcannot be approved by the FDA until 12 years after the original branded
productor “reference” isapproved undera BLA. On March 6,2015, the FDA approvedthe first biosimilar product
underthe BPCIA. However, the law is complexandis still being interpretedandimplemented by the FDAand asa
result, its ultimate impact, implementationand meaning are subjectto uncertainty. While it is uncertain whensuch
processes intended to implement BPCIA may be fully adopted by the FDA, any such processes could have a material
adverseeffect onthe future commercial prospects for our biological products.

There s a risk that the FDA will not consider our cell therapies to be reference products for competing
products, potentially creating the opportunity for generic competition sooner than anticipated. Additionally, this period
of regulatory exclusivity does notapply to companies pursuing regulatory approval via their own traditional BLA, rather
than viatheabbreviated pathway. Moreover, theextent to which a biosimilar, once approved, will be substituted forany
one of our reference products in a way that is similar to traditional generic substitution for non-biological products is not
yet clear,andwill depend on anumber of marketplaceand regulatory factors that are still developing.

Foreign countries also have abbreviated regulatory pathways for biosimilars and hence even wherethe FDA
does not approve a biosimilarbiologic, a biosimilar could be approved usinganabbreviated regulatory pathway in other

markets whereour celltherapies are approved and marketed.
Risks Related to Government Regulation
Regulatory authorities mayimpose a holdon our clinical trials.

A clinicaltrialmay be suspended orterminated by us ora collaborator, IRBs for the institutions in which such
trialsare being conducted, the Data Monitoring Committee for such trial, or by the FDA or other regulatory authorities
due to a number of factors, including failure to conductthe clinical trialin acco rdance with regulatory requirements or
ourclinical protocols, inspection of the clinical trial operations or trial site by the FDA or other regulatory authorities
resulting in the imposition of a clinicalhold, unforeseen safety issues or adverse side effects, failure todemonstrate a
benefit fromusinga celltherapy, changes in governmental regulations oradministrative actions or lack of adequate
fundingto continue theclinicaltrial. If we orour collaborators experience termination of, or delays in the completion of,
any clinicaltrial of our cell therapies, the commercial prospects for our cell therapies will be harmed, and our ability to
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generateproduct revenuewill be delayed. In addition, any delays in completing our clinical trials will increase our costs,
slow our product development and approval process and jeopardize our ability to commence product sales and generate
revenue.

The FDA regulatory process can be difficult to predict, in particular whether for example, accelerated approval
processes are available or further unanticipated clinical trials are required will depend onthe dataobtainedin our
ongoing clinical trials.

The regulatoryapproval process and the amount oftime it takes us to obtain regulatory approvals forour cell
therapies will depend on the data that are obtained in our ongoingclinical trialsand in one or more future registration or
pivotal clinicaltrials. We may attempt to seek approval on a per indicationbasis for our cell therapies on thebasis of a
single pivotaltrial or on the basis of data from a Phase 2 trial. While the FDA requires in most cases two adequate and
well-controlled pivotal clinicaltrials to demonstrate the efficacy of a product candidate, a single trial with other
confirmatory evidence may besufficient wherethe trialis a large multicenter trial demonstrating internal consistency
and a statistically very persuasive finding of a clinically meaningful effect on mortality, irreversible morbidity or
prevention ofa disease with a potentially serious outcomeand confirmation of the result in a secondtrialwould be
practically orethically difficult. Depending on the data we obtain, the FDA or other regulatory authorities may require
additional clinicaltrialsto be carried out or further patientstobe treated prior to the granting of any regulatory approval
formarketing of our celltherapies. It is difficult for us to predict with sucha novel technology exactly what will be
required by the regulatory authorities in order to takeour cell therapies to marketor the timeframes under which the
relevantregulatory approvals canbe obtained.

Obtainingand maintaining regulatory approval of our cell therapies inone jurisdiction does not mean that we will be
successful in obtaining regulatoryapproval of our cell therapies in other jurisdictions.

Obtainingand maintaining regulatory approval of our cell therapies in one jurisdiction does notguarantee that
we orourcollaborators will be able to obtain or maintainregulatory approval in any other jurisdiction, while a failure or
delay in obtaining regulatory approval in one jurisdiction may havea negative effect on the regulatory approval process
in others. Forexample, evenif the FDA grants marketingapproval of a SPEAR T-cell, comparable regulatory authorities
in foreign jurisdictions mustalso approve the manufacturing, marketingand promotion of the SPEAR T-cellin those
countries. Approval procedures vary among jurisdictions and can involve requirements and administrative review
periods different from, and greater than, those in the U.S., includingadditional preclinical programs or clinical trials as
clinicaltrials conducted in one jurisdiction may notbe accepted by regulatory authorities in other jurisdictions. Inmany
jurisdictions outside the U.S., a celltherapy must be approved for reimbursementbefore it can be approved forsale in
that jurisdiction. In some cases, the price thatwe orour collaborators intend to charge for our cell therapiesisalso
subject toapproval.

We may be unable to obtain breakthrough or similar designations for our cell therapies or maintain the benefits
associatedwith such designations.

In2012,the FDA establisheda breakthroughtherapy designation which is intended to expeditethe
development and review of products that treat serious or life-threatening diseases when “preliminary clinical evidence
indicates thatthe drugmay demonstrate substantial improvement over existing therapies on one or more clinically
significant endpoints, such as substantial treatmenteffects observed early in clinical development.” The designationof a
SPEAR T-cell as a breakthrough therapy provides potential benefits thatinclude more frequent meetings with the FDA
to discussthe developmentplan forthe SPEAR T-cellandensure collection of appropriate data needed to support
approval; more frequent written correspondence from the FDA about things such as the design of the proposed clinical
trialsand use of biomarkers; intensive guidance on anefficientdrug development program, beginning asearly as
Phase 1; organizational commitment involving senior managers; and eligibility for rolling reviewand priority review.

We have obtained RMAT designation (Regenerative Medicine Advanced Therapy designation) from the FDA

for ADP-A2M4 forthe treatment of synovial sarcoma. We may apply for similar status oraccelerated programs in other
countriesandforother of our products and indications. However, given the novel nature of our cell therapies, it is
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difficult forusto predict whetherthe FDA or other regulatory authorities will approve such requests or what further
clinicalor otherdata may be required tosupport anapplication for such accelerated approval procedures.

Breakthrough therapy designation does notchange the standards for product approval. Additionally, other
treatments from competing companies may obtain thedesignations and impactour ability to develop and commercialize

our SPEAR T-cells, which mayadversely impactour business, financial condition or results of operation.

We may alsoseek accelerated approvalunderthe FDA’s fasttrack and accelerated approval programs, the FDA
may approve a drugor biologic fora serious or life-threatening illness that provides meaningful therapeutic benefit to
patients over existing treatments based upon a surrogate endpointthat is reasonably likely to predict clinical benefit, or
ona clinicalendpoint that can be measured earlier thanirreversible morbidity or mortality, that is reasonably likely to
predict an effecton irreversible morbidity or mortality or other clinical benefit, taking into account the severity, rarity, or
prevalenceof thecondition and the availability or lack of alternative treatments. For drugs granted accelerated approval,
post-marketing confirmatory trials have been required to describe the anticipated effect on irreversible morbidity or
mortality or other clinical benefit. These confirmatory trials must be completed with due diligence. Moreover, the FDA
may withdraw approval of our celltherapy or indication approved under theaccelerated approval pathway if, for
example:

o thetrialortrialsrequired to verify thepredicted clinical benefit of our cell therapy fail to verify such
benefit ordo not demonstrate sufficient clinical benefit to justify the risks associated with the drug;

e otherevidencedemonstrates thatour celltherapy is not shownto be safe or effective under the conditions
of use;

o we failto conduct any required post approval trial of our celltherapy with due diligence; or
o we disseminate false or misleading promotional materials relating to the relevantcell therapy.

In Europe, theEMAhas implemented the so-called "PRIME" (Priority Medicines) status in order support the
development and accelerate theapproval of complex innovative medicinal products addressingan unmetmedical need.
The PRIME status enables early dialogue with the relevant EMA scientific committees and, possibly, some payers; and
thusreinforces the EMA's scientific and regulatory support. It also opens accelerated assessment of the marketing
authorizationapplication (150 days instead of 210 days). The PRIME status, which is decided by the EMA, is reserved
to medicines that may benefit from accelerated assessment, i.e. medicines of major interestfroma public health

perspective, in particular from a therapeutic innovation perspective.

In 2020, theEMA granted access to the PRIME initiative to ADP-A2M4 for the treatment of certain patients
with synovial sarcoma. We may apply for PRIME status for other of our celltherapy products. There canbe no
assurance that any applicationwill be successful in obtaining PRIME status.

We will be subject to ongoing regulatory obligations and continued regulatory review, which may resultin significant
additional expenseaswell as significant penalties if we fail to comply with regulatory requirements or experience
unanticipated problemswith our cell therapies.

Any regulatory approvals that we receive for our cell therapies will require surveillance to monitor the safety
and efficacy ofthecelltherapy. The FDA may also require a risk evaluation and mitigation strategy in orderto approve
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our cell therapies, which could entail requirements for a medication guide, physician communication plans or additional
elementstoensure safeuse, suchasrestricted distribution methods, patient registries and other risk minimization tools.

Laterdiscovery of previously unknown problems with our cell therapies, including adverseevents of
unanticipated severity or frequency, or with our third -party manufacturers or manufacturing processes, or failure to
comply with regulatory requirements, may result in,among other things:

e restrictionson ourability to conduct clinicaltrials, including full or partial clinical holds on ongoing or
planned trials;

e restrictions on such products’ manufacturing processes;
e restrictionson the marketing of a product;

e restrictionson product distribution;

e requirementsto conduct post-marketing clinicaltrials;
e untitled orwarningletters;

o withdrawal of the products fromthe market;

o refusalto approve pendingapplications or supplements to approved applications that we submit;
o recallof products;

o fines, restitution or disgorgement of profits or revenue;
e suspensionorwithdrawal of regulatory approvals;

o refusalto permitthe import orexport of our products;

e productseizure;

e injunctions;

e imposition of civil penalties; or

criminal prosecution.

The FDA’s and otherregulatory authorities’ policies may change, and additional government regulations may
be enactedthat could prevent, limit ordelay regulatory approval of our cell therapies. We cannot predictthe likelihood,
natureorextent of government regulation that may arise from future legislation oradministrative action, either in the
U.S. or abroad. If we are sloworunable to adaptto changes in existing requirements or the adoption of new
requirements or policies, or if we are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we may lose any marketing approval
that we may have obtained and we may not achieve or sustain profitability.

Inaddition, if followingany pivotal clinicaltrial we were able to obtain accelerated approval of any of our cell
therapies, the FDA will require us to conduct a confirmatory trial or trials to verify the predicted clinical benefit and
additional safety studies. The results from the confirmatory trial or trials may notsupport the clinical benefit, which
would result in the approval being withdrawn.
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We may seek a conditional marketing authorization in Europe for some or allof our current cell therapies, but we
may not be able to obtain or maintain such authorization.

As part of its marketing authorization process, the EMA may grantmarketing authorizations for certain
categories of medicinal products on the basis of less complete data thanis normally required, when doingso may meet
unmetmedical needs of patients and serve the interestof public health. Insuch cases, it is possible forthe Committee for
Medicinal Products for Human Use, or CHMP, to recommend the granting of a marketing authorization, subjectto
certain specific obligations to be reviewed annually, which is referred to asa conditional marketing authorization. This
may apply to medicinal products for human use that fallunder the centralized procedure (EMA's scientific a ssessment
and European Commission's approval), including those that aim at the treatment, the prevention, or the medical
diagnosis of seriously debilitating diseases or life-threatening diseases and those designated as orphan medicinal
products.

A conditional marketing authorization may be granted when the CHMP finds that, although comprehensive
clinical datareferringto the safety and efficacy of themedicinal producthave not been supplied, all the following
requirements are met:

o thebenefit:risk balance of the medicinal productis positive;
o itis likely that theapplicantwill be in a position to provide the comprehensive clinical data;
e unmetmedicalneedswillbe fulfilled; and

o the benefit to public health of the immediate availability on the marketof the medicinal product concerned
outweighsthe risk inherent in the fact that additional data is still required.

The granting of a conditional marketing authorization is restricted to situations in which only the clinical part of
the applicationis not yet fully complete. Incomplete preclinical or quality data may only be accepted if duly justified and
only in the case of a product intended to be used in emergency situations in responseto public-health threats.
Conditional marketing authorizations are valid foroneyear, on arenewable basis. The holder will be required to
complete ongoingtrials orto conductnewtrials with a viewto confirming thatthe benefit-risk balance is positive. In
addition, specific obligations may beimposed in relationto the collection of pharmacovigilance data.

Grantinga conditional marketing authorizationallows medicines to reach patients with unmet medical needs
earlierthan might otherwise be the case and will ensure that additional data on a product are generated, submitted,
assessedand acted upon. Although we may seek a conditional marketing authorization foroneormore of our cell
therapies, the CHMP may ultimately not agree that the requirements for such conditional marketing authorization have
been satisfied. Thiswould delay the commercialization of our cell therapies as we would have to wait fora complete
data package before submitting the marketing authorization application.

We or our collaborators may not be ableto obtain or maintain orphan drugexclusivity for our cell therapies.

Regulatory authorities in some jurisdictions, includingthe U.S. and Europe, may designate drugs or biologics
forrelatively small patient populations as orphan drugs. Orphan drug designation does not convey any advantage in or
shorten theduration of the regulatory review and approval process, but it canleadto financial incentives, such as
opportunities for grant funding toward clinical trial costs, tax advantages in-lieu of R&D tax credits and user-fee
waivers.

Generally, if a productwith an orphan drug designation subsequently receives the first marketing approval for
the indication for which it has such designation, the productis entitled to a period of marketing exclusivity, which
precludesthe EMA orthe FDA from approving another marketing authorizationapplication for the same drug for that
time period. The applicable period isseven yearsin the U.S.and tenyears in Europe. The European exclusivity period
can be reducedto six yearsif a drugno longer meets the criteria for orphandrug designation or if the drug is sufficiently
profitable so that market exclusivity is no longer justified. Orphan drug exclusivity may be lost if the FDA determines
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that therequestfor designationwas materially defective or if the manufacturer is unable to assure sufficientquantity of
the drugto meet the needs of patients with the rare disease or condition. In Europe, the orphan exclusivity may be lost
vis-a-visanother drugin cases the manufacturer is unable to assure sufficient quantity of the drugto meet patientneeds
or if that other productis proved tobe clinically superiorto theapproved orphan product. Adrugis clinically superior if
it is safer, more effective or makes a major contributionto patientcare.

As a result of Brexit, asof January 1,2021, incentives related to anorphandesignation grantedin the EUare
limited to the EUand Ireland, butnot GreatBritain (England, Wales and Scotland). The competent authority in the U.K.
(MHRA) will reviewapplications for orphan designationat the time of a marketingauthorization, and has announced
that it will offer incentives in the form of market exclusivity andfull or partial refunds for marketing authorization fees
to encourage the developmentof medicines in rare diseases.

There can be noassurance that any of our cell therapies will be eligible fororphandrugdesignationin the U.S.
or in other jurisdictions or that it will obtain orphandrug marketing exclusivity uponapproval or that we will not lose
orphan drug designation for ADP-A2M4. Inability to obtain orphan drug designation for a specific cell therapy or loss of
such designation for ADP-A2M4 in the future would prevent any ability to take advantage of the financial benefits
associated with orphan drug designationand would preclude us from obtaining marketing exclusivity upon approval, if
any. Evenif we obtain orphan drug exclusivity for a product, thatexclusivity may noteffectively protect the product
from competition because different drugs canbe approved for the same condition. The extent of market exclusivity
which is obtained mayalso be affected if the indication for any relevant registration or pivotal trial is narrower thanthe
orphan designation granted. Evenafteranorphandrugisapproved, the FDA cansubsequently approve another drug for
the samecondition if the FDA concludes that the later drugis clinically superior in thatit is shown to be safer, more

effective or makes a major contribution to patient care.
Any failure by us to complywith existing regulations could harm our reputation and operating results.

The production of celltherapies is highly regulated and subject to constantinspection. Theregulatory
environmentmay also change from timeto time. Any failure to comply with regulatory requirements, whetherin the
U.S. or in other countries in which our cell therapies are supplied, may result in investigation by regulatory authorities,
suspension of regulatory authorizations and, asa result, suspension of clinical programs or ability to supply any of our
cell therapiesand potentially significant fines or other penalties being imposed in relationto any breach. Any failure may
also harmourreputation and impact our ability going forward to obtain regulatory approvals for other cell therapies or
require us to undertake additional organizational changes to minimizethe risk of further breach. Afailure to comply may
apply to any partof ourbusiness, forexample, to the processes used for manufacture of our celltherapies (including the
reliability of the process) orto the processes used for treatment of patients (including tracking of patientproductand
supply of patientspecific product).

Our research and development activities utilize hazardous, radioactive and biological materials. Should such
materials causeinjury or be used other thaninaccordancewith applicable laws and regulations, we may be liable for
damages.

We use hazardous andbiological reagents and materials in our research and developmentat our U.K. site. We
have obtainedthe appropriate certification or ensured thatsuch certification has beenobtained as required for the use of
these reagents but our use is subjectto compliance with applicable laws and there is a risk that should any third party or
employee sufferinjury or damage from radioactive, hazardousor biological reagents that we may incur liability or
obligations to compensate such third parties or employees. We haveemployer’s liability insurance capped at
£10.0 million per occurrence and public liability insurance capped at £5.0 million per occurrence; however, these
amounts may be insufficientto compensate us if these events actually occur in the future.
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We are subject to the U.K. Bribery Act, the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Actand other anti-corruption laws, as
well asexport control laws, customs laws, sanctions laws and other laws governing our operations. If we fail to
comply with these laws, we could besubject to civil or criminal penalties, other remedial measures, and legal
expenses, which could adversely affectour business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our operations are subject to anti-corruption laws, includingthe U.K. Bribery Act 2010, or Bribery Act, the
U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or FCPA, and other anti-corruption laws that apply in countries where we do
business. The Bribery Act, the FCPA and these other laws generally prohibit us and our employees and intermediaries
from bribing, beingbribed or making other prohibited payments to government officials or other personsto obtain or
retain business or gain some other business advantage. Under the Bribery Act, we may also be liable for failing to
prevent a person associated with us from committinga bribery offense. We and our commercial partners may operatein
a number of jurisdictions thatposea high risk of potential Bribery Act or FCPA violations, and we participatein
collaborations and relationships with third parties whose actions, if non-compliant, could potentially subjectusto
liability underthe Bribery Act, FCPA or localanti-corruption laws. In addition, we cannot predict the nature, scopeor
effect of future regulatory requirements to which our international operations might be subjector the manner in which
existing laws might be administered or interpreted.

We are also subject toother laws and regulations governing our international operations, including regulations
administered by the governments of the U.K. and the U.S.,and authorities in the EU, includingapplicable export control
regulations, economic sanctions on countries and persons, anti-money laundering laws, customs requirements and
currency exchange regulations, collectively referred to asthe Trade Control laws.

However, there isno assurance that we will be completely effective in ensuringour compliance with all
applicable anti-corruption laws, including the Bribery Act,the FCPA or other legal requirements, including Trade
Controllaws. If we are notin compliance with the Bribery Act, the FCPA and otheranti-corruption laws or Trade
Controllaws, we may be subjectto criminaland civil penalties, disgorgementand other sanctions and remedial
measures, and legalexpenses, which could have anadverseimpacton our business, financial condition, results of
operationsand liquidity. Likewise, any investigation ofany potential violations of the Bribery Act, the FCPA, otheranti-
corruptionlaws or Trade Controllaws by U.K., U.S. or otherauthorities could also have anadverseimpacton our
reputation, our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Ifwe are foundinviolation of federal or state “fraud and abuse” or other health carelaws, we may be requiredto
pay a penalty and/or be suspended from participation in federal or state health care programs, which may adversel y
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If we obtain marketingapproval for our products in the U.S., if at all, we will be subject to various federaland
state health care “fraud and abuse” and otherhealth care laws. Healthcare providers, physicians and third-party payors
play a primary role in the recommendation and use of pharmaceutical products that are granted marketing approval.
Accordingly, arrangements with third-party payors, existing or potential customers and referral sources are subjectto
broadly applicable fraudandabuse and other healthcare laws and regulations, and these laws and regulations may
constrain the business or financial arrangements and relationships through which manufacturers market, selland

distribute the products forwhich they obtain marketing approval.

Such restrictions under applicable federal and state healthcare laws and regulations include the following the
Anti-Kickback Statute, the Healthcare Reform Act, the False Claims Act, or FCA, federal criminal laws that prohibit
executinga scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program or making false statements relating to healthcare matters;
the Physician Payment Sunshine Act, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA)

Violation of any of the laws described above orany other governmental laws and regulations may result in
penalties, including civiland criminal penalties, damages, fines, the curtailment or restructuring of operations, the
exclusion from participation in federal and state healthcare programs and imprisonment. Furthermore, efforts to ensure
that businessactivities and business arrangements comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations canbe costly
formanufacturers of branded prescription products. Additionally, if we are found in violationof one or more of these
laws our business, results of operations and financial condition may be adversely affected.
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The U.K.’s withdrawal from the EU may adverselyimpact our and our collaborators’ abilityto obtain regulatory
approvalsof our drug candidates inthe U.K.and EU and may require us to incur additional expenses to develop,
manufacture and commercialize our drug candidates inthe U.K.and EU.

We are headquartered in the U.K. The U.K. formally exited the EU, commonly referred to as Brexit, on January 31,
2020. Underthe terms of its departure, the U.K. entered a transition period, or the Transition Period, during which it
continuedto followallEU rules, which ended on December 31, 2020. On December 30, 2020, the U.K. and EU signed
the EU-UK Trade and Cooperation Agreement (“TCA”), which includes an agreement on free trade between the two
partiesand has been provisionally applicable since January 1,2021.

Since January 1,2021 the U.K. has operated under a separate regulatory regime to the European Union. European
Union laws regarding medicinal products only apply in respect ofthe U.K. to Northern Ireland (as set outin the Protocol
on Ireland/Northern Ireland). The EU laws that have beentransposed into U.K. lawthrough secondary legislation remain
applicable. While the U.K. hasindicated a general intention that new law regarding the development, manufacture and
commercialization of medicinal products in the U.K. will align closely with EU lawthere are limited detailed proposals
forfuture regulation of medicinal products. The TCA includes specific provisions concerning medicinal products, which
include the mutual recognition of Good Manufacturing Practice, or GMP, inspections of manufacturing facilities for
medicinal products and GMP documents issued (such mutual recognition canbe rejected by either party in certain
circumstances), butdoes notforesee wholesale mutual recognition of U.K.and EU pharmaceutical regulationsincluding
in relation to batchtestingand pharmacovigilance, which remain subjectto further negotiation. Therefore, there remains
politicaland economic uncertainty regarding to what extentthe regulation of medicinal products will differ between the
U.K. and the EU in the future.

Since a significantproportion of the regulatory framework in the U.K. applicable to our business and our drug
candidates is derived from European Union directives and regulations, the withdrawal has and could continueto
materially impact theregulatory regime with respect to the development, manufacture, importation, approvaland
commercialization of our cell therapies in the U.K. orthe European Union. Great Britain isno longer covered by the
European Union’s procedures for the grant of marketing authorizations (Northern Ireland is covered by the centralized
authorization procedure and can be covered under thedecentralized or mutual recognition procedures). A separate
marketing authorization will be required to market drugs in Great Britain. It is currently unclear whether the Medicines
and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency in the U.K.is sufficiently preparedto handle the increased volume of
marketing authorizationapplications thatit is likely to receive. Any delay in obtaining, or an inability to obtain, any
marketingapprovals, as a result of Brexit or otherwise, would prevent usandour collaborators or delay usin
commercializingany of our products in the UK and/or the EU and may restrict our ability to generate revenue and
achievesustainable profitability.

Following Brexit, there is no pre-marketing authorization orphan designation in Great Britain, insteadan
application for orphandesignation is made at the same timeas an application for marketing authorization. Orphan
designation in the U.K. (or Great Britain, depending on whether there is a prior centralized marketing authorization in
the EEA) following Brexit based onthe prevalence of the condition in Great Britain as opposed to the current position
where prevalence in the EU is the determinant. It is therefore possible that conditions thatare currently designatedas
orphan conditions in the U.K., or Great Britain, will no longer be and thatconditions are notcurrently designatedas
orphan conditions in the European Union will be designated assuchin the U.K., or Great Britain.

There is a degree of uncertainty regarding the overall impactthat Brexit will have in the long-term on the
development, manufacturingand commercialization of pharmaceutical products, including the process to obtain
regulatoryapprovalin the U.K. fordrugcandidates and theaward of exclusivities that are normally part of the European
Union legal framework (for instance Supplementary Protection Certificates, Pediatric Extensions or Orphan exclusivity).
Any divergence betweenthe regulatory environments in place in the European Unionand the U.K. could leadto
increased costs and delays in bringing drug candidates to market.

Given certain regulatory authorizations within the EU canonly be held by entities located in the EU, we have set up
an EUsubsidiary, Adaptimmune B.V.. This subsidiary currently holds orphan designation for our ADP-A2M4 product.
We have alsoset up a third party to act asa qualified personto release product foruse in the EU and ensurewe can
continue to treatpatients in our EU clinicaltrials. Additional resources and requirements may be required to enable usto
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continue to hold required authorizations including marketing authorization in the EU and to commercialize our cell
therapiesin the EU.

In addition, we may be required to pay taxes or duties or be subjected to other hurdles in connectionwith the
importation of our drug candidates into the European Union, or we may incur expenses in establishinga manufacturing
facility in the EU to circumvent such hurdles, all of which may make our doing business in the EUand the EEA more
difficult. If any of these outcomes occur, we may be forced to restrict or delay efforts to seek regulatory approval in the
U.K. or the EU forour drug candidates, or incur significant additional expenses to operate our business, which could
significantly and materially harm or delay our ability to generate revenues or achieve profitability of ourbusiness.

As a result of Brexit, other European countries may seek to conduct referenda with respect to their continuing
membership with the European Union. Given these possibilities and others we may not anticipate, as wellasthe absence
of comparable precedent, it is unclear what financial, regulatory and legal implications the withdrawal of the U.K. from
the European Union willhave in the long-term and how such withdrawal will affectus, and the full extentto which our
business could be adversely affected.

Risks Related to Our Reliance Upon Third Parties

We rely on Universal Cells Inc. and Genentech Inc. inrelation to the performance of collaboration agreements
between us for the further development of ‘off-the-shelf’ cell therapies.

Developmentof allogeneic T-celltherapies and our ability to commercialize those allogeneic T-cell therapies
may depend heavily on the performance of Universal Cells under the ongoing collaboration (the "Universal Cells
Collaboration"), performance of Genentech under the ongoing collaboration (the “Genentech Collaboration™) and
payments madeby our collaborators to us in relationto such development. Inparticular:

e Researchfunding, development or sales milestones or productroyalties orany other sums might not
become due orpayable to usatanytimeoron the time frames currently expected under the Universal
Cells Collaboration or Genentech Collaboration.

e Our collaborators have aright to terminate programs under the Universal Cells Collaboration
Genentech Collaborationand the agreements in whole or in part on provision of prior written notice.
Terminationmay impact not only our requirementfor additional investmentor capital butalso the
timeframes within which current researchand developmentprograms (including clinical programs)
can be performed or whether we can continue to perform those research and development programs at
all. Termination mayalso impact our ability to access and use certain collaborator technology within
ourown allogeneic platform and products arising from that platform.

e Anyresearchordevelopment planagreed upon in our collaborations may be delayed (includingasa
result of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic) or may be unsuccessful or fail to result in therapies

thatare feasible for further development or commercialization.

e Thetimingforcommercialization of any products under the Universal Cells Collaborationor
Genentech Collaborationis currently unknown andwill depend onthe targets selected , the type of
allogeneic T-celltherapy being developed and the timing of performance of obligations under the
relevantcollaborationagreement.

e Changesto thedevelopmentplans oragreementmayimpactthe timingandextentof milestone
payments, the amountof research funding received, the nature of the relationship with our
collaborators orthe scope ofthe collaboration.

e Delay in performance of responsibilities under any research or developmentplan could impact our

ability to progress T-celltherapies through research and development, includingwhere Universal Cells
or Genentech Inc. delays the performance of any of its responsibilities.
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e Universal Cells hasthe ability to influence or control certain decisions relating to the development of
therapies covered by the Universal Cells Collaboration. Genentech has theability to influence or
control certain decisions relating to the development of therapies covered by the Genentech
Collaboration. This ability could result in delaysto theresearchand development programs covered by
the collaboration or changes to the scope of those programs, including thedisease indications relevant
to such clinical programs.

We rely heavilyon ThermoFisher and the technology that we license from them.

The ability to use the ThermoFisher Dynabeads® CD3/CD28 technology toisolate, activateand expand T-cells
is importantto ourongoingability to offer SPEAR T-cells. In December 2012, we entered into a series of license and
sub-license agreements with Life Technologies Corporation (now part of ThermoFisher Scientific Inc.
(“Thermofisher”)), such agreements havingbeen amendedas of November 2019. Theseagreements provide us with a
field-based non-exclusive license under certain intellectual property rights owned or controlled by ThermoFisher in
relation to the methods of use of the ThermoFisher Dynabeads® CD3/CD28 technology to isolate, activate and expand
T-cells and enable transfection ofthe T-cells with any TCR genes to manufacture our TCR products and use and sell
those TCR productsto treatcancer, infectious disease and/or autoimmunedisease. We also havea field-based non-
exclusive sub-license under certain other patents which cover the method of use of the Dynabeads® CD3/CD28 andare
controlled by ThermoFisher undera head-license from the University of Michigan, the United States Navy and the
Dana-Farber Cancer Institute.

InJune 2016, we entered into a supply agreementwith ThermoFisher for the supply of the Dynabeads®
CD3/CD28technology. Thesupply agreement runs until December 31, 2025.

ThermoFisher has the right to terminate theabovedescribed agreements for material breach or insolvency. On
termination ofthe license agreements, the supply agreement will also automatically terminate. If ThermoFisher
terminates the non-exclusive license, sub-license and supply agreements or otherwise refuses or is unable to supply the
Dynabeads® product, we will have toseek an alternative source of thebeads or developanalternative process
methodology to enable supply of our celltherapies. Should ThermoFisher change its process or make changes to its
product, we may have tovalidate those changes to ensure there is no impact to our cell therapies. Suchvalidation,

includingany comparability testing, will take additional time and resources.

We rely onthird parties to manufactureand supplyour cell therapies and to develop next generation cell therapies,
and we may have to rely onthird parties to produce and process our cell therapies, ifapproved.

We rely on a limited number of third-party manufacturers andthird party service providers for clinical trial
productsupplies and services ateach stage of the manufacturing process, and as a result we are exposedto thefollowing
risks (includingwhere such third party risks arise asaresult of the impactof COVID-19):

¢ Wemay be unable to contract with manufacturers on commercially acceptable termsorat all because the
number of potential manufacturers is limited andthe FDA, EMAand other comparable foreign regulators
must approve any replacement manufacturer, which would require new testingand compliance inspections.
In addition, a new manufacturer would haveto be educated in, and develop substantially equivalent
processes for, production of our cell therapies after receipt of any applicable regulatory approval.

e Wemay notbeable to obtain lentiviral delivery manufacturing slots with third party contract
manufacturers within the timescales we require for supply of lentiviral delivery vector orto obtain agreed
dates for such manufacturingslots sufficiently in advance of the requirement for supply.

e Our third-party manufacturers might be unable to timely formulate and manufacture our cell therapies or
producethe quantity and quality required to meet our clinical trialand commercial needs or to provide
commercially viable product onthe timelines we require orat all, which may necessitate a change in third-
party manufacturers ora requirementto further develop internal capabilities, all of which may resultin
delaysto clinicaltrials orto commercialization plans.
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With any new manufacturing process or new CMO we will need to transfer the manufacturing process or
new processto that CMO. Any delay in the development and transfer of these new processes tothe third-
party contractsupplier orinability of the third-party contract supplier to replicateor carry out the
transferred process at theappropriate leveland quality or in a reproducible fashionwill result in delays in
ourability to progress clinical programs, further develop our celltherapies and obtain marketing approval
forourcell therapies.

Introduction of new raw material or intermediate material manufacturers, suchas CMOs for vectors, may
require comparability testingto be carried outto showthatthe manufacturing process and end material is
comparable to the currently used manufacturing process and/or material. Any inability to show
comparability ordelayin comparability testing may result in delaystothe supply of theaffected materials
andasaresultdelaysto clinicaltrials.

Contractmanufacturers may not beable to execute our manufacturing procedures appropriately, orwe may
be unable to transfer our manufacturing processes to contract manufacturers successfully or without
additionaltimeand cost. Even where CMOs fail to manufacture our cell therapies successfully, it may not
be possible to achieve re-manufacture quickly or withoutexpending resources or additional costs.

Our future contract manufacturers may notperformasagreed, may be acquired by competitors or may not
remain in the contract manufacturing business for the timerequired to supply our clinicaltrials or to
successfully produce, store and distribute our cell therapies. In addition, contract manufacturers may not
manufacture within agreed timescales for manufacture and/or may cancel pre-agreed manufacturingslots,
which would result in delays in manufacturingand could require us to find replacement manufacturers
which may notbe available to us on favorable termsoratall.

Manufacturers aresubject to ongoing periodic unannounced inspectionby the FDA, EMA, and other
comparable foreign regulators and corresponding state agencies to ensure strict compliance with cGMP and
othergovernment regulations and corresponding foreign standards. Althoughwe do not have day-to-day
control over third-party manufacturers’ compliance with these regulations and standards, we are
responsible forensuring compliance with such regulations and standards.

We may notown, or may have to share, the intellectual property rights to any improvements made by our
third-party manufacturers in the manufacturing process for our cell therapies. Our third party manufacturers
may useprocesses which infringe or potentially infringe third party intellectual property rights which may
result in inability to use such processes going forward, an increase in the pricing of such processesora
need to change a different process.

Our third party manufacturers may fail to perform testing and analysis services accurately, in a manner that
can be interpreted oron atimely basis. This could delay or preventrelease of our celltherapiesandasa

result delay clinicaltrialsand patienttreatment.
Our third-party manufacturers could breach or terminate their agreementwith us.

Our third-party manufacturers may cease to be able to do business with us (whether for insolvency or other
reasons, including takeover, merger oracquisition) at atime whenwe are unable to source such
manufacture elsewhere oratour own manufacturing facility.

Increased costs, unexpected delays, equipment failures, lack of reproducibility, labor shortages, natural
disasters, power failures and numerous other factors which are outside of our control or which may be
imposed by our CMOs. For example, moving to commercial phase manufacture usually incurs increased
cost andqualification requirements atour CMOs. Such costs may be prohibitive, or such activities may not
be able to be performed within appropriate timelines.
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e Our collaborators orthird party contractmanufacturers may allocate their resources, materials, and services
away from our celltherapy programs, for example, to utilize suchassets onthe research, developmentand

manufacture of COVID-19vaccines or therapies.

Certain ofthe components required for manufacturing of our cell therapies comefrom sole source or limited source
suppliers.

Certain raw materials or precursor materials used in the manufactureand supply of our celltherapies may come
from sole sourceor limited source suppliers. Forexample, there are currently a limited number of third party
manufacturers within the U.S. thatcan supply us with our lentiviral delivery vectorand ThermoFisher is currently the
only supplier of the Dynabeads® CD3/CD28 technology. Should such suppliers be unable to supply or manufacture such
raw materials or precursor materials eitheratall or within required timescales we may be unable to supply our cell
therapies or such supply may be significantly delayed. Inability to obtain such raw materials or precursor materials may
also necessitate changes in the manufacturing process used for supply of our celltherapies. Suchchangesto the
manufacturing process may needto be developed internally or by a third party and may also require additional
regulatoryapprovalsto be obtained before they canbe used for the manufacture and supply of our cell therapies for
clinicaltrials.

In addition, we are focusing manufacture of our cell therapies ata single manufacturingsite, namely our Navy
Yard facility forautologous celltherapies and our new UK facility forallogeneic celltherapies. Should either facility be
unable to manufacture our cell therapies forany reason, including natural disaster, contamination or forany regulatory
reason, we may be unable to supply cell therapies for our clinical trials unless we can procure manufacture fromathird
party manufacturer. There is no assurance that we will be able to procure manufacture froma third party manufacturer or
that such manufacturewill be provided within the timescales we require orat anacceptable price. Any change in
manufacturer used to produce our cell therapies requires notification to regulatory authorities which can be time
consuming. Thereis no assurancethat regulatory authorities will agree that any change in manufacturer is acceptable or
that the processes usedatsuch manufacturer are comparable to the processes previously used and additional evidence of
comparability may be required.

We rely onthird parties to conduct our clinical trials.

We depend upon independent investigators and collaborators, such as universities, medical institutions, CROs
and strategic partners to conduct our preclinical programs and sponsored clinical trials under agreements with us. We
expect to haveto negotiate budgets and contracts with CROs and trial sites (either directly orthrough a third party
consultant), which may result in delays to our developmenttimelines andincreased costs. We rely heavily onthesethird
parties overthe course of our clinicaltrials, and we do not have day-to-day control of their activities. Nevertheless, we
are responsible forensuringthateachof ourtrials is conducted in accordance with applicable protocols and legal,
regulatoryand scientific standards, and our reliance onthird parties does not relieve us of our regulatory responsibilities.

We and thesethird parties are required to comply with cGCPs, which are regulations and guidelines enforced
by the FDAand comparable foreign regulatory authorities for cell therapies in clinical development. Regulatory
authorities enforce these cGCPs through periodic inspections of trial sponsors, principal investigators and trial sites. I f
we orany of these third parties fail to comply with applicable cGCP regulations and guidelines (includingasa result of
the outbreak of COVID-19), the clinical data generated in our clinicaltrials may be deemed unreliable and the FDA or
comparable foreign regulatory authorities may require us to perform additional clinical trials before approving our
marketing authorizationapplications. Moreover, our business may be implicated if any of these third parties violates
federal orstatefraudandabuse or false claims laws and regulations or healthcare privacy and security laws.

Any third parties conducting our clinicaltrials are not and will not be ouremployees and, except for rem edies
available to us under ouragreements with suchthird parties which could be limited, we cannot control whether or not
they devote sufficienttime and resources to our ongoingclinical trials and preclinical programs. Thesethird parties may
also have relationships with other commercial entities, including our competitors, for whom they may also be conducting
clinicaltrials or other drugorbiologic development activities, which could affecttheir performance onour behalf. If
these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or obligations or meet expected deadlines
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(includingasa result of the outbreak of COVID-19), if they need to bereplacedor if the quality oraccuracy ofthe
clinical datathey obtain is compromised due to the failure to adhere to our clinical protocols or regulatory requirements
or forotherreasons, our clinical trials may be extended, delayed or terminated and we may notbe able to complete
development of, obtain regulatory approval of, or successfully commercialize our cell therapies. As a result, our
financial results and the commercial prospects for our cell therapies would be harmed, our costs could increaseand our
ability to generaterevenue could be delayed.

Switchingoraddingthird parties to conductour clinical trials involves substantial costand requires extensive
management timeand focus. Inaddition, there is a natural transition period whena new third party commences work. As
a result, delays may occur, which can materially impactour ability to meet our timelines for bringingour cell therapies
to market, if atall.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

We may be forced to litigateto enforceor defend our intellectual property rights, and/or the intellectual property
rightsof our licensors.

We may be forcedto litigate to enforce or defend our intellectual property rights against infringement and
unauthorized use by competitors, andto protect our trade secrets. In so doing, we may placeour intellectual property at
risk of being invalidated, held unenforceable, narrowed in scope or otherwise limited. Further,anadverse result in any
litigation or defense proceedings may increasethe risk of non-issuance of pendingapplications. In addition, if any
licensor failsto enforce or defend its intellectual property rights, this may adversely affect our ability to developand
commercialize our SPEAR T-cellsand to prevent competitors from making, using, and selling competing products. Any
such litigation could be very costlyand could distractour management from focusing on operating our business. The
existence and/or outcome of any such litigation could hamm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Furthermore, because of the substantialamount of discovery required in connectionwith intellectual property
litigation, there isa risk thatsome of our confidentialand proprietary information could be compromised by disclosure
duringthistype of litigation. In addition, there could be public announcements of theresults of hearings, motions or
other interim proceedings or developments. I f securities analysts orinvestors perceive these results to be negative, it

could have a substantial adverse effect onthe price of our ADSs.

We may alsobe forced to defend our intellectual property rights in opposition proceedings in frontof patent
officesin orderto obtain or continueto hold granted patent rights. Our inability to successfully defend our patents and
patent applications in opposition proceedings may result in a reduction in the scope of protection offered by such patents
or patentapplications or alternatively the patents or patent applications may be revoked. Anonymous third party
oppositions havebeen lodged against certain our European patents. None of these oppositions relate to any cases which
claim anyof ourclinical candidates.

We may not be able to protectour proprietary technology inthe marketplace or the cost of doingso may be
prohibitive or excessive.

Our success will depend, in part, on our ability to obtain patents, protect our trade secrets and operate without
infringing on the proprietary rights of others. We rely upon a combination of patents, trade secret protection (i.e., know-
how), and confidentiality agreements to protect theintellectual property of our cell therapies. However, patent protection
may not be available for some of the cell therapies or technology we are developing. If we mustspendsignificanttime
and money protectingorenforcingour patents, designingaround patents held by others or licensing, potentially for large
fees, patents orother proprietary rights held by others, our business results of operations and financial condition may be
harmed.

Proceedings to enforce our patentrights in foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial cost and divert our
efforts andattention from other aspects of our business. Enforcement of patents may also be cost prohibitive and we may
be unable to prevent competitors from entering the market with products that aresimilarto orthe same as ourcell
therapies.
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Inaddition, patents have a limited lifespan. In most countries, including the U.S., the standard expirationof a
patent is 20 years from the effective filing date. Various extensions of patent term may be available in particular
countries; however, in all circumstances the life of a patent, and the protection it affords, hasa limited term. If patent
term extensionis not available, our competitors may beable to takeadvantage of our investmentin development and
clinicaltrials by referencingour clinicaland non-clinical data, and thenmay be able to launch their productearlier than
might otherwise be the case.

We may be unable to adequately prevent disclosure of trade secrets and other proprietary information.

We rely on trade secrets to protect our proprietary know-how and technological advances, especially where we
do not believe patent protection is appropriate or obtainable. However, trade secrets aredifficult to protect. We rely, in
part, on confidentiality agreements with our employees, consultants, outside scientific collaborators, sponsored
researchers and otheradvisors to protect our trade secrets and other proprietary information. These agreements may not
effectively preventdisclosure of confidential informationand may notprovide an adequate remedy in the eventof
unauthorized disclosure of confidential information. Proceedings to enforcetrade secrets canbe costprohibitiveand we
may be unable to preventour competitors usingour trade secrets.

If third parties claim that our activities or products infringe upon their intellectual property, our operations could be
adversely affected.

There is a substantialamount of litigation, bothwithin and outside the U.S., involving patentsand other
intellectual property rights in the pharmaceutical industry. If we or our third party suppliers were found toinfringe upon
a patentorotherintellectual property right, or if we failed to obtain orrenewa license under a patent or other intellectual
propertyright from athird party, orif a third party thatwe were licensing technologies from was found to infringe upon
a patentorotherintellectual property rights of another third party, we may berequired to pay damages, includ ingtriple
damages if the infringement is found to be willful, suspend the manufacture of certain of our celltherapies or reengineer
or rebrand our cell therapies, if feasible, or we may be unable to enter certain new product markets. Any suchclaims

could also be expensiveandtime- consuming to defend and divert management’s attention and resources.
Licenses may be required fromthird parties in relation to any of celltherapies developed or commercialized by us.

We may identify third-party intellectual property rights thatare requiredto enable thefurther development,
commercialization, manufacture or development of our SPEAR T-cells or other cell therapies, including our allogeneic
cell therapies. Licenses to such intellectual property rights may or may not be available on commercial termsthat are
acceptable to us. Asa result we may incur additional license fees for such intellectual property rights, or the costand
expensesto identifyanalternative route for commercialization, that does not require the relevant third-party intellectual
propertyrights, orthe cost and diversion of resources required to challenge any suchthird party intellectual property
rights.

Where we license certain technologyfrom a third party, the prosecution, maintenance and defense ofthe patent
rights licensed from such third party may be controlled by the third partywhich mayimpactthe scope of patent
protectionwhichwillbe obtained or enforced.

Where we license patent rights or technology from a third -party, control of suchthird party patent rights may
vest in the licensor, particularly where the license is non-exclusive or field restricted. This may meanthat we are notable
to control oraffectthe scopeof theclaims of any relevantthird -party patentor have control overany enforcementof
such a patent. Where a licensor brings an enforcementaction, this could negatively impactour business or result in
additional restrictions being imposed on thelicense we haveand the scope of such license or result in invalidationor
limitation ofthe scopeof thelicensed patent. In addition, should we wish to enforce the relevant patent rights against a
third person, we may be reliant onconsent from therelevant licensor or the cooperation of thelicensor. The licensor may
refuse to bringsuch action and leave us unable to restrict competitor entry into the market.
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Issued patents protecting our SPEAR T-cells or other cell therapies could be found invalidor unenforceable if
challengedincourtoratthe USPTO.

If we or one of our collaborators initiate legal proceedings against a third party to enforce a patent protecting
one of our SPEAR T-cells or cell therapies, the defendant could counterclaim thatthe patent protectingour cell therapy,
asapplicable, is invalid and/or unenforceable. In patent litigationin the U.S., defendant counterclaims alleging invalidity
and/or unenforceability are commonplace, and there are numerous grounds uponwhich a third party can assertinvalidity
or unenforceability of a patent. Third parties may also raise similar claims before administrative bodies in the United
Statesorabroad, even outside the context of litigation. Suchmechanisms include re -examination, post grant review, and
equivalentproceedings in foreign jurisdictions (e.g., opposition proceedings). Such proceedings could result in
revocationoramendment to our patents in such a way thatthey no longer cover our cell therapies.

General Business Risks
We depend upon our key personnel and our ability toattract and retain employees.

We are heavily dependenton the ongoingemployment and involvement of certain key employees in particular,
Adrian Rawcliffe, our Chief Executive Officer; Dr. Helen Tayton-Martin, our Chief Business Officer; William Bertrand,
our Chief Operating Officer; John Lunger, our Chief Patient Supply Officer, Dr. Elliot Norry, our Chief Medical Officer,
and Gavin Wood, our Chief Financial Officer. We do nothold key-man insurance for our senior managers.

Our business is dependent on our ability to recruit experienced and suitably trained employees or consultants,
and to retain such employees on a long-term basis. Despite our efforts to retain valuable employees, members of our
management, scientific and development teams may terminate theiremployment with us on short notice whichcould
result in us being unable to conduct our business in accordance with currenttimelines and priorities. Although we have
employment agreements with all of ouremployees in the U.K., these employment agreements provide fora mutual
nine months’ noticeperiod in the caseof Dr. Tayton-Martin and Mr. Wood; mutual three months’ or two months’ notice
periods in the case of senior managers and mutual one-month notice periods forall otheremployees. In the U.S., the
employment agreements provide for at-willemployment except that, under their employment agreements,

Mr. Rawcliffe, Mr. Bertrand, Mr. Lungerand Dr. Norry and Cintia Piccina, our Chief Commercial Officerwho joined
the company on January 31,2022, mustprovide 60 days’ written notice and our senior vice-presidents must provide 30
days’ written notice. This means that any of our employees in the U.S., exceptfor Mr. Rawcliffe, Mr. Bertrand, Mr.
Lunger, Dr. Norry, Ms. Piccina and our senior vice-presidents, could leave ouremploymentat any time, with or without
notice.

We will need to grow the size and capabilities of our organization, and we mayexperience difficulties in managing
thisgrowth.

As of December 31, 2021, we had 494 employees. As our development and commercialization plans and
strategies develop, we mustadda significant number of additional managerial, operational, sales, marketing, financial,
and other personnel. Future growth will impose significant added responsibilities on members of management,
including:

e identifying, recruiting, integrating, maintaining, and motivating additional employees;
e managingourinternal developmentefforts effectively, including theclinicaland FDA review process for

our SPEAR T-cells, while complying with our contractual obligations to contractors and other third parties;
and

e improvingouroperational, financial and managementcontrols, reporting systems, and procedures.
Our management may alsohaveto diverta disproportionate amount of its attention away from day-to-day

activities in orderto devote a substantialamount oftime to managing growthactivities and the resourcing of
replacementemployees in the eventemployees leave. The ability to hire additional individuals and to integrate those
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individuals into the business may be more difficult whilst the COVID-19 pandemic isongoing given the need for certain
employeestowork from home, the difficulty in providing adequate training andtheinability to conduct interviews in
person.

We expect toface intense competition, which may be from companies with greater resources and experience than we
have.

The phamaceutical industry, and the immuno-oncology industry specifically, is highly competitive and subject
to rapid developments in treatment options. Competitors include large global pharmaceutical companies, biotechnology
companies, specialty immune-therapy companies and universities and research organizations, whetheralone orin
collaboration with other entities. Many of our competitors have substantially greater financial, technicaland other
resources, suchas larger researchand development staff and may alsobe able to progress clinical candidates through
clinicalstudies quicker thanwe are able to. Mergers and acquisitions within the pharmaceutical and b iotechnology
industry can also result in resources being concentrated within our competitors. Our competitors may also have better
developed commercialization capabilities and already established sa les forces and manufacturing capability.

Within in any particular cancer indication we may face competition from other cell therapy companies, from
personalized medicineapproaches, from other modalities of treatment, a lternative drug products or therapies or from

pre-existing treatmentregimens usedto treat patients with that cancer indication.
Failure of our information technology systems could significantly disrupt the operation of our business.

Our ability to execute our business plan and to comply with regulators’ requirements with respectto data
controland data integrity, depends, in part, on the continued and uninterrupted performance of our information
technology systems and similar systems used by third -party providers that we rely on. These systems are vulnerable to
damage froma variety of sources, including telecommunications or network failures, malicious human acts and natural
disasters. There isan increase in vulnerability to damage as a result of the working from home policy adoptedat our U.S.
and U.K. facilities for certain of ouremployeesduring the course of the COVID-19 outbreak and the increasein
malicious human acts occurringat the same time. Moreover, despite network security and back-up measures, some of
ourservers are potentially vulnerable to physical or electronic break-ins, computer viruses and similar disruptive
problems. Despite the precautionary measures we havetaken to prevent unanticipated problems that could affectour
information systems, sustained or repeated system failures or problems arising duringthe upgrade ofany of our
information systems that interrupt our ability to generate and maintain data, andin particular to operate our proprietary
technology platform, could adversely affectourability to operate our business. In addition, where disruption to such
systemsoccurs at third-party providers, we may have limited ability to find alternative providers in any required
timeframes oratall,andsuchdisruption could significantly affect our ability to proceed with clinical oranalytical or
development programs.

We are exposed to risks related to currency exchange rates.

We conducta significant portion of our operations within the U.K.in both U.S. dollarsand pounds sterlingand
ourarrangements with GSK are denominated in pounds sterling. Changes in currency exchange rates havehadand could
have asignificanteffect onour operating results. Exchange rate fluctuations between the U.S. dollarand local currencies
create risk in severalways, including the following: weakening of the pound sterling may increase the cost of overseas
research and development expenses and other costs outside the U.K.; strengthening of the U.S. dollar may decrease the
value of any future revenues denominated in other currencies. Effects of exchange rates on transactions and cash
deposits held in a currency other than the functional currency of a subsidiary can distort our financial results; and
commercial pricingand profit margins are affected by currency fluctuations.
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Risks Related to Ownership of our American Depositary Shares (ADSs)

The market priceand trading volume of our ADSs may be volatile.
Many factors may have a material adverse effecton themarket price of the ADSs, includingbut not limited to:
e the commencement, enrollment or results of our plannedclinicaltrials;
e thelossof any of ourkeyscientific or management personnel;

e announcements of the failure to obtain regulatory approvals or receipt of a complete response letter from
the FDA,;

e announcements of undesirable restricted labeling indications or patient populations, or changes or delays in
regulatory review processes;

e announcements of therapeutic innovations or new products by us or our competitors;

e adverseactionstaken by regulatory agencies with respectto our clinical trials, manufacturing supply chain
or salesand marketingactivities;

e changesordevelopmentsin laws or regulations applicable to SPEAR T-cells;

e any adversechangesto our relationship with licensors, manufacturers or suppliers;

e thefailure of ourtestingandclinicaltrials;

e unanticipated safety concerns;

e thefailure to retain ourexisting, or obtain new, collaboration partners;

e announcements concerningour competitors or the pharmaceutical industry in general;

e theachievement of expected product sales and profitability;

e thefailure to obtainreimbursements for SPEAR T-cells, if approved for marketing, or price reductions;
e manufacture, supply or distributionshortages;

e acquisitions or mergers andbusiness deals announced by our competitors;

e the progress of competing treatment options and products oradvent of new products which could impact
the uptake orcommercial value of our cell therapies;

o actualoranticipated fluctuations in our operating results;
e ourcash position;
e changesin financial estimates or recommendations by securities analysts;

e potentialacquisitions;
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e thetradingvolume of ADSs on the Nasdaq Global Select Market (“ Nasdaq”);
o salesof our ADSs by us, ourexecutive officersanddirectors or our shareholders in the future;

e generaleconomic and market conditions and overall fluctuations in the U.S. equity markets includingas
resulting from the COVID-19 outbreak and economic effects of such outbreak; and

e changesinaccounting principles.

In addition, the stock marketin general, and Nasdagand biopharmaceutical companies in particular, have
experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often beenunrelated or disproportionateto the operating
performance of these companies. Broad market and industry factors may negatively affect the market price of our ADSs,
regardless of ouractual operating performance. Further, a decline in the financial markets and related factors beyondour
controlmay cause theprice of our ADSs to decline rapidly and unexpectedly. In the past, securities class action litigation
has often beeninstituted against companies following periods of volatility in their stock price. This type of litigation
could result in substantial costs and could divert our managementand other resources.

Substantial future sales of our ADSs inthe publicmarket, or the perception that these sales could occur, could cause
the price ofthe ADSs to decline and diluteshareholders.

Substantial future sales of our ADSs in the public market, or the perception that these sales could occur, could
cause themarketprice of the ADSs to decline. Sales ofa substantial number of our ADSs in the public market could
occuratanytime. In addition, we have registeredanaggregate of 151,248,915 ordinary shares that we may issue under
ourequity compensation plansand, asa result, they can be freely sold in the public marketupon issuance and following
conversioninto ADSs, but subjectto volume limitations applicable to affiliates under Rule 144. Additionally, the
majority of ordinary shares that may be issued under our equity compensation plans also remain subject to vestingin
tranches overa four-year period. Asof December 31,2021, an aggregate of 60,058,450 options over our ordinary shares
had vestedandbecomeexercisable. Ifa large number of our ADSsare sold in the public market after they become
eligible forsale, the sales could reduce the trading price of our ADSsand impede our ability to raise capital in the future.

We incur increased costs as a result of beinga public companywhose ADSs are publicly tradedinthe U.S.and our
management must devote substantial timeto publiccompany compliance and other compliance requirements.

As a U.S. public company whose ADSs trade on Nasdaq, we haveincurred and will continue to incur
significant legal, accounting, insurance and other expenses. We are subjectto the reporting requirements of the
Exchange Act, which requires,among other things, that we file with the SEC annual, quarterly and currentreports with
respect to our business and financial conditionand must comply with the Nasdaq listing requirements and other
applicable securities rules and regulations. In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, as wellas rules subsequently adopted by
the SEC and the Nasdaq toimplement provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, impose significant requirements on public
companies, including requiring establishment and maintenance of effective disclosureand financial controlsand changes
in corporate governance practices.

We expect the rules and regulations applicable to public companies to substantially increase our legaland
financial compliance costs and to make someactivities moretime-consumingand costly. Ourinsurance costs have
increased, particularly for directors and officers liability insurance, and we may be required to incur further substantial
increased costs to maintain the sameor similar coverage or be forced to acceptreduced coverage in future. To the extent
these requirements divertthe attention of our management and personnel from other business concerns, they could have
a material adverse effect on ourbusiness, financial condition and results of operations. The increased costs will increase
ournet lossand may require us to reduce costs in otherareas of our business or increase the requirement for future
financing. Theselaws and regulations could also make it more difficult and expensive for usto attractand retain
qualified persons to serveon our board of directors, our board committees or as our executive officers. Furthermore, if
we are unable to satisfy our obligations as a public company, we could be subjectto delisting of the ADSs from Nasdaq,
fines, sanctions and other regulatory actionand potentially civil litigation.
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Raising additional capital may cause dilution to our existing shareholders, restrict our operations or require us to
relinquish rightsto our technologies or product candidate.

We may seekadditional capital through a combination of public and private equity offerings, debt financings,
strategic partnerships and alliances and licensing arrangements. To the extent that we raise additional capital through the
sale of equity or convertible debt securities, your ownership interest will be diluted, and the terms may include
liquidationor other preferences thatadversely affect yourrightsas a shareholder. The incurrence of indebtedness would
result in increased fixed payment obligations and could involve certain restrictive covenants, suchas limitations on our
ability to incuradditional debt, limitations on our ability to acquire or license intellectual property rights and other
operatingrestrictions that could adversely impact our ability to conductour business. If we raise additional funds
through strategic partnerships and alliances and licensing arrangements with third parties, we may haveto relinquish
valuable rights to our technologies or product candidates, or grantlicenses on terms unfavorable to us.

We may be classified as a passive foreign investmentcompany in any taxable year and U.S. holders of our ADSs
could be subject to adverse U.S. federal income tax consequences.

The rules governing passive foreign investment companies, or PFICs, can have adverse effects for U.S. federal
income tax purposes. The tests for determining PFI C status fora taxable year depend upon therelative values of certain
categories ofassets and therelative amounts of certain kinds of income. The determination of whetherwe are a PFIC
depends on the particular facts and circumstances (suchas the valuation of ourassets, including goodwilland other
intangible assets) and mayalso be affected by the application ofthe PFICrules, which are subjectto differing
interpretations. In addition, it is not entirely clear howto apply theincometest to a company like us, which forany
particulartaxable year may havegross income that is either entirely passive orthatsignificantly exceeds any active gross
income, butthe overall losses of which from research and development activities exceed the overallamount of its gross
income forthatyear. Based on our estimated gross income, theaverage value of ourassets, including goodwilland the
natureof ouractive business, althoughnotfree from doubt, we do notbelieve thatthe Company was classifiedasa PFIC
forU.S. federalincome tax purposes for the U.S. taxable yearended December 31,2021. There canbe no assurance,
however, thatwe will not be considered to bea PFIC forthis taxable year orany particular year in the future because
PFIC status is factual in nature, depends upon factors notwholly within our control, generally cannot be determined until
the close of the taxable year in questionand is determined annually.

Ifwearea PFIC, U.S. holders of our ADSs would be subjectto adverse U.S. federal income tax consequences,
such asineligibility forany preferred tax rates on capital gains or on actual or deemeddividends, interest charges on
certain taxes treatedas deferred, and additional reporting requirements under U.S. federal income tax laws and
regulations. AU.S. holder of our ADSs may be able to mitigate some of the adverse U.S. federal income tax
consequences described above with respect to owningthe ADSs if we are classified asa PFIC, providedthat such U.S.
investor is eligible to make, and validly makes, a “mark-to-market” election. In certain circumstances a U.S. Holder can
makea “qualified electing fund” election to mitigate some of theadverse tax consequences described with respect to an
ownership interestin a PFIC by including in income its share of the PFIC’s income ona current basis. However, we do
not currently intend to prepare or provide theinformation thatwould enable a U.S. Holder to makea qualified electing

fund election.

Investors should consult their own tax advisors regarding our PFIC status for any taxable year and the potential
application ofthe PFICrulesto aninvestmentin our ADSs or ordinary shares.

If we fail to establish and maintain proper intemal controls, our ability to produce accurate financial statements or
comply with applicable regulations could be impaired. A material weakness related to our risk assessment process
over the design, implementation and operational effectiveness of controls over deferred incometaxes, specifically the
accounting for deferred income tax assetvaluation allowance, was identified as part of the audit of our financial
statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, the remediation of which will requiresignificantcostsand

resources.

We must maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in order to accurately and timely reportour
results of operationsand financial condition. The rules governing the standards that must be met for our management to
assessourinternal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act arecomplex and
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require significantdocumentation, testing and possible remediation. These stringentstandards require thatour audit
committee be advised and regularly updated on management’s review of internal control over financial reporting,

Our compliancewith applicable provisions of Section 404 requires that we incur substantial accounting
expensesand expend significant management attention and time on compliance-related issues as we implement
additional corporate governance practices and comply with reporting requirements. If we fail to staff ouraccountingand
finance function adequately, if key employees within ouraccountingand finance function leave, or if we fail to maintain
internal control over financial reporting adequate to meet the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, our business and
reputation may be harmed. Moreover, if we are not able to comply with the applicable requirements of Section 404 in a
timely manner, we may be subject tosanctions or investigations by regulatory authorities, including the SEC and
Nasdag. Furthermore, if we are unable to conclude that our internal control over financial reporting is effective or if our
independentregistered public accounting firm identifies deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting that
are deemedto be materialweaknesses, we could lose investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our
financial reports, the market price of our ADSs could decline, and we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by
the SEC, Nasdagor other regulatory authorities. Failure toimplement or maintain effective internal control systems
required of U.S. public companies could also restrict ouraccessto the capital markets. Theoccurrence of any of the
foregoingwould also require additional financial and management resources.

In connection with theaudit of our financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31,2021, we
identified a material weakness. Thiswas related to our risk assessment process over the design, implementationand
operational effectiveness of controls over deferred income taxes, specifically the accounting for deferred income tax
asset valuationallowance. This material weakness resulted in a material misstatement in deferred incometaxes that was
corrected priorto theissuance of the financial statements. A material weakness is a deficiency, ora combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there isa reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of ourannual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected ona timely basis. The
underlying causes of this material weakness have been identified and primarily relate to insufficient experience and
inadequatetraining for new individuals to identify and address the relevant risks and design ofandto implement and
operate controls overthe related process and risks.

We are takingsteps to remediate the material weakness, including (i) recruiting appropriate personnel with
appropriate qualification, including a Vice President Financial Controller with experience of income taxaccounting; (ii)
improvingthe design of our controls for deferred incometaxes, specifically in enhancingthe requirements to perform
the assessment of deferred incometax assets to enable new personnel to effectively execute the control and (iii)
enhancingthe training providedto the individuals operating the deferred income taxation controls. I f we fail to fully
remediatethis material weakness or additional weaknesses or deficiencies in our internal controls over financial
reportingare identified thismay undermine our ability to provide accurate, timely and reliable reports on our financial
and operating results.

U.S. investors may havedifficulty enforcingcivil liabilities against our company, our directors, officers and members
of senior management.

We are incorporated under the laws of England and Wales. The rights of holders of our ordinary shares and,
therefore, certainof therights of holders of ADSs, are governed by English law, including the provisions of the
Companies Act 2006, and by ourarticles of association. These rights differin certainrespects fromthe rights of
shareholders in typical U.S. corporations organized in, forexample, Delaware. Some of our directors, officersand
members of senior managementreside outsidethe U.S.,anda substantial portion of our assets and all or a substantial
portion of the assets of such persons are located outsidethe U.S. Asa result, it may be difficult foryouto serve legal
processon usorourdirectorsand executive officers orhaveany of themappearin a U.S. court. The U.S.and the U.K.
do not currently have a treaty providing for the recognition and enforcement of judgments, other thanarbitrationawards,
in civil and commercial matters. The enforceability in the U.K. of any judgmentof a U.S. federal or state court will
dependon theparticular facts of the case aswellasthe laws and any treaties in effect at thetime, including conflicts of
laws principles (such asthose bearing on the question of whethera U.K. court would recognize the basis on which a U.S.
court had purported to exercise jurisdiction over a defendant). In this context, there is doubtas to the enforceability in
the U.K., in originalactionsorin actions forenforcement of judgments of U.S. courts, of civil liabilities based solely on
the federal securities laws of the U.S.. In addition, awards for punitive damages in actions broughtin the U.S. or
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elsewhere may be unenforceable in the U.K. An award for monetary damages under the U.S. securities laws would
likely be considered punitive if it did not seek to compensatethe claimant for loss or damage suffered and was intended
to punish the defendant.

Provisionsinthe U.K. City Code on Takeoversand Mergers thatmay have anti-takeover effects do notapplyto us.

The U.K. City Code on Takeovers and Mergers, orthe Takeover Code, applies to an offer for,among other
things, a public company whose registered office is in the U.K. if the company is considered by the Panelon Takeovers
and Mergers, orthe Takeover Panel, to have its place of central management and control in the United Kingdom (orthe
ChannelIslands orthe Isle of Man). This is known as the “residency test.” Thetest for central management and control
underthe Takeover Code is differentfrom that used by the U.K. tax authorities. Under the Takeover Code, the Takeover
Panelwill determine whether we have our place of central managementand control in the United Kingdom by looking at
various factors, including the structure of our Board, the functions of the directors and where they are resident.

InJuly 2018, the Takeover Panel confirmed that, based on our currentcircumstances, we are not subjectto the
Takeover Code. Asa result, our shareholders are notentitled to the benefit of certain takeover offer protections provided
underthe Takeover Code. We believe thatthis positionis unlikely to change atany time in the near future but, in
accordancewith good practice, we will reviewthe situation ona regular basisand consult with the Takeover Panel if
there is any change in our circumstances whichmay have a bearing on whether the Takeover Panelwould determineour
place of central managementand control to be in the United Kingdom.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties

The following table summarizes the facilities we lease as of December 31,2021, includingthe location and size
of the facilities, andtheir primary use.

Location Approximate Square Feet Primary Usage Lease Expiration Dates
Abingdon, Oxfordshire, United 67,140 Corporate headquarters, Research, October2041
Kingdom Development, Process

development, Manufacturing,
Administration

Abingdon, Oxfordshire, United 46,017 Manufacturing, Process October2041
Kingdom Development, Research

Abingdon, Oxfordshire, United 11,657 Research, Development, Process August 2023
Kingdom development, Manufacturing

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, United 47,700 Manufacturing, Process October2031
States Development, Research

Stevenage, Hertfordshire, United 2,642 December2023
Kingdom Administration

As of December 31,2021, all of the above sites were utilized by the Company with theexception of one of our
facilities in Abingdon, Oxfordshire, of 46,017 square feet, which is not currently occupied after completion of external

works in November2018.

We believe that our existing facilities are adequate for our near-term needs, butwe expect to need additional
space aswe grow and expand our operations. We believe that suitable additional or alternative office, laboratory, and
manufacturing space will be available as required in the future on commercially reasonable terms.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings

As of December 31,2021, we were not a party to any material legal proceedings.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable
PART I

Item 5. Marketfor Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

General Market Information

Our ADSs havebeenlisted on The Nasdaq Global Select Market since May 6, 2015 and are traded under the
symbol“ADAP”. Each ADS represents six ordinary shares. As of March11, 2022, therewere approximately 27 holders
of record of ourordinary shares, par value £0.001 per share, and approximately eight holders of record of our ADSs. The
closingsale price per ADS on Nasdaqon March 11,2022 was $1.82.

Equity Compensation Plans

Forinformation about our equity compensation plans, see Part 111, Item 11, below
Sales of Unregistered Securities

We did not sellany unregistered securities during the year ended December 31, 2021.
Company Purchases of Equity Securities

We did not repurchase any of our equity securities duringtheyearended December 31,2021.

Stock Performance Graph

Notwithstanding any statement to the contraryin anyof our previous or future filings with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, the following information relating to the price performance of our ADSs shall not be deemed
“filed” withthe Securities and Exchange Commission or “soliciting material” under the Exchange Act andshallnotbe
incorporated by reference intoanysuchfilings.

The following graph compares the cumulative total shareholder return onour ADSs with thatof the Nasdag
Biotech Index and the Nasdag Composite Index for the period that our ADSs were publicly traded, which commenced
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on May 6,2015. We selected the Nasdag Biotech Index because our ADSs trade on The Nasdaq Global Select Market
and we believe this indicates our relative performanceagainst a group consisting of more similarly situated companies.

Performance of Adaptimmune ADS price (5) as a multiplier of IPO pricing, compared to the relative
performance of the NASDAQ Biotech index and Masdaq Composite over the same periad

Multiplier on IPD pricing
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Item 6. [Reserved]
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should readthefollowing discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results ofoperations in
conjunctionwith our consolidated financial statements and the related notes to those statements included elsewhere in
this AnnualReport. In additionto our historical consolidated financial information, the following discussion contains
forward-looking statements that reflect our plans, estimates, beliefs and expectations. Our actual results and the timing
of events could differ materially fromthose discussed in these forward-looking statements. Factors thatcould cause or
contribute tothese differences include those discussed below and elsewhere inthis Annual Report, particularly in Partl,

Item1A. “Risk Factors.”
Overview

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company focused on providing novel cell therapies to people with
cancer. We are a leader in the development of T-cell therapies for solid tumors and have seenresponses in six solid
tumorsin clinicaltrials.

Our proprietary platform enables us to identify cancer targets, find and develop celltherapy candidates active
against those targetsand produce therapeutic candidates for administration to patients. Our cell therapy candidates
include Specific Peptide Enhanced Affinity Receptor (“SPEAR T-cells”) which use genetically engineered T-cell
receptors; next generation T-cell Infiltrating Lymphocytes (“TiLs”) where a patient’s own T-cells are co-administered
with our next generation technology, and HLA-independent TCRs (“HiTs”) where surface proteins are targeted
independently of the peptide-HLA complex. Our cell therapies are currently manufactured on anautologous or per
patientbasisandwe have a proprietary allogeneic platf orm for the development of “offthe shelf” cell therapies.

Our MAGE-A4 celltherapy franchise includes multiple T-cell therapy products targeting indications in which
the MAGE-A4 antigen is expressed, with responses seenin eight indications (head and ne ck, esophagogastric junction
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(“EGJ”), NSCLC-squamous, synovial sarcoma, melanoma, bladder, ovarianand MRCLS indications) across the
franchise. ABiologics License Application (BLA) for the lead product (afami-cel) is targeted for filing with the FDA in
Q4 2022 for synovial sarcoma. We have multiple clinicaltrials ongoing or planned across the remainder of the M AGE -
Ad franchise:

e SPEARHEAD-1 Phase 2 Trialwith afami-cel (ADP-A2M4): A registration directed Phase 2 clinical trial
is ongoingin synovial sarcoma and myxoid round cell liposarcoma (“MRCLS”) indications in which the
MAGE-A4 antigenis expressed. Enrollment in Cohort1 iscomplete, and the cohort met its primary
endpoint with anoverall response rate (ORR) per independentreview of 34%. Subject tothe successful
filing and approval of a Biologics License Application by the FDA we plan to commercially launch ADP-
A2M4 in the United States (“U.S.””). Cohort 2 of thetrialis ongoing.

e SURPASSPhase 1 Trial with ADP-A2MA4CDS8: Enrollment isongoingin a Phase1 trial forournext
generation SPEAR T-cell, ADP-A2M4CDS8, including for patients with lung, gastroesophageal, head and
neck, ovarianand bladder cancers in which the MAGE-A4 antigen is expressed. An overall response rate
of 36% was reported at the European Society for Medical Oncology (“ESMO”) conference in 2021 with a
confirmed completeresponsein ovarian cancer and confirmed partial responses reported in ovarian, head
and neck, esophagogastric junction, bladderand synovial sarcoma cancers.

e SURPASS-2 Phase 2 Trial with ADP-A2M4CD8: A Phase 2 clinical trial with ADP-A2M4CD8in
esophagealand EGJ cancers has been initiated and is enrolling.

A furtherPhase 2 trial with ADP-A2M4CD8 in ovarian cancer (“SURPASS-3")is planned to start laterin 2022
and anadditional cohortto the SURPASS trial combining ADP-A2M4CD8with a checkpointinhibitorisalso in

planning.

We are also planningto initiate a Phase 1 trial with a new next-generation SPEAR T-cell targeting MAGE-A4.
Thisproductisbeingdeveloped in collaborationwith Noile-Immune Biotech Inc. (“Noile-Immune”), and incorporates
IL-7 and CCL19into thecelltherapy product.

Outside of the MAGE-A4 franchise, we have an active preclinical pipeline of cell therapy candidates with the
aim of delivering five newautologous cell therapies to theclinic by 2025. The pipeline includes new autologous SPEAR
T-cells, SPEAR T-cells addressing alternative HLA-types, nextgeneration SPEAR T-cells, next-generation TILsand
HiTs. These are being developedinternally and in collaboration with third parties including Alpine Immune Sciences
(“Alpine”), the National Center for Cancer Immune Therapy in Denmark (“CCIT””) and Noile-Immune. Aclinical trial
application (“CTA”) for TILS incorporating IL-7 has been filed in Denmark, with a clinical trial plannedto start in 2022
at CCIT. These approaches enable us to further enhanceand extend thereach of our celltherapies andincreasethe
number of patients we canpotentially treat.

We are also developing allogeneic or “off-the-shelf” cell therapies utilizing a proprietary allogeneic platform.
The platform utilizes cells derived from Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells (“iPSC”), which canbe gene-edited toexpress
our clinical candidates, forexample afami-celand thendifferentiated into therequired end cell type, forexample T-cells.
The platformisapplicable to all of our celltherapies and we planto bringtwo allogeneic programs to the clinic by 2025,
the first for SPEAR T-cells targeting MAGE-A4.

We have generated losses since our inceptionin 2008, duringwhich time we have devoted substantially all of
ourresourcesto theresearchand development of our cell therapies. We expect to continue to incur losses for the
foreseeable future and our netlosses may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter. Our expenses may increase
significantly depending on the progress of our clinicaltrials, requirements to conduct additional clinicaltrials (including
asa result of the filingof a BLA), requirement for further manufacturingto support our developmentactivities,
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investment in additional manufacturing capabilities and investmentin resources and infrastructure to supportthe planned
commercialization of our cell therapies. Further information can befounded in Item 1A. Risk Factors.

In connection with theaudit of our financial statements for the fiscal yearended December 31,2021, we
identified a material weakness. Thiswas related to our risk assessment process over thedesign, implementationand
operational effectiveness of controls over deferred income taxes, specifically the accounting for deferred income tax
asset valuationallowance. This material weakness resulted in a material misstatement in deferred income taxes that was
corrected priorto theissuance of the financial statements. The underlying causes of this material weakness have been

identified and we are taking steps to remediate.
COVID-19 pandemic and Our Business

During the COVID-19 pandemic we have continued to focus on ensuring the safety of ourwork force whilst
continuingthe work we do to make our therapies available to people with cancer. Our facilities in the U.S.and U.K.
remained opento support critical manufacturing and scientific activities. We are working with ouremployees to ensure
that they follow guidelines set out by the U.K.and U.S. governments, as wellas regional guidance including
requirements for social distancingand mask wearing. In addition to safe working practices, we have invested in
personal protective equipmentand installed screens and other physical measures to enhancethe safety of our facilities.

The pandemic has created challenges for conducting clinical trials and we continue towork with our clinical
sitesto enrolland treat patientsatthe earliest possible time particularly given that many of our patients have late-stage
cancer. Certain clinical sites have chosen to postpone treatment of patients or participation in trials whilst the pandemic
is impacting resources at those sites. We have experienced challenges around our supply chain. Many of the materials
and consumables we require for manufactureand supply of products andalso for research are also required for
manufacture of COVID-19 vaccinesand as a result these were prioritized to meet vaccine supplies. In certain cases, for
example, in accordance with the U.S. Defense Production Act, suppliers were required to prioritize vaccine supplies.
Thisresulted in some delays in supply of materials and consumables we require for our business, however, we were able
to mitigate againstimpacts associated with any supply delays by purchasing in advance where possible, prioritizing use
of such suppliesand sourcingalternative suppliers where necessary.

We have continued and will continue toadjustour working practices as the pandemic evolves to ensure we can
continue to treatpeople with cancer as quickly and as effectively as possible whilst protecting the health of our
colleagues.

Financial Operations Overview

Revenue

The Company has three contracts with customers: the Genentech Collaborationand License Agreement, the
GSK Collaborationand License Agreement andthe Astellas Collaboration Agreement.

The Genentech Collaboration and License Agreement

On September 3,2021, Adaptimmune Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Adaptimmune Therapeutics Plc, entered
into a Strategic Collaboration and License Agreement with Genentech, Inc. (“Genentech”)and F. Hoffman-La Roche
Ltd. The collaboration has two components:
1) development ofallogeneic T-celltherapies for up to five shared cancertargets
2) development of personalized allogeneic T-cell therapies utilizing ap T-cell receptors (TCRs) isolated from
a patient, with suchtherapies beingadministered to thesame patient.

The parties will collaborateto performa research program, initially duringaneight-year period (which may be
extendedforup totwo additional two-year terms at Genentech’s election upon payment ofan extension fee for each
two-year term), to develop the cell therapies, following which Genentech will determine whether to further developand
commercialize such therapies. The Company began recognizing revenue for the performance obligations relating to the
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initial “off-the-shelf” collaborationtargetsand the personalized therapies in 2021, however this did nothave a material
impacton the consolidated financial statements.

The Company identified the following performance obligations under theagreement: (i) research servicesand
rights granted under thelicenses for each ofthe initial “off-the-shelf” collaboration targets, (ii) research services and
rights granted under the licenses for the personalized therapies, (iii) material rights relating to the option to designate
additional “off-the-shelf” collaboration targets and (iv) material rights relating to the two options to extend theresearch
term. The revenueallocated to the initial “off-the-shelf” collaboration targets and the personalized therapies is
recognized asdevelopmentprogresses. The revenueallocated to the material rights to designate additional ‘off-the-shelf’
collaborationtargets is recognized from the point thatthe options are exercised and then as development progresses, in
line with the initial “off-the-shelf” collaboration targets, orat the pointin time thatthe rights expire. The revenue from
the material rights to extend the research temrm is recognized from the point thatthe options are exercised and thenover
period of the extension, orat thepoint in time thatthe options expire.

The GlaxoSmithKline (“GSK ") Collaboration and License Agreement

The GSK Collaboration and License Agreementconsists of multiple performance obligations. GSK nominated
its third target underthe Collaborationand License Agreement in 2019, andthe Company received $3.2 million
followingthe nomination of the target anda further $4.2 million in June 2021 following achievement ofa development
milestone, which are being recognized as revenue as development progresses.

The Astellas Collaboration Agreement

OnJanuary 13,2020, the Company entered into a collaboration agreement with Astellas Pharma Inc.,
(“Astellas™). The Company received a $50.0 million non-refundable upfrontpaymentin January 2020 after enteringinto
the agreement. Under theagreement the parties will agree on up to threetargets and will co-develop T-cell therapies
directed to those targets pursuantto anagreed research plan. Foreach target, Astellas will fund co-development up until
completionof a Phase 1 trial for products directed to such target. In addition, Astellas was also granted theright to
develop, independently of Adaptimmune, allogeneic T-celltherapy candidates directed to two targets selected by
Astellas. Astellas will have sole rights to develop and commercialize products resulting from these two targets.

The agreement consists of the following performance obligations: (i) research services and rights granted under
the co-exclusive license foreach of the three co-development targetsand (i) the rights granted for each of thetwo
independent Astellas targets. The revenueallocated to the co-development targets is recognized as thedevelopment of
products directed tothe targets progresses up untilcompletionof a Phase 1 trial. The revenue allo cated to each ofthe
research licenses forthe targets being independently developed by Astellas will be recognized when theassociated
license commences, which is upondesignation of a target by Astellas.

Research and Development Expenses

Researchand development expenditures are expensed as incurred. Research and development expenses consist
principally of thefollowing:

o salariesforresearchanddevelopment staffandrelated expenses, including benefits;
o costsforproductionof preclinical compounds and drug substances by contract manufacturers;

o feesandothercosts paid to contractresearch organizations in connectionwith additional preclinical testing
and the performance of clinicaltrials;

e costsassociated with thedevelopment of a process to manufacture and supply our lentiviral vectorand cell
therapies foruse in clinicaltrials;
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e coststo develop manufacturing capability atour U.S. facility for manufacture of celltherapies foruse in
clinicaltrials;

e costsrelatingto facilities, materials and equipment used in research and development;

e costsofacquired orin-licensed researchand development which does not havealternative future use;
o costsof developingassays and diagnostics;

e anallocationof indirectcosts clearly related to researchand development;

e amortizationand depreciation of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets usedto develop our
cells therapies; and

e share-based compensation expenses.
These expenses are partially offset by:

e reimbursable taxandexpenditure credits from the U.K. government.

Researchand development expenditure is presented net of reimbursements from reimbursable taxand
expenditure credits from the U.K. government. As a company thatcarries out extensive researchand development
activities, we benefit from the U.K. research and development tax credit regime for smalland medium sized companies
(“SME R&D Tax Credit Scheme”), whereby our principal research subsidiary company, Adaptimmune Limited, is able
to surrender the trading losses that arise from its research and development activities fora payable tax credit of upto
approximately 33.4% of eligible research and development expenditures. Qualifying expenditures largely comprise
employment costs for research staff, consumables and certain internal overhead costs incurred as part of research
projects forwhich we do notreceive income. Subcontracted research expenditures areeligible fora cash rebate of up to
approximately 21.7%. A large proportionof costs in relation to our pipeline research, clinical trials management and
manufacturing development activities, all of which are being carried outby Adaptimmune Limited, are eligible for
inclusion within these tax credit cashrebate claims.

Expenditures incurred in conjunction with our collaborationagreements are not qualifying expenditures under
the SME R&D Tax Credit Scheme butcertain of these expenditures can be reimbursed throughthe U.K. researchand
development expenditure credit scheme (the “RDEC Scheme”). Under the RDEC Scheme tax relief is given at 12% (up
to April 1, 2020)and 13% (after April 1, 2020) of allowable R&D costs, which may result in a payable tax creditatan
effective rate of approximately 10.5% of qualifying expenditure fortheyearended December 31,2021.

Our researchand developmentexpenses may vary substantially from periodto period based onthe timing of

ourresearch and developmentactivities, which depends upon the timing of initiation of clinical trials and the rate of
enrollmentof patients in clinicaltrials. The duration, costs, and timing of clinical trialsand development of our cell

therapies will depend on a variety of factors, including:

e thescope, rate of progress, and expense of ourongoingas wellasanyadditional clinical trials and other
research and development activities;

e uncertaintiesin clinicaltrialenrollmentrates;
o futureclinicaltrialresults;
¢ significant and changing government regulation;

e thetimingandreceiptof anyregulatory approvals; and
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¢ supply and manufacture of lentiviral vector and cell therapies for clinical trials.

A change in the outcome of any ofthese variables may significantly change the costs and timing associated
with the development of that SPEAR T-cell. Forexample, if the FDA, oranother regulatory authority, requires us to
conduct clinical trials beyond those that we currently anticipate will be required for regulatory approval, or if we
experiencesignificantdelays in enrollmentin any of our clinicaltrials, we could be required to expend significant
additional financial resources and time onthe completion of clinical development.

General and Administrative Expenses
Our generaland administrative expenses consist principally of:
o salariesforemployees otherthanresearchand development staff, including benefits;
e business developmentexpenses, including travel expenses;
o professional fees forauditors, lawyersand other consulting expenses;
e costs of facilities, communication, and office expenses;
e costof establishing commercial operations;
o informationtechnology expenses;

e amortizationand depreciation of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets notrelatedto research
and development activities; and

e share-based compensation expenses.
Other Income (Expense), Net

Otherincome (expense), net primarily comprises foreign exchange gains (losses). We are exposed toforeign
exchange raterisk because we currently operate facilities in the United Kingdomand United States. Our expenses are
generally denominatedin the currency in which our operations are located, which are the United Kingdom and United
States. However, our U.K.-based subsidiary incurs significant research and development costs in U.S. dollarsand, to a
lesser extent, Euros. Our U.K. subsidiary hasan intercompany loan balance in U.S. dollars payable to the ultimate parent
company, Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc. Since July 1,2019, the intercompany loanhas beenconsideredasbeinga
long-term investmentas repayment is not planned or anticipated in the foreseeable future. It is Adaptimmune
Therapeutics plc’s intent not to request payment of the intercompany loan for the foreseeable future. The foreign
exchange gainsor losses arising on the revaluation of intercompany loans of a long-term investmentnature are reported
within other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax.

Our results of operations and cash flows will be subjectto fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency
exchange rates, which could harm our business in the future. We seek to minimize this expo sure by maintaining
currency cashbalances atlevels appropriate to meet forthcoming expenditure in U.S. dollars and pounds sterling. To

date, we havenot used hedging contracts to manage exchange rateexposure, although we may doso in the future.
Taxation
We are subjectto corporate taxation in the United Kingdom and the United States. We incur tax losses and tax

credit carryforwards in the United Kingdom. No deferred tax assets are recognized onour U.K. losses and tax credit
carryforwards because there is currently noindication that we will make sufficienttaxable profits to utilize these tax

losses and tax credit carryforwards.
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We benefit from reimbursable tax credits in the United Kingdom through the SME R&D Tax Credit Scheme as
well asthe RDEC Scheme whichare presented asa deductionto researchand development expenditure.

Our subsidiary in the United States has generated taxable profits due to a Service Agreement between our U.S.
and U.K. operatingsubsidiaries andis subjectto U.S. federal corporate incometax of21%. Due to itsactivity in the
United States, and the sourcing of its revenue, the U.S. subsidiary is not currently subject to any state or localincome
taxes. The Company also benefits from the U.S Research Tax Credit and Orphan Drug Credit.

In the future, if we generate taxable income in the United Kingdom, we may benefit from the United
Kingdom’s “patent box” regime, which would allow certain profits attributable to revenues from patented products to be
taxedata rate of 10%. As we have many different patents covering our products, future upfront fees, milestone fees,

productrevenues, androyalties may be taxed atthis favorably lowtax rate.

UK. Value Added Tax (“VAT”)is charged onall qualifying goods and services by VAT -registered businesses.
An amount of 20% ofthe value of the goods or services isaddedto all relevant sales invoices and is payable to the U.K.
tax authorities. Similarly, VAT paid on purchase invoices paid by Adaptimmune Limited and Adaptimmune
Therapeutics plc is reclaimable from the U.K. tax authorities.
Results of Operations
Comparison of Years Ended December 31,2021 and 2020

The followingtable summarizes the results of our operations for the years ended December 31,2021 and 2020,
togetherwith the changes to those items (in thousands):

Year ended
December 31,
2021 2020 Increase/decrease

Revenue $ 6149 $ 3958 $ 2191 55 %
Researchanddevelopment expenses (111,000) (91,568) (19,522) 21 %
Generaland administrative expenses (57,305)  (45,795) (115100 25%
Total operating expenses (168,395) (137,363) (31,032) 23 %
Operating loss (162,246) (133,405) (28,841 22%
Interest income 1,095 2,313 (1,218) (53)%
Otherincome (expense), net 3,852 1,162 2,690 231%
Loss before income tax expense (157,299) (129,930) (27,369) 21 %
Income tax expense (791) (162) (629) 388 %
Lossfor the period $(158,090) $(130,092) $(27,998) 22%

Revenue

Revenue increased by $2.2 million to $6.1 million in the year ended December 31,2021 compared to $4.0
million forthe yearended December 31,2020 dueto anincrease in development activities under our collaboration
agreements.

We expect that revenues willincrease in future periods as the Company initiates development activities under

the new Genentech Collaboration agreement and continues activities underthe GSK and Astellas Collaboration
Agreements.
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Research and development expenses

Researchanddevelopment expenses increased by $19.5million to $111.1 million for the year ended
December 31,2021 from $91.6 million fortheyearended December 31, 2020. Our research and development expenses
comprise thefollowing (in thousands):

Year ended
December 31,
2021 2020 Increase/decrease

Salaries, materials, equipment, depreciation of property, plantand
equipment and other employee-related costs® $ 79,505 $64,308 $15197 24%
Subcontracted expenditure 46,469 33,744 12,725 38%
Manufacturing facility expenditure 9,584 7,652 1932 25%
Share-based compensation expense 9,052 4,417 4635 105%
In-process researchand development costs 562 889 (327) (B37)%
Reimbursements receivable for research and development tax
and expenditure credits (34,082) (19,442) (14,640) 75%

$111090 $91568 $19522 21%

(1) These costsarenot analyzed by project sinceemployees may be engaged in multiple projectsatatime.

The netincrease in our researchand developmentexpenses of $19.5million for the yearended
December 31,2021 compared to the yearended December 31,2020was primarily dueto the following:

e anincrease of $15.2 million in sa laries, materials, equipment, depreciation of property, plantand
equipment and other employee-related costs, primarily due to an increase in employee compensation and
contractor costs in the yearended December 31,2021;

e anincrease of $12.7 million in subcontracted expenditures, including clinical trial expenses, contract
research organization (CRO) costs and contract manufacturing expenses, largely drivenby anincrease in
clinicaltrial patientcosts which was offsetslightly by a decrease in external contract manufacturing costs;

e anincrease of $4.6 million in share-based compensation expense due to additional stock grants and lower
increase in forfeitures compared tothe number of options; and

e anincrease in reimbursements receivable for research and development tax and expenditure credits of
$14.6 million due to higher researchand developmentcosts.

Our subcontracted costs for the yearended December 31,2021 were $46.5 million, compared to $33.7 million
in the same period of 2020. This includes $34.2 million directly associated with our afami-cel, ADP-A2M4CD8and
ADP-A2AFP SPEAR T-cellsand $12.3 million of other costs.

Our researchanddevelopmentexpenses are highly dependenton the phases and progression of our research
projects and will fluctuate depending on the outcome of ongoing clinicaltrials. We expect that our researchand
development expenses will increase in future periods as we continue to invest in our researchand development
capabilitiesandas we progress towards regulatory approval of our first SPEAR T-cell product.
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General and administrative expenses

Generaland administrative expenses increased by $11.5 million to $57.3million for the yearended
December 31,2021 compared to $45.8 million in the same periodin 2020. Our general and administrative expenses
comprise thefollowing (in thousands):

Year ended
December 31,
2021 2020 Increase/decrease
Salaries, depreciation of property, plantand

equipment and other employee-related costs $ 28970 $ 25,408 $ 3,562 14 %
Other corporate costs 18,911 15,586 3,325 21%
Share-based compensation expense 11,577 5,997 5,580 93 %
Reimbursements (2,153) (1,196) (957) 80 %
$ 57,305 3 45795 $ 11510 25 %

The netincrease in our generaland administrativeexpenses of $11.5million for the yearended December
31,2021 comparedto the sameperiodin 2020was primarily due to the following:

e anincrease of $3.6 million in salaries, depreciation of property, plantand equipment and other employee-
related costs dueto anincreasein headcount and contractor costs;

e anincrease of $3.3 million in other corporate costs due to an increase in insurance andaccounting, legal
and professional fees, including legal fees relating to the Genentechagreement; and

e anincrease of $5.6 million in share-based compensation expense due to additional stock grants and lower
forfeitures compared tothe number of options issued, caused in part by the high forfeitures incurredin
2020 dueto the previous CEOretiringas CEO.

We expect that our generaland administrative expenses will increase in the future as we expand our operations
and move towards commercial launch.

Interest income

Interestincome was $1.1 million forthe yearended December 31,2021 compared to $2.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2020. Interest income primarily relates to intereston cash, cash equivalents and available -for-sale
debt securitiesand is presented net of amortization/accretion of the premium/discounton purchase of the debt securities.
Amortization onavailable-for-sale debt securities for the yearended December 31,2021 was $5.3 million comparedto
amortization of $3.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Otherincome, net

Otherincome, net was $3.9 million for the yearended December 31,2021 comparedto $1.2 million for
the yearended December 31, 2020. Other income, net primarily relates to unrealized foreign exchangegains and losses
on cash and cashequivalents, and intercompany loans held in U.S. dollars by our U.K. subsidiary other thanthose of a
long-term investment nature, where repaymentis not planned oranticipated in the foreseeable future.
Income taxes

Income tax expenses were $0.8 million forthe yearended December 31,2021, compared to $0.2 million for the

yearended December 31, 2020. Income taxes arise in the United States due to our U.S. subsidiary generating taxable
profits. We incur losses in the United Kingdom.
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Comparison of Years Ended December 31,2020 and2019

The followingtable summarizes the results of our operations for the years ended December 31,2020and 2019,
together with the changes to those items (in thousands):

Year ended
December 31,
2020 2019 Increase/decrease

Revenue $ 3958 $ 1,122 $2,836 253 %
Researchanddevelopment (including lossesaccruedon
firm purchase commitments of $-and $5,000) (91,568)  (97,501) (5,933) (6)%
Generaland administrative expenses (45,795)  (43,391) 2,404 6 %
Total operating expenses (137,363) (140,892) (3,529) (3%
Operating loss (133,405) (139,770) 6,365 (5)%
Interestincome 2,313 2,772 (459) 17)%
Otherincome (expense), net 1,162 75 (1,087) (1,449%
Loss before income tax expense (129,930) (136,923) (6,993) (5)%
Income tax expense (162) (242) (80) (33)%
Lossfor the period $(130,092) $(137,165) $(7,073) (5)%
Revenue

Revenue increased by $2.9 million to $4.0 million in the year ended December 31,2020 compared to $1.1
million forthe yearended December 31,2019 dueto anincrease in development activities under our collaboration
agreements.

We expect that revenues will increase in future periods as the Company increases developmentactivitiesonthe
first target under the Astellas Collaboration Agreement and as further targets arenominated.

Research and development expenses
Researchand development expenses decreased by $5.9 million to $91.6 million for the yearended

December 31,2020 from $97.5million forthe yearended December 31, 2019. Our research and development expenses
comprise thefollowing (in thousands):

Year ended
December 31,
2020 2019 Increase/decrease

Salaries, materials, equipment, depreciation of property, plantand
equipment and other employee-related costs® $64,308 $63,240 $ 1,068 2%
Subcontracted expenditure 33,744 32,788 956 3%
Manufacturing facility expenditure 7,652 6,754 898 13 %
Accrued purchase commitments — 5,000 (5,000 (100)%
Share-based compensation expense 4,417 3,812 605 16 %
In-process researchand development costs 889 4,556 (3,667 (80)%
Reimbursements receivable for researchand development tax
and expenditure credits (19,442) (18,649 (793) 4 %

$91,568 $97501 $(5933  (6)%

(1) Thesecostsarenotanalyzedby project sinceemployees may be engaged in multiple projectsat a time.
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The net decrease in our researchand developmentexpenses of $5.9 million for the year ended
December 31,2020 compared to the yearended December 31,2019 was primarily dueto the following:

e anincrease of $1.1 million in salaries, materials, equipment, depreciation of property, plant and equipment
and otheremployee-related costs, primarily due to an increase in employee compensationin the year ended
December 31,2020, which was partially offset by lower consumables costsanda reductionin travel costs
asaresultof COVID-19;

e anincrease of $1.0 million in subcontracted expenditures, including clinical trial expenses, contract
research organization (CRO) costs and contract manufacturing expenses, largely drivenby anincrease in
clinicaltrial patientcosts;

e adecrease of $5.0million in accrued purchase commitments, which relate to the supply ofthe Dynabeads®
CD3/CD28technology. Inthe yearended December 31,2019, management considered that there was
sufficientuncertainty surrounding the utility of the Dynabeads resulting in the purchase commitmentbeing
recognized in research and developmentexpenses; and

e adecrease of$3.7million in payments for in-process researchand developmentas a result of our entering
into a collaborationagreementrelating to the development of next-generation SPEAR T-cell products with
Alpine Immune Sciences, Inc. and Noile-lmmune Biotech Inc. in the yearended December 31, 2019, offset
by milestones payable to Universal Cells under ouramended existing agreement in the year ended
December 31,2020.

Our subcontracted costs for the yearended December 31, 2020 were $33.7 million, compared to $32.8 million
in the same period of 2019. Thisincludes $22.3 million directly associated with our ADP-A2M4, ADP-A2M4CD8,
ADP-A2AFP and ADP-A2M10 SPEAR T-cellsand $11.4 million of other costs.

General and administrative expenses
Generaland administrative expenses increased by $2.4 million to $45.8 million for the year ended

December 31,2020 compared to $43.4 million in the same periodin 2019. Our generalandadministrative expenses
comprise thefollowing (in thousands):

Year ended
December 31,
2020 2019 Increase/decrease
Salaries, depreciation of property, plantand

equipment and other employee-related costs $ 25,408 $ 25911 $ (503) )%
Other corporate costs 15,586 11,145 4,441 40 %
Share-based compensation expense 5,997 7,241 1,244) (1A71)%
Reimbursements (1,196) (906) (290) 32 %
$ 45,795 § 43391 $ 2,404 6 %

The netincrease in our generaland administrative expenses of $2.4 million for the year ended December
31,2020 comparedto the sameperiodin 2019 was primarily due to the following:

e anincrease of $4.4 million in other corporate costs due to increased professional fees, insurance costs,
investment in our I T systems, and costs associated with the buildout of our commercial capabilities; offset

by

e adecrease of $1.2million in share-based compensation expensedue to option forfeitures.
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Interest income

Interest income decreased by $0.5 million to $2.3 million forthe yearended December 31, 2020 compared to
$2.8 million forthe yearended December 31,2019. Interest income primarily relates to interest on cash, cash
equivalentsandavailable-for-sale debtsecurities and is presented net of amortization/accretion of the premium/discount
on purchase of the debt securities. Amortization on available-for-sale debt securities for the yearended December 31,
2020 was $3.8 million comparedto accretion of $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Other income, net

Otherincome, net was $1.2 million forthe yearended December 31,2020 comparedto $0.1 million for
the yearended December 31, 2019. Other income, net primarily relates to unrealized foreign exchangegains and losses
on cash and cash equivalents, and intercompany loans held in U.S. dollars by our U.K. subsidiary otherthanthoseof a
long-term investment nature, where repaymentis not planned oranticipated in the foreseeable future.

Income taxes

Income tax expensedecreased to $0.2 million forthe yearended December 31,2020 from $0.2 million for the
yearended December 31, 2019. Income taxes arise in the United States due to our U.S. subsidiary generating taxable
profits. We incur losses in the United Kingdom.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Sourcesof Funds

Since our inception, we have incurred significant net losses and negative cash flows from operations. We
financed our operations primarily through sales of equity securities, cashreceipts under our Astellas Collaboration
Agreement and Genentechand GSK Collaboration and License Agreements, governmentgrants and research and

development tax and expenditure credits. From inception through to December 31,2021, we have raised:
e  $857.2 million of proceeds from issues of equity, net of issue costs;
e $359.7 million through collaborative arrangements with Genentech, GSK and Astellas; and

e  $82.1 million inthe formof U.K. researchand development tax credits and receipts fromthe U.K. RDEC
Scheme.

We use a non-GAAP measure, Total Liquidity, which isdefined as the total of cash and cash equivalents and
marketable securities, to evaluate the funds available to us in the near-term. Adescription of Total Liquidityand
reconciliation to cashand cash equivalents, the most directly comparable U.S. GAAP measure, are provided below
under “Non-GAAP measures”.

As of December 31,2021, we had cashand cash equivalents of $149.9 million and Total Liquidity of $369.6
million. We believe that our Total Liquidity will be sufficient to fund our operations, based uponour curre ntly

anticipated research and development activities and planned capital spending, into early 2024.

During the year ended December 31,2021, the Company incurreda net loss of $158.1 million, generated cash
of $10.7 million in its operating activities, and generated revenues of $6.2 million. The Company has incurred net losses

in most periods since inception, and it expects toincur operating losses in foreseeable future periods.
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Managementconsiders that there are no conditions or events, in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubtabout
the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern fora period of at least one year from thedatethe financial statements
areissued.

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes the results of our cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2021,2020and
2019 (in thousands).

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,  December 31,
2021 2020 2019
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities $ 10,729 $ (53,591) $ (112,507)
Net cash provided by (usedin) investingactivities 75,800 (278,924) 94,945
Net cash provided by financingactivities 3,288 340,051 366
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 151,666 61,484 54,908

Yearended December 31,2021 comparedto year ended December 31,2020

Net cash provided by operatingactivities increased by $64.3million to $10.7 million for the yearended
December 31,2021 fromanet cashusedin operatingactivities of $53.6 million for the year ended December 31,2020.
The net cashprovided by operatingactivities in the yearend December 31, 2021 was significantly increased by a $4.2
million milestone paymentreceived under the GSK Collaboration and License Agreementand the upfront payment of
$150.0 million received under the Genentech Collaboration and License Agreementin October 2021, ascompared to a
$50.0 million upfront payment from Astellas received in January 2020. The U.K. R&D tax credits received in the year
ended December 31,2021 was $4.2 million higher than that received during the year ended December 31, 2020.

Year ended December 31,2020 compared to year ended December 31,2019

Net cash used in operatingactivities decreased by $58.9 million to $53.6 million for the yearended
December 31,2020 from $112.5million forthe yearended December 31,2019. The net cash used in operating activities
in the yearend December 31,2020 was significantly reduced by the $50.0 million upfront payment from Astellas in
January 2020 uponentering into the Astellas Collaboration Agreementandanincreasein the U.K. R&Dtax credits
received in the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to the year ended December 31, 2019.

Components of cash flows from operating activities

Net cash provided by operating activities of $10.7 million for theyear ended December 31,2021 comprised a
netlossof $158.1 million offset by noncash items of $34.2 million and $134.6 million of favorable changes in operating
assetsand liabilities. The noncash items consisted primarily of depreciation expenseon plant and equipment of
$5.6 million, amortization of intangibles of $0.9 million, share-based compensation expense of $20.6 million,
amortization of marketable securities of $5.3 million, unrealized foreign exchange losses of $0.5 million and other losses
of $1.2 million.

Net cash used in operatingactivities of $53.6 million for the yearended December 31,2020 compriseda net
loss of $130.1 million offsetby noncashitems of $20.5million and $56.0 million of favorable changes in operating
assetsand liabilities. The noncash items consisted primarily of depreciation expenseon plant and equipment of
$6.6 million, amortization of intangibles of $1.0 million, share-based compensation expense of $10.4 million,
amortization of marketable securities of $3.8 million, offsetby unrealized foreign exchange gains of $1.3 million.

Net cash used in operating activities of $112.5million for theyearended December 31, 2019 compriseda net

loss of $137.2 million offsetby noncashitems of $20.0 million and $4.7 million of favorable changes in operating assets
and liabilities. The noncash items consisted primarily of depreciation expense on plant and equipment of $7.2 million,
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amortization of intangibles of $0.8 million, share-based compensation expense 0f $11.1 million, and unrealized foreign
exchange losses of $1.1 million.

Investing Activities

Net cash provided by investingactivities was $75.8 million for the yearended December 31, 2021 comparedto
net cash used in investingactivities of $278.9 million for theyear ended December31,2020. The Company invests
surplus cash and cash equivalents in marketable securities. Cash provided by investingactivities increased in the year
ended December 31, 2021. Maturity or redemption of marketable securities of $224.3million was offset by investment
in marketable securities 0f $139.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2021.

Net cash used in investingactivities was $278.9 million for the yearended December 31,2020 comparedto net
cash provided by investingactivities of $94.9 million for the year ended December 31,2019, and net cash used in
investingactivities of $17.5 million for theyear ended December 31, 2018. The Company invests surplus cashand cash
equivalents in marketable securities. Cashused in investingactivities increased in the yearended December 31,2020,
because the Company invested surplus cash, including net proceeds from issuance of shares in marketable securities.
Investment in marketable securities of $381.0 million was offset by $105.0 million from maturity or redemption of

marketable securities in the year ended December 31, 2020.

Net cash provided by investingactivities in the yearended December 31,2019included purchases of property
and equipment of $1.6 million, acquisition of intangibles of $1.5 million, investmentin marketable securities of $27.3
million, offset by cash inflows from maturity or redemption of marketable securities of $125.3 million. The Company
invests surplus cashand cashequivalents in marketable securities. Inthe yearended December 31, 2019, the investments
in marketable securities were reduced to fund the Company’s ongoing operations.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financingactivities was $3.3 million, $340.1 million and $0.4 million forthe years ended
December 31,2021,2020 and 2019, respectively.

Net cash provided by financingactivities for the yearended December 31,2021 consisted of net proceeds from
public offerings of $2.5million and proceeds from exercise of share options of $0.8 million.

Net cash provided by financingactivities for the year ended December 31, 2020 consisted of net proceeds from
public offerings of $334.4 million and proceeds from exercise of share options of $5.7 million.

Net cash provided by financingactivities for theyear ended December 31, 2019 consisted of proceeds from
exercise of share options of $0.4 million.
Non-GAAP Measures

Total Liquidity (a non-GAAP financial measure)

Total Liquidity (a non-GAAP financial measure) is the total of cash and cash equivalents and marketable
securities. Each of these components appears in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The U.S. GAAP financial measure
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most directly comparable to Total Liquidity is cash and cash equivalents as reported in the consolidated financial
statements, which reconciles to Total Liquidity as follows (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,

2021 2020
Cash andcash equivalents $ 149,948 $ 56,882
Marketable securities - available-for-sale debt securities 219,632 311,335
Total Liquidity $ 369,580 $ 368,217

We believe that the presentation of Total Liquidity provides usefulinformation to investors because
management reviews Total Liquidity as part of its management of overall solvency and liquidity, financial flexibility,
capital position andleverage. The definition of Total Liquidity includes marketable securities, which are highly liquid
and available to use in our currentoperations.

Material Cash Requirements

As of December 31,2021 the Company does nothave any products approved for sale and has notgenerated any
revenue from productsupplies or royalties. The Company’s material cash requirements primarily relate to costs
associated with the clinical development of our celltherapies, the development and enhancement of our manufacturing
capabilitiesand securinga commercially viable manufacturing platform for all of our celltherapies, advancing
additional cell therapies into preclinical testingand progressing such celltherapies through toclinical trials, supporting
commercializationfor ADP-A2M4 andto fund working capital, including for other general corporate purposes.

Operating leases

As of December 31, 2021 the Company had material o perating lease obligations of $33.0 million under non-
cancellable leases for laboratory and office property in Oxfordshire, United Kingdom, and Philadelphia, United States.
Furtherdetails of ouroperating leases are providedin Item 2 and in Note 8 of Item 16 ofthis Annual Report.

Purchaseobligations

As of December31,2021,the Company’s unconditional purchase obligations totaled $18.1 million and include
signed orders for capital equipmentand capital expenditure for construction and related expenditure relatingto its
properties in the United Kingdom andthe United States, of which the Company expects toincur $17.7 million within
oneyearand$0.5 million within oneto threeyears.

The Company also had non-cancellable commitments for the purchase of clinical materials and contract
manufacturing, which have been committed but not yetreceived, and committed funding under the MD Anderson
strategic alliance, of up to $14.3 million, which the Company expects toincur within one year. The amountand timing
of these payments vary depending on the rate of progress of development.

Future payments associated with clinicaltrials are notconsidered purchase commitments because they are
contingent on enrollment in clinical trials and theactivities required to be performed by theclinical sites.

MD Anderson

In 2016, we entered into a multi-year strategic alliance with MD Anderson designed to expeditethe
development of T-cell therapies for multiple types of cancer. We and MD Andersonare collaboratingon a number of
studies includingclinicaland preclinical development of our SPEAR T-cell therapies targeting NY-ESO and MAGE-
A10and we will collaborate onfutureclinicalstage first and second generation SPEAR T -cell therapies suchas ADP-
A2M4 across a number of cancers, including bladder, lung, ovarian, headand neck, melanoma, synovial sarcoma,
esophageal and gastric cancers. Under the terms ofthe agreement, we committedatleast$19.6 million to fund studies.
The Company madeanupfrontpaymentof $3.4 million to MD Andersonin the yearended December 31,2017 and
milestone payments of$2.3million, $3.5 million and $0.5 million in the years ended December 31,2018, 2020 and
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2021, respectively. Payment of this funding is contingent onmutual agreementto study orders under the alliance
agreementandthe performance of set milestones by MD Anderson. Thetimingandamount of future payments is
uncertain.

Other obligations

On August 26,2019, we entered into a collaboration and license agreement relating to the development of next-
generation SPEAR T-cell products with Noile-lmmune. An upfront exclusive license option fee of $2.5 million was paid
to Noile-Immune in 2019. This has been recognized within Researchand Developmentin the Consolidated Statement of
Operations forthe yearended December 31,2019. Under the agreement, development and commercialization milestone
payments up to a maximum of $312 million may be payable if all possible targets are selected and milestones achieved.
Noile-lmmune would also receive mid-single-digit royalties on netsales of resulting products.

On May 14,2019, we entered into a Collaboration Agreement relating to the development of next-generation
SPEAR T-cell products with Alpine. We paid an upfront exclusive license option fee of $2.0 million to Alpine in June
2019. Underthe agreement, Adaptimmune will pay Alpine forongoing researchand developmentfunding costsand
development and commercialization milestone payments upto a maximum of $288 million, which may be payable if all
possible targets are selected and milestones achieved. The upfrontpaymentof $2.0 million and the payments for ongoing
research are recognized within Researchand development. Alpine would also receive low single -digit royalties on
worldwide net sales of applicable products.

In 2015, we entered into a Research Collaborationand License Agreementrelatingto gene editingand HLA-
engineering technology with Universal Cells. We paid an upfront license fee of $2.5 million to Universal Cells. A
milestone payment of $3.0 million was madein February 2016 and further milestone payments of $0.2 million and $0.9
million were made in the yearended December 31,2018and 2017, respectively. The agreement was amended and re-
statedasofJanuary 13,2020, primarily to reflect changes to the development plan agreed betweenthe parties. Further
milestone payments of up to $37.6 million are payable if certain developmentand product milestones are achieved of
which milestones of $0.8 million and $0.5million have beenachieved, but not yetpaid, as of December31,2021.
Universal Cells would also receivea profit-share payment for the first product, and royalties on sales of other products

utilizing its technology.
Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates

We have prepared our consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Our preparation of
these consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates, assumptions and judgments thataffect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, expenses and related disclosures at the date of the consolidated financial statements, as well
asrevenueandexpenses duringthe reporting periods. We evaluate our estimates and judgments onan ongoing basis. \We
base ourestimates on historical experienceand on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the
circumstances, theresults of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities
thatare notreadily apparentfrom other sources. Actual results could therefore differ materially from these estimates
under different assumptions or conditions.

While oursignificantaccounting policies are described in moredetail in Note 2 to our consolidated financial
statements, we believe thefollowingaccounting policies to be critical to the judgments and estimates used in the
preparationof our financial statements.

Revenue Recognition
Allocationof transaction price using the relative standalone selling price

Upfront payments are allocated between performance obligations using the Company's best estimate of the relative
standalone selling price of the performance obligation. The relative standalone selling price is estimated by determining

the marketvalues of development and license obligations. As these inputs are notdirectly observable, theestimate s
determined consideringall reasonably available information including internal pricing objectives used in negotiating the
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contract, together with internal data regarding the cost and margin of providing services for each deliverable, taking into
account thedifferent stage of development of each development program and consideration of adjusted-market data from
comparable arrangements. Where performance obligations have been identified relating to material rights, the
determination of therelative standalone selling price of these performance obligations also includes anassessmentof the
likelihood that the options will be exercised and any payments by the customer that aretriggered upon exercising the
right. Thisassessment involves significantjudgment and could havea significant impact on the amount and timing of
revenue recognition.

Determinationof thecost tocomplete

Revenue allocated to performance obligations relating to provision of development activities is recognized usingan
estimate of the percentage of completion ofthe project based on thecosts incurred on the project as a percentage of the
totalexpected costs. The determination of the percentage of completion requires management to estimatethe costs-to-
complete theproject. Adetailed estimate of the costs-to-complete is re-assessed every reporting period based on the
latest projectplanand discussions with projectteams. Ifa change in facts or circumstances occurs, the estimate will be
adjusted andtherevenue will be recognized based on the revised estimate. The difference betweenthe cumulative
revenue recognized based on the previous estimateand the revenuerecognized based on the revised estimate would be
recognized asanadjustmentto revenue in the periodin which the change in estimate occurs. Determining the estimate of
the cost-to-complete requires significant judgmentand may have a significantimpacton theamount and timing of
revenue recognition. However, a 10% change in the cost-to-complete at December 31,2021, would not havea
significant impact on revenuerecognized in the yearended December 31,2021.

Operating Leases (Incremental Borrowing Rate)

Since the rates implicit in our leases are notreadily determinable, we use the Company’s incremental borrowing
rates (the rate of interest thatwe would haveto payto borrowon a collateralized basis overa similarterm foran amount
equalto thelease paymentsin a similareconomic environment) based onthe information available atcommencement
date in determining the discountrate usedto calculatethe present value of lease payments. Aswe have noexternal
borrowings, the incremental borrowing rates are determined using information onindicative borrowing rates that would
be available to us based onthe value, currency and borrowing term provided by financial institutions, adjusted for
company and market specific factors.

Although we do not expect our estimates of the incremental borrowing rates to generate material differences
within a reasonable range of sensitivities, judgement is involved in selecting an appropriate rate, and the rate selected for
each lease will haveanimpacton the value of the lease liability and corresponding right-of-use (ROU) asset in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Deferred Taxes

Deferred taxisaccounted forusingtheasset and liability method that requires the recognition of deferred tax
assetsand liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial statement
carryingamountand the tax bases ofassetsand liabilities at the applicable tax rates. Asof December 31,2021, we have
deferred taxassets of $135.4 million, offsetby deferred tax liabilities of $2.9 million and a valuation allowance of
$132.4 million.

A valuation allowance is provided when it is more-likely-than-not thatsome portion or all of the deferred tax
assetswill not be realized. Futurerealization of thetax benefit of a deferred tax assetdepends on the existence of
sufficienttaxable income of theappropriate character (forexample, ordinary incomeor capital gain) within the
carrybackor carryforward period available under the tax law. The Company considers thefollowing possible sources of
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taxable income whenassessing whether thereiis sufficienttaxable incometo realize a tax benefit for deductible
temporary differences and carryforwards:

o future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences;
o future taxable income exclusive of reversing temporary differences and carryforwards;
e taxable income in priorcarryback year(s) if carryback is permitted under thetax law;and

e tax-planningstrategies.

The Company considers both positive and negativeevidence regarding realization of the deferred tax assets and
the subjectivity of this evidence. This assessmentincludes estimating future taxable income, scheduling reversals of
temporary differences, evaluating expectations of future profitability, determining refund potential in the event of net
operating loss carrybacks, and evaluating potential tax-planning strategies.

The Company has generated losses in the United Kingdom since inceptionand is forecasted to generate tax
losses forthe next several years and therefore the deferred tax assets arising in the United Kingdom are only considered
more-likely-than-notof being realizedto the extentthat reversing temporary taxable differences are available.

The U.S. subsidiary has generated taxable income since the fiscal yearended June 30,2014 due to a Service
Agreement betweenour U.S. and U.K. operating subsidiaries and is forecast to generatetaxable incomein future
periods. In determiningwhether the deferred tax assetis more-likely-than-notof being recognized, the Company has
takeninto account the recent history of taxable profits, the forecast of future taxable income, includingwhether future
originating temporary deductible differences are likely to be realized, and thereversal of temporary taxable deductions.
Severalof the temporary deductible differences reverse overa longtime period, suchasthose relatingto share-based
compensation expense, which the Company forecasts are likely to reverse over the next fiveyears. The Company
considers that forecasting taxable income beyondthe next few years is very subjective due to the nature and extent of the
development process subcontracted from the Company in the United Kingdomto the U.S. subsidiary. Less weight has
been given to forecasts of taxable income beyond the next few years.

The Company’s analysis is subject to estimates and judgments particularly relatingto the timing of the reversal
of temporary deductible differences for stock compensation expense andthe availability of future taxable income beyond
the next few years, which depend on the nature and extent of the subcontractdevelopment work performedby the U.S.
subsidiary.

The deferredtax assetarising in the United States is only considered more-likely-than-not of being realizedto
the extent that there areavailable reversing temporary taxable differences. As the Company believes that our cashand
cash equivalents and marketable securities will be sufficientto fund our operations, based upon our currently anticipated
research and development activities and planned capital spending, into early 2024, the Company considered the U.S.
subsidiary’s future taxable income over this period. Based on this assessment, the Company determined that the
deductible temporary differences thatthe U.S. subsidiary will generateeach year will be more thantheamount of
temporary differences or credits that can be utilized by positive pre-tax income. As such it is only more-likely-than-not
that an immaterialamount ofthe currentdeferred taxasset in the U.S. subsidiary may be utilized. Therefore, the
Company concludedthat a full valuationallowance should be maintained againstthe deferred tax assetof the U.S.
subsidiary.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposedto market risks in the ordinary course of our business, whichare principally limited to interest
rate fluctuations, foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations, particularly betweenpound sterlingand U.S. dollar,and
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credit risk. These risks are managed by maintaininganappropriate mix of cash deposits and securities in various
currencies, placedwith a variety of financial institutions for varying periods according to expected liquidity
requirements.

As of December 31,2021, we held $219.6 million in marketable securities, with the aim of diversifying our
investmentsandreducing credit risks. We have not entered into investments for trading or speculative purposes.

Interest Rate Risk

Our surplus cashand cash equivalents are invested in interest-bearing savings, money market funds, corporate
debt securities and commercial paper from time to time. Our investments in corporate debtsecurities are subject to fixed
interest rates. Ourexposure to interestrate sensitivity is impacted by changes in the underlying U.K. and U.S. bank
interest rates and the fair market value of our corporate debt securities will fallin value if marketinterestrates increase.
We do not believe animmediate one percentage pointchange in interest rates would have a material effect on the fair
market value of our portfolio, and therefore we do notexpect our operating results or cash flows to be significantly
affected by changes in market interest rates.

Currency Risk

We are exposedto foreign exchange raterisk because we currently operate in the United Kingdomandthe
United States. Ourexpenses aregenerally denominated in the currency in which our operations are located, which are
the United Kingdom andthe United States. However, our U.K.-based subsidiary incurs significant researchand
development costs in U.S. dollarsand, to a lesser extent, Euros.

The results of operations and cash flows will be subjectto fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency
exchange rates, which could ham our business in the future. We seek to minimize this exposure by maintaining
currency cashbalances atlevels appropriate to meet forthcoming expenses in U.S. dollars and pounds sterling. To date,
we havenot used forward exchange contracts or other currency hedging products to manage our exchange rate exposure,
although we maydo so in the future. The exchange rate as of December 31,2021, the last business day of thereporting
period,was£1.00to $1.35.

CreditRisk

Our cash and cashequivalents are held with multiple banks and we monitor the credit rating of those banks.
Our investments in corporate debtsecurities and commercial paper are subject to credit risk. Our investment policy
limits investments to certaintypes of instruments, suchas money market instruments, corporate debtsecurities and
commercial paper, places restrictions on maturities and concentration by typeand issuer and specifies the minimum
credit ratings forallinvestments and theaverage credit quality of the portfolio.

Trade receivables were $0.8 million and $0.1 million as of December 31,2021 and 2020, respectively. Trade
receivables arise in relationto the Astellas Collaboration Agreementand the Genentech and GSK Collaboration and
License Agreements. We have been transacting with Genentechsince October 2021, Astellas since January 2020 and
GSK since 2014, duringwhich time no impairment losses have been recognized. No balances were past dueas of
December 31,2021
Item 8. Financial Statementsand Supplementary Data

The financial statements required to be filed pursuant to this Item 8 are appended to this report. An index of
those financial statements is foundin Item 15.

Item 9. Changesinand Disagreements with Accountants on Accountingand Financial Disclosure

None
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Item 9A. Controlsand Procedures

Management’s Report Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures.

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has
evaluated theeffectiveness of ourdisclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)and
15d-15(e)) as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report.

Based onsuchevaluation, our Chief Executive Officerand Chief Financial Officer have concluded that there
was a control deficiency in our internal control over financial reporting which constituted a material weakness. Due to
this materialweakness, our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of December 31,2021 to assure that
information required to be disclosed by us in reports we file or submit pursuantto the Exchange Act is properly
disclosed. We discuss this material wea kness and the steps we have taken to remedy such weakness in our discussion of
internal control over financial reporting below.

Management’s Report Regarding the Effectiveness of Internal Control over Financial Reporting.

Our management is responsible for establishingand maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting, assuch termis defined in Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Because of its inherent limitations, internal
controloverfinancial reportingmay notprevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even those systems determined to be
effective canprovide only reasonably assurance of achievingtheir control objectives. Under thesupervision and with the
participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conductedan
evaluationof the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the frameworkin Internal
Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission

In connection with theaudit of our financial statements for the fiscal yearended December 31,2021, we identified a
material weakness. Thiswas related to our risk assessment process over the design, implementationand operational
effectiveness of controls over deferred incometaxes, specifically theaccounting for deferred income tax asset valuation
allowance whichwas deficient. This material weakness resulted in a material misstatement in deferred income taxes that
was corrected priorto the issuance of the financial statements. A material weakness is a deficiency, ora combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there isa reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of ourannual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or dete cted ona timely basis. The
underlying causes of this material weakness have been identified and primarily relate to insufficient experience and
inadequatetraining for new individuals to identify and address the relevant risks and design of andto implement and
operate controls overthe related process andrisks. Due to this material weakness, our internal controls over financial
reporting were not effectiveas of December 31, 2021.

KPMG, LLP, the independentregistered public accounting firm whoaudited the Company’s Consolidated
Financial Statements included in this Annual Report, has issued anattestation report expressinganadverseopinion on
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as stated in their report which appears herein.

Changesin Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.

Otherthanthe material weakness described above, there has beenno change in our internal control over
financialreporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred during the fourth quarter of 2021
that has materially affected, oris reasonably likely to materially affect, internal control over financial reporting.

We are takingsteps to remediate the material weakness, including (i) recruiting appropriate personnel with
appropriate qualification, including a Vice President Financial Controller with experience of income taxaccounting; (ii)
improvingthe design of our controls for deferred incometaxes, specifically in enhancingthe requirements to perform
the assessment of deferred incometax assets to enable new personnel to effectively execute the control and (iii)
enhancingthe training providedto the individuals operating the deferred income taxation controls. If we failto fully
remediatethis material weakness or additional weaknesses or deficiencies in our internal controls over financial

88



reporting are identified this may undermine our ability to provide accurate, timely and reliable reports on our financial
and operating results.

Item 9B. Other Information

None
Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.

Not applicable.
PART 111
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officersand Corporate Governance

The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive p roxy statement
pursuantto Regulation 14A, to be filed with the Commission not later than 120 days after the close of our fiscal year
ended December 31,2021.
Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement
pursuantto Regulation 14A, to be filed with the Commission not later than 120 days after the close of our fiscal year
ended December 31,2021.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Managementand Related Stockholder Matters

The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement
pursuantto Regulation 14A, to be filed with the Commission not later than 120 days after the close of our fiscal year
ended December 31,2021.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement
pursuantto Regulation 14A, to be filed with the Commission not later than 120 days after the close of our fiscal year
ended December31,2021.
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement
pursuantto Regulation 14A, to be filed with the Commission not later than 120 days after the close of our fiscal year
ended December 31,2021.
PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) 1. Financial Statements

As part of this Annual Reporton Form 10-K, the consolidated financial statements are listed in the
accompanying indexto financial statementson page F-1.
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2. Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules have been omitted becausetheyare notrequired, notapplicable, not presentin amounts sufficient
to require submission of the schedule, or the required information is otherwise included.
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3. Exhibit Index

The followingis a list of exhibits filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K orare incorporated herein
by reference:

Exhibit

Number Description of Exhibit

3.1* Articles of Association of Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc (incorporated by referenceto Exhibit 3.1 to our
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 16, 2016)

4.1* Form of certificate evidencing ordinary shares (incorporated by referenceto Exhibit 4.1 to the
Company’s Registration Statementon Form F-1 (file no: 333-203267)).

4.2% Form of Deposit Agreementamong Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc, Citibank, N.A., as the depositary
bankand Holders and Beneficial Owners of ADSs issued thereunder (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no: 333-203267)).

4.3* Form of American Depositary Receipt (included in Exhibit 4.2) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3
to the Company’s Registration Statementon Form F-1 (file no: 333-203267)).

4.4** Description of the Registrant’s Securities.

10.1*% Collaboration Agreement, dated January 5, 2018, between Adaptimmune Limited and Cell Therapy
Catapult Limited (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 tothe Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-Kforthe yearended December 31,2017 filed with the SEC onMarch 15,2018).

10.2%+ Collaboration Agreement dated May 14, 2019 between Adaptimmune Limited and Al'S Operating Co.,
Inc., f/k/a Alpine Immune Sciences, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 10-Q
filed with the SEC on August 1,2019).

10.3*% Collaboration agreement datedas of August 26, 2019, by and between Adaptimmune Limitedand Noile -
Immune Biotech, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 toour Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
August 27,2019).

10.4*% Collaboration and License Agreement, dated January 13,2020, by and between Universal Cells, Inc.and
Adaptimmune Limited (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K forthe yearended December 31, 2019filed with the SEC on February 27,2020).

10.5*F Amended and Restated Research Collaboration and License Agreement, dated January 13,2020, by and
between Adaptimmune Limitedand Universal Cells, Inc. and effective as of November 25, 2015
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K fortheyear
ended December 31, 2019 filed with the SEC on February 27,2020).

10.6*} First Amendment to Commercial Developmentand Supply Agreement, dated November 23,2019,
between Adaptimmune Limited and Life Technologies Corporationand effectiveas of November 18,
2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 tothe Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K forthe
yearended December 31,2019 filed with the SEC on February 27,2020).

10.7*% Commercial Developmentand Supply Agreement, dated June 16,2016, by and between Life

Technologies Corporationand Adaptimmune Limited and effective asof June 1, 2016 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 21, 2016).
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Strategic Alliance Agreement, dated September 23, 2016, by and between Adaptimmune LLC and The
University Of Texas M.D. Anderson Cancer Center (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11to our
Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on November 10, 2016).

Strategic Collaborationand License Agreement, dated September 3,2021, by and between
Adaptimmune Limited and Genentech, Inc.and F. Hoffman-La Roche Limited (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1to our Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on November 4,2021).

Employment Agreementdated as of December 16,2020 by and between Adaptimmune, LLC and Elliot
Norry, and effective January 1,2021, (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1to our Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on December 16, 2020).

Employment Agreementdated as of August 1,2019 by and between Adaptimmune, LLC and John
Lunger (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 1,
2019).

Employment Agreementdated as of June 26,2019 by and between Adaptimmune, LLC and Adrian
Rawcliffe (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 27,
2019).

James Noble Letter Agreement dated June 26,2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 toour
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 27,2019).

James Noble Variation Agreementdated June 26,2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 27,2019).

James Noble Letter of Appointment dated June 26,2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 27,2019).

Letter of Appointment dated July 5,2018 and effectivefrom July 5, 2018 betweenthe Company and John
Furey (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 6,2018).

Employment Agreementdated as of March 15,2017 by and between Adaptimmune, LLC and William
Bertrand (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 15,
2017).

Service Agreementdated March 15,2017 between Adaptimmune Limitedand Helen Tayton-Martin
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 15, 2017).

Executive Severance policy of Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc, dated March 10,2017, and effective
March 10,2017 (incorporated by referenceto Exhibit 10.21to the Company’s Annual Reporton Form
10-Kforthe yearended December 31,2016 filed with the SEC onMarch 13,2017).

Letter of Appointment, dated May 23,2016 and effective June 23,2016, between the Company and

Barbara Duncan (incorporated by referenceto Exhibit 99.1to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June
23,2016).
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10.25*

10.26*

10.27*

10.28*

10.29*
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Letter of Appointment, dated August9, 2016 and effective August 11, 2016, between the Company and
David M. Mott (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August
12,2016).

Letter of Appointment, dated August9, 2016 and effective August 11,2016, between the Companyand
Lawrence M. Alleva (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
August 12,2016).

Letter of Appointment, dated August9, 2016 and effective August 11,2016, between the Companyand
Ali Behbahani (incorporated by referenceto Exhibit 10.3to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August
12,2016).

Letter of Appointment, dated August9, 2016 and effective August 11, 2016, between the Companyand
Elliott Sigal (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 12,
2016).

Service Agreementdated February 17,2020, between Adaptimmune Limited and Gavin Wood, and
effective April 1,2020, (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
February 18,2020).

Letter of Appointment, dated November 7, 2016 and effective November 14,2016, betweenthe
Company and Tal Zaks (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 toour Form 10-Q filed with the SEC
on November 10,2016).

Employment Agreement, dated January 26, 2022, between Adaptimmune, LLC and Cintia Piccina
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 26,
2022).

Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc Company Share Option Plan, dated March 16,2015, asamended on April
15,2015, as furtheramended on January 13,2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.32 to the
Company’s Transition Reporton Form 20-F filed with the SEC on March 17, 2016).

Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc 2015 Share Option Scheme, dated March 16,2015, as amended on April
15,2015, January 13,2016 and December 18,2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K forthe yearended December 31,2017 filed with the SEC on
March 15, 2018).

Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc 2016 Employee Share Option Scheme, dated January 14,2016, as
amendedon December 18,2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K forthe yearended December 31, 2017 filed with the SEC on March 15, 2018).

Adaptimmune Limited Share Option Scheme (Incorporating Management Incentive Options), as

amendedon January 13,2016 (incorporated by referenceto Exhibit 4.28 to the Company’s Transition
Report on Form 20-F filed with the SEC on March 17,2016).
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10.42%f

Adaptimmune Limited 2014 Share Option Scheme (Incorporating Enterprise Management Incentive
Options),asamended onJanuary 13,2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.29 to the Company’s
Transition Report on Form 20-F filed with the SEC on March 17, 2016).

Adaptimmune Limited Company Share Option Plan, dated December 16,2014, asamended o n January
13,2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.30to the Company’s Transition Report on Form 20-F
filed with the SEC on March17,2016).

Deed of Variation, dated August 20, 2021, between MEPC MiltonPark No. 1 Limited and MEPC Milton
Park No. 2 Limited and Adaptimmune Limitedrelatingto a lease of 39 Innovation Drive, MiltonPark
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 20,2021).

Rent Security Deposit Deed dated August20, 2021, between MEPC Milton Park No 1 Limitedand
MEPC Milton Park No. 2 Limited, Adaptimmune Limited and Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc relatingto
39 Innovation Drive and 60 Jubilee Avenue, Milton Park (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to
our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 20,2021).

Agreement dated August 13,2021, between MEPC MiltonParkNo 1 Limited and MEPC Milton Park
No. 2 Limited, Adaptimmune Limited and Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc relatingto 39 Innovation
Drive and 60 Jubilee Avenue, MiltonPark (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on August 13,2021).

Deed of Variationdated August 13,2021, between MEPC MiltonPark No 1 Limitedand MEPC Milton
Park No. 2 Limited, Adaptimmune Limited and Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc relatingto a lease of 60
Jubilee Avenue, Milton Park (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1to our Form 8-K filed with the
SECon August 13,2021).

Lease, dated February 28,2018, between MEPC Milton Park No. 1 Limited, MEPC MiltonPark No. 2
Limited and Adaptimmune Limited relatingto 39 Innovation Drive, Milton Park (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Annual Reporton Form 10-K fortheyear ended December
31,2017 filed with the SEC onMarch 15,2018).

Rent Security Deposit Deed, dated February 28, 2018, between MEPC Milton Park No. 1 Limited,
MEPC Milton Park No. 2 Limited and Adaptimmune Limited relatingto 39 Innovation Drive, Milton
Park (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Annual Report onForm 10-K forthe
yearended December 31,2017 filed with the SEC on March 15,2018)..

Lease, dated October 24,2016, by and between MEPC Milton Park No. 1 Limited and MEPC Milton
Park No. 2 Limited, Adaptimmune Limitedand Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc relatingto 60 Jubilee
Avenue Milton Park (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12to our Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on
November 10,2016).

Lease Agreement, dated July 28, 2015, between L/S 351 Rouse Boulevard, LP, and Adaptimmune LLC
relatingto 351 Rouse Boulevard, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.14 to
the Company’s Transition Report on Form 20-F filed with the SEC on October 13, 2015).

Amendment Agreement No. 6, dated July 20,2018 between Adaptimmune Limited and GlaxoS mithKline

Intellectual Property Development Ltd. (incorporated by referenceto Exhibit 10.1to our Form 10-Q filed
with the SEC on August 2,2018).
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Number Description of Exhibit

10.43*f Amendment Agreement No. 5, dated September 7,2017 between Adaptimmune Limitedand
GlaxoSmithKline Intellectual Property DevelopmentLtd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1to
our Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on November 2, 2017).

10.44%% Amendment Agreement No. 2, dated February 2, 2016 between Adaptimmune Limited and
GlaxoSmithKline Intellectual Property Development Ltd (incorporated by referenceto Exhibit 4.4 to the
Company’s Transition Reporton Form 20-F filed with the SEC on March 17, 2016).

10.45*F Amendment Agreement No. 1, dated May 8, 2015 between Adaptimmune Limited and GlaxoSmithKline
Intellectual Property Development Ltd (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s
Transition Report on Form 20-F filed with the SEC on March 17, 2016).

10.46*1 Collaboration and License Agreement, dated May 30, 2014 between Adaptimmune Limitedand
GlaxoSmithKline Intellectual Property Development Ltd (incorporated by referenceto Exhibit 10.2to
our Registration Statementon Form F-1 (file no: 333-203267)).

21.1* List of Subsidiaries (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 21.1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-K forthe yearended December 31,2020 filed with the SEC on February 25,2021).

23.1** Consentof KPMGLLP

31.1** Certificate of Chief Executive Officer pursuantto 17 CFR 240.13a-14@).

31.2** Certificate of Chief Financial Officer pursuantto 17 CFR 240.13a-14(a).

32.1** Certificate of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 17 CFR 240.13a-14(b)and 18 U.S.C.1350.

32.2** Certificate of Chief Financial Officer pursuantto 17 CFR 240.13a-14(b) and 18 U.S.C.1350.

101.INS**  XBRL Instance Document— the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because
its XBRL tagsare embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

101.SCH** Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL** Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.DEF** Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

101.LAB** Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE** Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

104** CoverPage Interactive Data File (formatted in Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).

*  Previously filed.

** Filed herewith.

1 Confidential treatment has been granted with respect to portions of this exhibit. Acomplete copy of this exhibit,
includingthe redacted terms, has been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirementsof Section 13or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registranthas
duly causedthisreport tobe signed on its behalf by the undersigned, hereunto duly authorized, on March 14,2022.

ADAPTIMMUNE THERAPEUTICSPLC

By: /s/ Adrian Rawcliffe

Name: Adrian Rawcliffe
Title: Chief Executive Officer and Director

POWEROFATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONSBY THESE PRESENTS, thateach person whose signature appears below constitutes
and appoints Adrian Rawcliffe and Gavin Wood, and each of them, ashisor her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and
agent, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him orherandin hisorhername, place andstead, in any
and all capacities, to sign any andallamendments to this Annual Reporton Form 10-K, andto file the same, with all
exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting
unto said attorneys-in-factand agents, and each of them, full power and authority to doand performeachandeveryact
and thingrequisite and necessary to be donein connectiontherewith, as fully to all intentsand purposes as he orshe
might orcould do in person, hereby ratifyingand confirmingall thatsaid attorneys-in-factand agents, orany of themor
theiror his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or causeto be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirementsof the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this reporthas beensigned by the
followingpersons on March 14,2022, in the capacities indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Adrian Rawcliffe Chief Executive Officer and Director March 14,2022
Adrian Rawcliffe (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Gavin Wood Chief Financial Officer March 14,2022
Gavin Wood (Principal Accounting and Financial Officer)
/s/ David M. Mott Chairmanof theBoard of Directors March 14,2022
David M. Mott
/sl Lawrence M. Alleva Director March 14,2022
Lawrence M. Alleva
/s/ Ali Behbahani, MD Director March 14,2022
Ali Behbahani, MD
/s/ Barbara Duncan Director March 14,2022
Barbara Duncan
/s/John Furey Director March 14,2022
John Furey
/s/ James Noble Director March 14,2022
James Noble
/s/ Elliott Sigal, MD, PhD Director March 14,2022
Elliott Sigal, MD, PhD
/sl TalZaks, MD, PhD Director March 14,2022

TalZaks,MD, PhD
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Stockholdersand Board of Directors Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc:

Opinionon the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Adaptimmune Therapeutics Plc and
subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31,2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements of operations,
comprehensive loss, changes in equity, and cash flows foreach of theyears in the three year period ended December 31,
2021,andthe related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated
financial statements present fairly, in allmaterial respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31,
2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows foreach ofthe yearsin the threeyear period ended

December 31,2021, in conformity with U.S. generally acceptedaccounting principles.

We also haveaudited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reportingas of December31,2021, basedon
criteria establishedin Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated March 14,2022 expressed an adverse opinionon the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Basisfor Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility isto expressanopinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public
accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordancewith the U.S. federal securities laws and theapplicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commissionand the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require thatwe plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance aboutwhether the consolidated financial statements are free of
material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Ouraudits included performing procedures to assess therisks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures
that respond tothose risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, aswellas evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated

financial statements. We believe thatouraudits provide a reasonable basis forour opinion.
Critical AuditMatters

The criticalaudit matter communicated below is a matterarising from the current period aud it of the
consolidated financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to theaudit committeeand
that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our
especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of a critical audit matter does notalterin
any way ouropinionon theconsolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the
critical audit matter below, providing separate opinions onthe critical audit matter or on theaccounts or disclosures to
which it relates.

Evaluation of estimation of costs to complete for Astellas collaboration agreement

As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company recorded revenue of $6.149
million duringthe yearended December 31,2021, a portion of which related to the Astellas collaborationagreement. As
discussed in Note 2, for research and developmentactivities carried outunder the Astellas collaboration agreement, the
Company recognizes revenue over time based on costs incurred compared to total expected costs for that project. This
determination requires the company to estimate cost-to-complete, which is done at every reporting period based on the
latest projectplanand discussions with projectteams.
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We identified the evaluation of estimation of costs to completeforthe Astellas collaboration agreementasa
criticalaudit matter. A high degree of auditor judgement was involved in assessing theappropriateness of the costs to
complete estimated by the company.

This determination requires the company to estimate cost-to-complete, which isdone atevery reporting period
based onthe latestproject plan and discussions with project teams.

The followingare the primary procedures we performed toaddress this critical audit matter.

-We evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of certain internal controls related to the
revenue process, including controls relatedto the initial development and periodic reassessment of estimates of costs to

complete.

-We evaluated factors used in determiningthe stage of completion, by assessing the Company’s assumptions
underlyingthe estimate of total contract costs to be incurred and comparing them to similar research and development
projects carried out by the Company.

-We compared the Company’s estimate of total contract costs to be incurred to the actual costs incurred to
assess the Company’s ability to accurately estimate COSts.

-We compareda selection of costsincurred to dateto timesheetdata or third -party costs to assess theaccuracy
of information used in determining revenue to be recognised.

-We inquired of theprojectmanager and alliancedirector of the project to evaluate factors impacting the costs
to complete, including progress to date and the estimate of remaining costs to be incurred

-We inspected minutes of Joint Steering Committee meetings betweenthe Company and Astellas to evaluate
factorsimpacting costs to complete and compared it with the outcome of the inquiries stated above.

/s KPMGLLP
We have servedas the Company’s auditor since 2010.

Reading, United Kingdom
March 14,2022
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Stockholdersand Board of Directors Adaptimmune Therapeutics Plc:

Opinionon Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Adaptimmune Therapeutic Plc’s and subsidiaries’ (the Company) internal controlover
financialreportingasof December 31,2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Inour opinion, because of
the effect of the material weakness, described below, on the achievementof theobjectives of the control criteria, the
Company has not maintained effective internal control over financial reportingas of December 31,2021, based on
criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We also haveaudited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31,2021 and 2020, the
related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, changes in equity, and cash flows foreach ofthe
yearsin the three-year period ended December 31,2021, andthe related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial
statements), and our report dated March 14, 2022 expressed an unqualified opinion onthose consolidated financial
statements.

A materialweakness isa deficiency, ora combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial
reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement ofthe company’s annual or interim
financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. A material weakness relatedto therisk
assessment process over the design, im plementation, and operational effectivenessof controls over deferred income
taxes, specifically the accounting for deferred incometax asset valuation allowance has beenidentifiedandincluded in
management’s assessment. Thematerial weakness was considered in determining the nature, timing, and extentof audit
testsapplied in our audit of the 2021 consolidated financial statements, and this report does not affectour report on those

consolidated financial statements.
Basisfor Opinion

The Company’s managementis responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting
and foritsassessmentof theeffectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying
Management’s Report Regarding the Effectiveness of Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion onthe Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public
accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordancewith the U.S. federal securities laws and theapplicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange

Commissionand the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require thatwe plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance aboutwhether effective internal control over financial reporting
was maintainedin all material respects. Ouraudit ofinternal control over financial reporting included obtainingan
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk thata material weakness exists, and testing
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on theassessed risk. Ouraudit also
included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe thatour audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regardingthe reliability of financial reportingand the preparation of financial statements for external purposesin
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includesthosepoliciesand procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately
and fairly reflectthe transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and thatreceipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
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prevention or timely detection of unauthorized a cquisition, use, or disposition ofthe company’s assets that could havea
material effect onthe financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not preventor detect
misstatements. Also, projections ofany evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to therisk that controls
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Reading, United Kingdom
March 14,2022
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Assets

Currentassets
Cash andcash equivalents

ADAPTIMMUNE THERAPEUTICSPLC

CONSOLIDATEDBALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share data)

Marketable securities - available-for-sale debt securities
Accountsreceivable, netof allowance for doubtful accounts of $0 and $0
Othercurrent assetsand prepaid expenses

Total currentassets

Restricted cash

Hi Operating lease right-of-use assets, net of accumulated amortization
Property, plantand equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $36,253

(2020: $31,097)

Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization

Total assets

Liabilitiesand stockholders’ equity

Currentliabilities
Accounts payable

Operating leaseliabilities, current
Accrued expenses and other accrued liabilities

Deferred revenue, current
Total currentliabilities

Operating leaseliabilities, non-current
Deferred revenue, non-current
Other liabilities, non-current

Total liabilities

Stockholders’ equity

Common stock - Ordinary shares parvalue £0.001, 1,240,853,520 a uthorized
and 937,547,934 issuedand outstanding (2020: 1,038,249,630 authorizedand
928,754,958 issued and outstanding)

Additional paid in capital

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders* equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

December 31,
2021

149,948
219,632
752
45,126

415,458

1,718
20,875

30,494
1,000

469,545

8,113
2,320
29,909
22,199

62,541

23,148
177,223
673

263,585

1,337
959,611
(11,142)

(743,346)

205,960

$

469,545

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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December 31,
2020

$ 56,882
311,335
139

29,796
398,152

4,602
18,880

27,778
1,730
$ 451,142

$ 6,389
2,773
27,079
2,832
39,073

20,938
49,260
644
109,915

1,325
935,706
(10,048)

(585,756)

T 341,227

$ 451142



ADAPTIMMUNE THERAPEUTICSPLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, exceptshare and per sharedata)

Period Ended

December 31, December 31, December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Developmentrevenue $ 6,149 $ 3,958 $ 1,122
Revenue 6,149 3,958 1,122
Operating expenses
Researchanddevelopment (111,090) (91,568) (97,501)
Generaland administrative (57,305) (45,795) (43,391)
Total operating expenses (168,395) (137,363) (140,892)
Operating loss (162,246) (133,405) (139,770)
Interestincome 1,095 2,313 2,772
Otherincome (expense), net 3,852 1,162 75
Loss before income tax expense (157,299) (129,930) (136,923)
Income taxexpense (791) (162) (242)
Net loss attributableto ordinaryshareholders $ (158,090) $ (130,092) $ (137,165)
Net loss per ordinaryshare

Basic anddiluted $ 0.17) $ (0.15) $ 0.22)
Weighted averageshares outstanding:

Basic anddiluted 034,833017  854,783763  629,805218

See accompanyingnotes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ADAPTIMMUNE THERAPEUTICSPLC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(in thousands)

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Net loss $(158,090) $ (130,092) $ (137,165)
Other comprehensive (Ioss) income, net of tax
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of tax of $0, $0,and $0 5,808 (19,220) (9,478)
Foreign currency gains (losses) on intercompany loan ofa long-term
investment nature, net of tax of $0, $0, and $0 (6,435) 16,364 11,783
Unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale debt securities
Unrealized holding gains (losses) on available-for-sale debt securities, net
of tax of$0,$0,and$0 (461) 161 207
Reclassificationadjustment for gains on available-for-sale debt securities
included in net loss, net of tax of $0, $0 and $0 (6) (89) (13)
Total comprehensive loss for the period $(159,184) $ (132,876) $ (134,666)

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ADAPTIMMUNE THERAPEUTICSPLC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES INEQUITY

Balance as of January 1, 2019

Issuance of shares upon exercise of stock
options

Other comprehensive income
Share-based compensation expense

Net loss

Balance as of December 31, 2019
Issuance of shares upon exercise of stock
options

Issuance of shares in the January Offering
Issuance of shares upon exercise of the
overallotment for the January Offering
Issuance of shares in the June Offering
Issuance of shares upon exercise of the
overallotment for the June Offering
Other comprehensive loss

Share-based compensation expense

Net loss

Balance as of December 31, 2020
Issuance of shares upon exercise of stock
options

Issuance of shares under the At The Market
program, net of expenses

Other comprehensive loss

Share-based compensation expense

Net loss

Balance as of December 31, 2021

See accompanyingnotes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(in thousands, exceptshare data)

Accumulated
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other
comprehensive Total
Common Common Additional (loss) Accumulated stockholders’
stock stock paid in capital income deficit equity

627,454,270 $ 939 $ 574,208 $ (9,763) $ (318,499) $ 246,885
3,549,298 4 362 — — 366
— — — 2,499 — 2,499
— — 11,053 — — 11,053

— — — — (137,165) (137,165)
631,003,568 943 585,623 (7,264) (455,664) 123,638
11,401,390 14 5,649 — — 5,663
126,000,000 165 78,451 — — 78,616
18,900,000 24 11,914 — — 11,938
123,000,000 155 209,831 — — 209,986
18,450,000 24 33,824 — — 33,848
— — — (2,784) — (2,784)
— — 10,414 — 5 10,414

— — — — (130,092) (130,092)
928,754,958 1,325 935,706 (10,048) (585,756) 341,227
5,723,646 8 751 — — 759
3,069,330 4 2,525 — — 2,529
— — — (1,094) — (1,094)
— — 20,629 — — 20,629

— — — — (158,090) (158,090)
937,547,934 $ 1337 $ 959,611 $ (11,142) $ (743,846) $ 205,960




ADAPTIMMUNE THERAPEUTICSPLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2021 2020 2019
Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss $ (158,090) $(130,092) $(137,165)
Adjustments to reconcile netloss to net cashused in operating activities:
Depreciation 5,630 6,627 7,172
Amortization 937 967 838
Share-based compensation expense 20,629 10,414 11,053
Unrealized foreign exchange gains/(losses) 540 (1,333) 1,076
Amortization/(accretion) on available-for-sale debtsecurities 5,276 3,836 (185)
Other 1,173 (55) (13)
Changesin operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase)/decrease in receivables and other operating assets (19,358) 1,747 (1,436)
Decrease/(increase) in non-current operating assets — 2,458 (1,450)
Increase in payablesand other current liabilities 4,207 3,867 5,508
Increase in deferred revenue 149,785 47,973 2,095
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 10,729 (53,591) (112,507)
Cashflows from investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (8,574) (2,341) (1,592)
Acquisition of intangible assets (207) (565) (1,482)
Maturity or redemption of marketable securities 224,343 105,022 125,303
Investment in marketable securities (139,762)  (381,040) (27,284)
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities 75,800 (278,924) 94,945
Cashflows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common stock from offerings, net of
commissions and issuance costs 2,529 334,388 —
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 759 5,663 366
Net cash provided by financing activities 3,288 340,051 366
Effect of currency exchange ratechanges on cash, cash equivalents and
restricted cash 365 (960) (372)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 90,182 6,576 (17,568)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at start of period 61,484 54,908 72,476
Cash, cashequivalents and restricted cash atend of period $ 151,666 $ 61,484 $ 54,908
Supplemental cash flow information
Interest received $ 7,765 $ 6,216 $ 3,426
(Amortization)/accretion on available-for-sale debt securities (5,276) (3,836) 185
Income taxes paid 535 75 201

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ADAPTIMMUNE THERAPEUTICSPLC
NOTESTO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 — General

Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc is registered in England and Wales. Its registered office is 60 Jubilee Avenue,
Milton Park, Abingdon, Oxfordshire, OX14 4RX, United Kingdom. Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc and its subsidiaries
(collectively “Adaptimmune” or the “Company”)is a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company primarily focusedon
providing novel celltherapies to people with cancer. The Company is a leader in the development of T-cell therapies for
solid tumors. The Company’s proprietary platform enables it to identify cancer targets, find and develop cell therapy
candidates active againstthose targets and produce therapeutic candidates foradministration to patients.

The Company issubjectto a number of risks similarto other biopharmaceutical companies in the early stage of
clinicaldevelopment including, butnotlimited to, the needto obtain adequate additional funding, possible failure of
preclinical programs or clinical programs, the need to obtain marketingapproval for its cell therapies, competitors
developing newtechnological innovations, the need to successfully commercialize and gainmarketacceptance of its cell
therapies, the needto developa reliable commercial manufacturing process, the need to commercialize any cell therapies
that may beapproved for marketing, and protection of proprietary technology. If the Company does notsuccessfully
commercialize any of its cell therapies, it will be unable to generate productrevenue or achieve profitability. The
Company hadan accumulated deficit of $743,846,000 as of December 31, 2021.

Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

@) Basis of presentation

The Consolidated Financial Statements of Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc and its subsidiaries and other
financial information included in this Annual Report have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States of America (“US GAAP”’)and are presented in U.S. dollars. All significant
intercompany accounts and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries have beeneliminated on

consolidation.
(b) Use of estimates in financial statements

The preparation of financial statements, in conformity with U.S. GAAP and SEC regulations, requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of
contingent assetsand liabilities at the date of the Consolidated Financial Statements and reported amounts of revenues
and expenses duringthe reporting period. Estimates and assumptions are primarily made in relationto revenue
recognition, estimation of the incremental borrowing rate for operating leases, and valuationallowances relating to
deferred tax assets. If actual results differ from the Company’s estimates, or to the extent these estimates are adjusted in
future periods, the Company’s results of operations could either benefit from, orbe adversely a ffected by, any such
change in estimate.

(© Going concern

In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”)205-40, Going Concern, the Company has
evaluated whetherthere are conditions and events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt aboutthe
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year a fter the date the financial statements are issued.

Managementconsiders that there are no conditions or events, in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubtabout
the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern fora period of at least one year from the datethe financial statements
are issued. Althoughthe financial statements have been prepared ona going concernbasis, if the Company fails to
obtain sufficient additional financing in future, this may raise substantial doubt over the Company’s ability to continue
asagoingconcernin future reporting periods.
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(d) Foreigncurrency

Thereporting currency of the Company isthe U.S. dollar. The Company has determinedthe functional
currency ofthe ultimate parentcompany, Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc, is U.S. dollars because it predominately raises
finance andexpends cashin U.S. dollars. The functional currency of subsidiary operations is the applicable local
currency. Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency of the subsidiary in which they
occurattheforeign exchange rate in effecton at the dateof thetransaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies at the balance sheetdate are translated into the functional currency of the relevantsubsidiary at the
foreign exchange ratein effect onthe balance sheet date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are
recognized within other income (expense) in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

The Company’s U.K. subsidiary has anintercompany loanbalance in U.S dollars payable to the ultimate parent
company, Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc. Beginningon July 1, 2019, the intercompany loanwas considered of a long-
term investment natureas repayment is not planned or anticipated in the foreseeable future. It is Adaptimmune
Therapeutics plc’s intent not to request payment of the intercompany loan for the foreseeable future. The foreign
exchange gain orlosses arising on the revaluation of intercompany loans of a long-temm investment nature are reported
within other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax.

The results of operations for subsidiaries, whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar, are translated at an
average rate forthe period where this rate approximates to theforeign exchange rates rulingat the dates of the
transactions and thebalance sheetare translated at foreign exchange rates rulingat the balance sheet date. Exchange
differencesarising fromthis translation of foreign operations are reportedas an item of other comprehensive (loss)
income.

Foreign exchange gains for the years ended December 31,2021 and 2020 of $3,853,000and $1,105,000 and
foreign exchange losses of $137,000 for the yearended December 31, 2019 respectively, are included within Other
(expense) income, netin the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

() Fair value measurements

The Companyisrequired to disclose informationon allassets and liabilities reported atfair value that enables
anassessment ofthe inputs usedin determining the reported fair values. The fairvalue hierarchy prioritizes valuation
inputs based on the observable nature of those inputs. The hierarchy defines three levels of valuationinputs:

Level 1 — Quoted pricesin activemarkets for identical assets or liabilities

Level2 — Inputs other thanquoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for theasset or liability,
eitherdirectly orindirectly

Level 3— Unobservable inputs that reflect the Company’s own assumptions about the assumptions market
participants would use in pricingthe asset or lia bility

The carryingamounts ofthe Company’s cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable,
accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate fair value because of the short-term nature of these instruments.
The fairvalue of marketable securities, which are measured at fair value ona recurring basis is detailed in Note 4,
Financial Instruments.
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Q) Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income

The Company reports foreign currency translation adjustments and the foreign exchange gain or losses arising
on the revaluation of intercompany loans of a long-term investment nature within Other comprehensive (loss) income.
Unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale debtsecurities are also reported within Other comprehensive (loss)
income untila gain orlossis realized, at which pointthey are reclassified to Other (expense) income, net in the
Consolidated Statementof Operations.

The followingtable shows the changes in Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income (in thousands):

Accumulated Accumulated Total
foreign unrealized accumulated
currency gains (losses) on other

translation  available-for-sale comprehensive
adjustments debtsecurities  (loss) income

Balance at January 1, 2019 $ (9,607) $ (156)$ (9,763)
Foreign currency translation adjustments (9,478) — (9,478)
Foreign currency gains on intercompany loan of a long-term investment nature, net
of tax of $0 11,783 — 11,783
Unrealized holding losses on available-for-sale debt securities, net of tax of $0 — 207 207
Reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income of losses on
available-for-sale debt securities included in netincome, net of tax of $0 (13) (13)

Balance at December 31,2019 (7,302) 38 (7,264)
Foreign currency translation adjustments (19,220) — (19,220)
Foreign currency gains on intercompany loan of a long-term investment nature, net
of tax of $0 16,364 — 16,364
Unrealized holding gains on available-for-sale debt securities, net of tax of $0 — 161 161
Reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income of gains on
available-for-sale debt securities included in netincome, net of tax of $0 — (89) (89)

Balance at December 31, 2020 (10,158) 110 (10,048)
Foreign currency translation adjustments 5,808 — 5,808
Foreign currency losses on intercompany loan of a long-term investment nature, net
of tax of $0 (6,435) — (6,435)
Unrealized holding gains on available-for-sale debt securities, net of tax of $0 — (461) (461)
Reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income of gains on
available-for-sale debt securities included in net loss, net of tax of $0 — (6) (6)

Balance at December 31,2021 $ (10,785) $ (357)% (11,142)

The followingamounts were reclassified outof Other comprehensive (loss) income (in thousands):

Amount reclassified
Year ended  Year ended  Year ended

December 31, December 31, December 31, Affected lineitem in
Component of accumulated other comprehensive income 2021 2020 2019 the Statement of operations

Unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale

securities
Reclassification adjustment for (gains) losses on available-for- Other (expense)
sale debt securities $ (6) $ (89) $ (13) income, net
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@)

Cash, cashequivalentsand restricted cash

The Company considersall highly liquid investments with a maturity at acquisition date of three months or less
to be cash equivalents. Cashand cash equivalents comprise cash balances, commercial paper and corporate debt
securities with maturities of threemonths or less at acquisition and short deposits with maturities of three months or less.

The Company’s restricted cash consists of cash providing security for letters of credit in respectof lease

agreementsand credit cards.

The followingtable provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash reported within the
balancesheetthat sumto thetotal of the samesuchamounts shown in the statement of cash flows (in thousands).

December 31, December 31,
2021 2020
Cash and cash equivalents $ 149,948 $ 56,882
Restricted cash 1,718 4,602
Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash shown in the statement of
cash flows $ 151,666 $ 61,484

Available-for-sale debtsecurities

(h)

As of December 31,2021, the Company hasthefollowing investments in avail
thousands):

able-for-sale debt securities, (in

Gross Gross Aggregate
Remaining Amortized unrealized unrealized estimated
contractual maturity cost gains losses fairvalue

Available-for-saledebt securities:
Corporate debt securities Lessthan3months $ 45304 $ 22 $ (21) $ 45,305
Corporate debt securities 3monthsto 1 year 81,590 11 (75) 81,526
Agency bonds lyearto 2 years 5,000 — @) 4,993
Corporate debt securities lyearto 2 years 88,095 — (287) 87,808
$219989 $ 33 $ (390) $219632

As of December 31,2020, the Company had the following investments in available-for-sale debtsecurities (in

thousands):

Gross Gross Aggregate
Remaining Amortized unrealized unrealized estimated
contractual maturity cost gains losses fairvalue

Available-for-saledebt securities:
Corporate debt securities Lessthan3months $ 67,545 $ 56 $ (20) $ 67,581
Corporate debt securities 3monthstolyear 101447 92 (24) 101515
Agency bonds lyearto 2 years 5,993 8 — 6,001
Corporate debt securities lyearto 2 years 136,238 112 (112) 136,238
$311223 $ 268 $ (156) $311335
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Managementdetermines the appropriate classification of its investments in available-for-sale debtsecurities at
the time of purchase and reevaluates suchdesignationas of eachreporting date. The securities are classified as current or
non-currentbased on the maturity dates and management’s intentions.

At December 31,2021, the Company has classified all of its available-for-sale debt securities, including those
with maturities beyond one year, as currentassets onthe accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets based onthe
highly-liquid nature of these investment securities and because these investment securities are considered available for
use in current operations.

The investment in available-for-sale debt securities is measured at fair valueateach reportingdate. Unrealized
gainsand lossesare excluded from earnings andare reported asa componentof Other comprehensive (loss) income, net
of tax. Realized gains and losses are included in Other income (expense), net. Interestincomeand amortization of
premiumsanddiscounts at acquisition are included in Interest income. Inthe yearended December 31,2021, 2020and
2019 proceeds from the maturity or redemption of available-for-sale debtsecurities were $224,343,000 $105,022,000
and $125,303,000 respectively. There were realized gains of $6,000, $89,000and $13,000 recognized on early
settlementof available-for-sale debtsecurities during the years ended December 31,2021, 2020 and 2019 respectively.
The Company reclassified the gains and losses outof accumulated other comprehensive loss during the same periods.

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether each individual investment isimpaired, which occurs if
the fairvalue is less than theamortized cost, adjusted foramortization of premiums and discounts at acquisition. If the
investment isimpaired, the impairmentis assessed to determine if it is other than temporary. Impairments judgedto be
otherthantemporary are included in other (expense) income, net when they are identified.

The aggregatefairvalue (in thousands) and number of securities held by the Company (including those
classified as cashequivalents) in an unrealized loss positionas of December 31,2021 and 2020areas follows (in
thousands):

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Fair market Number of Fair market Number of
value of investments value of investments
investments inan investments inan
inan unrealized inan unrealized
unrealized loss Unrealized unrealized loss Unrealized
loss position _ position losses loss position _ position losses
Marketable securities in a continuous loss
positionfor 12monthsor longer:
Corporate debt securities $ 8,232 1% (35 % — — —
Marketable securities ina continuous loss
positionfor lessthan 12 months:
Corporate debt securities $163,258 34 $ (348) $157985 30 $ (158)
Agency bond 4,993 1 (7) — —

$176483 $ 36 $ (390) $157985 $ 30 $ (158)

As of December 31,2021 and 2020, these securities are not considered to be other thantemporarily impaired
because the impairments are notsevere, have been fora shortdurationandare due to normal market and exchangerate
fluctuations. Only one security has been in an unrealized loss position for more than one year with a net total unrealized
loss of $35,000. Furthermore, the Company does not intendto sell the debt securities in an unrealized loss position,a nd
it is unlikely thatthe Company will be required to sellthese securities beforethe recovery of the amortized cost.

The cost of securities sold is based onthe specific-identification method. Interest on debtsecurities is included
in interest income.
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Our investment in available-for-sale debt securities is subject to credit risk. The Company’s investment policy
limits investments to certaintypes of instruments, such as money market instruments and corporate debtsecurities,
placesrestrictions on maturities and concentration by typeand issuer and specifies the minimum credit ratings forall
investments andtheaverage credit quality ofthe portfolio.

(i) Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable include amounts billed to customers and accrued receivables where only the passage of
time is required before payment of amounts due.

Managementanalyses currentand past due accounts and determines if an allowance for uncollectible accounts
is required based on collection experience and other relevantinformation. As of December 31,2021 and 2020, the
allowance for doubtfulaccounts is $nil. The process of estimating the uncollectible accounts involves assumptions and
judgments andthe ultimate amounts of uncollectible accounts receivable could be in excess of theamounts provided.

() Clinical materials

Clinical materials for use in research and development with alternative future use are capitalized as either other
current assets or other non-current assets, depending on thetiming of their expected consumption. The Company
assesses whenever events or changes in circumstances indicatethatanasset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable.
(K) Property, plantand equipment

Property, plantand equipmentis stated atcost, less any impairment losses, less accumulated depreciation.

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets.
The followingtable provides therange of estimated useful lives used for eachassettype:

Computer equipment 3to5 years

Laboratory equipment 5years

Office equipment 5years
Leaseholdimprovements the expected duration of the lease

Assets under constructionare not depreciated until the assetis available and ready for its intended use.

The Company assesses property, plantand equipmentforimpairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate thatanasset’s carryingamountmay not be recoverable.

() Intangibles

Intangibles primarily includeacquired software licenses and third party software in development, whichare
recorded at costand amortized over the estimated useful lives of approximately three years.

Intangibles are assessed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that an asset’s
carryingamountmay notbe recoverable.

(m) Leases

The Company determines whetheran arrangementis a lease at contract inception by establishing if the contract
conveystheright to use, or control the use of, identified property, plant, or equipmentfora period of timein exchange
for consideration. Leases may be classified as finance leases or operating leases. All the Company’s leases are classified
asoperating leases. Operating leaseright-of-use (ROU) assets and operating lease liabilities recognized in the
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Consolidated Balance Sheetrepresentthe right to use anunderlyingasset for the lease term andanobligation to make
lease paymentsarising from the leaserespectively.

Operating lease ROU assets and operating lease liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date
based onthe present value of minimum lease payments over the leaseterm. Since the rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rates (the rate of interest that the Company would
have to pay to borrowona collateralized basis overa similarterm foranamount equal to the lease payments in a similar
economic environment) based onthe information available atcommencement date in determining the discount rate used
to calculatethe present value of lease payments. Asthe Company has no external borrowings, the incremental borrowing
ratesare determined using information onindicative borrowing rates that would be available to the Company based on
the value, currency and borrowing term provided by financial institutions, adjusted for company and marketspecific
factors. The lease termis based on the non-cancellable periodin the lease contract, and options to extend the lease are
included whenit is reasonably certain thatthe Company will exercise that option. Any terminationfees are included in
the calculationof theROU assetand lease liability when it isassumedthatthe lease willbe terminated.

The Companyaccounts for lease components (e.g. fixed payments including rent and termination costs)
separately from non-lease components (e.g. common-area maintenance costs and service charges based on utilization)

which are recognized over the period in which the obligation occurs.

At each reporting date, the operating lease liabilities are increased by interestand reduced by repayments made
underthe lease agreements.

The ROU asset is subsequently measured foran operating leaseat the amount of the remeasured lease liability
(i.e. the presentvalueof theremaining lease payments), adjusted for theremaining balance of any lease incentives
received, any cumulative prepaid oraccrued rent if the lease payments are uneven throughout the leaseterm, and any
unamortized initial direct costs.

The Company has operating leases in relation to property for office andresearch facilities. All of the leases
have terminationoptions, and it isassumedthatthe initial termination options for the buildings will be activated for most
of these. The maximum lease term withoutactivation of termination options isto 2041.

In May 2017, the Company entered intoanagreement for the lease ofa buildingat Milton Park, Oxfordshire,
United Kingdomand in February 2018 the Company entered into the lease for that facility. The term of the lease expires
on October 23,2041, with termination options exercisable by the Company in October 2031 and October 2036.

In September 2015, the Company entered into an agreement fora 25-year lease, with early termination options,
fora researchanddevelopment facility in Oxfordshire, United Kingdom. In October 2016, the Company entered into
the lease for that facility following the completion of construction.

InJuly 2015, the Companyentered intoa 15 year leaseagreement, with an early termination optionat 123
months, for offices and research facilities in Philadelphia, United States. The lease commenced upon completion of
construction in October 2016.

In August 2021, the Company entered into a two year lease agreement for theleaseof a buildingat Milton
Park, Oxfordshire, United Kingdom. The term of the lease expireson August12,2023.

The Company haselected not to recognizean ROU assetand lease liability for short-term leases. Ashort-term
lease is a lease with a leaseterm of 12 months or lessand which does not include an optionto purchasethe underlying
asset thatthe lessee is reasonably certain to exercise.

Operating leasecosts are recognized ona straight-line basis overtheleaseterm, and they are categorized within
Researchand development and Generaland administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. The
operating lease cash flows are categorized under Net cash used in operatingactivities in the Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows.
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(n) Segmental reporting

Operating segments are identifiedas components of an enterprise about which separate discrete financial
informationis available for evaluation by the chief operating decision-maker in making decisions regarding resource
allocationand assessing performance. The Company’s chiefoperating decision maker (the “CODM”), its Chief
Executive Officer, manages the Company’s operations on an integrated basis for the purposes of allocating resources.
When evaluatingthe Company’s financial performance, the CODM reviews total revenues, total expenses and expenses
by functionand the CODM makes decisions usingthis information ona global basis. Accordingly, the Company has

determinedthatit operates in one operating segment.
(0) Revenue
Revenue isrecognized so as to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amountthat
reflects the consideration to whichthe entity expects to be entitled in exchangeforthose goods or services. To achieve
that core principle, anentity should apply thefollowing steps:
Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer.
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract.
Step 3: Determine thetransaction price.
Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract.
Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.
Variable consideration
The Company determines the variable considerationto be included in the transaction price by estimating the
most likely amount that will be received and thenapplies a constraint to reduce the considerationto theamount which is
probable ofbeingreceived. The determination of whethera milestoneis probable includes consideration of the following
factors:
e whetherachievement ofa development milestoneis highly susceptible to factors outside the entity’s influence,
such as milestones involvingthe judgment oractions of third parties, including regulatory bodies orthe

customer;

e whetherthe uncertainty about theachievement of the milestoneis not expectedto be resolved fora long period
of time;

e whetherthe Company canreasonably predict that a milestonewill be achieved based on previous experience;
and

e the complexity andinherent uncertainty underlying the achievementof the milestone.

Percentage of completion

The determination of the percentage of completion requires the Company to estimate the costs-to-complete the
project. The Company makes a detailed estimate of the costs-to-complete, which is re-assessed every reporting period
based onthe latestproject plan and discussions with project teams. If a change in facts or circumstances occurs, the
estimate willbe adjustedand the revenue will be recognized based on therevised estimate. The difference between the
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cumulative revenuerecognized based on the previous estimate and therevenue recognized based onthe revised estimate
would be recognizedasan adjustment to revenuein the period in which the change in estimate occurs.

Contract assets and liabilities

The Company recognizesa contract asset, when the value of satisfied (or part satisfied) performance obligations
is in excess of the paymentdueto the Company, and deferred revenue (contract liability) when theamount of
unconditional considerationis in excess of thevalue of satisfied (or part satisfied) performance obligations. Once aright
to receive consideration is unconditional, that amountis presentedas a receivable.

Changes in deferred revenuetypically arise dueto:

e adjustmentsarisingfroma change in the estimate of the cost to complete the project, which results in
a cumulative catch-up adjustmentto revenue that affects the corresponding contract assetor deferred
revenue;

e achangeinthe estimateof the transaction price dueto changes in the assessment of whether variable
considerationis constrained becauseit is not considered probable of beingreceived;

e therecognitionof revenue arising from deferred revenue; and
e thereclassification of amounts to receivables when a right to considerationto becomes unconditional.

A change in the estimate of variable consideration constrained (for example, if a developmentmilestone
becomes probable of being received) could result in a significant change in the revenuerecognized and deferred revenue.

(9)] Research and developmentexpenditures
Researchanddevelopment expenditures are expensed as incurred.

Expenses relatedto clinicaltrials are recognized as services are received. Nonrefundable advance payments for
servicesare deferred and recognized in the Consolidated Statementof Operations as the services are rendered. This
determination is based onanestimate ofthe services received and there may be instances when the paymentsto vendors
exceed thelevel of services provided resultingin a prepayment ofthe clinical expense. Ifthe actual timing of the
performance of services varies from our estimate, the accrual or prepaid expenseis adjusted accordingly.

Upfront and milestone payments tothird parties for in-licensed productsor technology which has notyet
received regulatory approvalandwhich does not have alternative future use in R&D projects or otherwise are expensed
asincurred. The Company expensedacquired in-process R&D of $562,000, $889,000 and $4,556,000 in the years ended
December 31,2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Milestone payments madeto third parties either on or subsequent to regulatory approval are capitalized asan
intangible asset and amortized over the remaining useful life of the product.

Researchand development expenditure is presented net of R&D taxand expenditure credits from the U.K.
government, which are recognized over the period necessary to matchthe reimbursementwith the related costs when it
is probable thatthe Company has complied with any conditions attached and will receive the reimbursement.
Reimbursable R&D taxand expenditure credits were $34,082,000, $19,442,000 and $18,649,000in the years ended
December 31,2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

@ Share-based compensation
The Company awards certain employees options over the ordinary shares of the parentcompany. The costof

share-based awards issuedto employees are measured at thegrant-date fair value ofthe awardand recognized asan
expenseoverthe requisite service period. The fairvalueof theoptionsis determined usingthe Black-Scholes option-
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pricing model. Share optionswith graded-vestingschedulesare recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite
service period foreach separately vesting portion of theaward. The Company has elected to account for forfeitures of
stock options when they occur by reversing compensation costpreviously recognized, in the period the award is
forfeited, foranaward thatis forfeited before completion of therequisite service period.

(9] Retirement benefits

The Company operates defined contribution pensionschemes forits directors and employees. The contributions
to thisscheme are expensed to the Consolidated Statementof Operations as they falldue. The pension contributions for

the yearsended December 31,2021, 2020,and 2019 were $2,505,000,$2,070,000 and $1,904,000, respectively.
(s) Interestincome

Interest income arises on cash, cash equivalents and available-for-sale debt securities and is net of amortization
(accretion) of the premium (discount) on purchase of the debt securities of $5,276,000, $3,836,000 and ($185,000) in the
yearsended December 31,2021,2020and 2019, respectively.

® Income taxes

Income taxes forthe period comprise current and deferredtax. Incometax isrecognizedin the Consolidated
Statementof Operations exceptto the extentthatit relates to items occurring during the year recognized either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case it is recognized in other comprehensive income or equity. We
release stranded tax effects from accumulated other comprehensive income using the portfolio a pproach.

Current tax isthe expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the currentor prior
periods usingtax rates enacted at the balance sheetdate.

Deferred taxis accounted forusingtheasset and liability method that requires therecognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial statement
carryingamountand the tax bases ofassets and liabilities at the applicable tax ratesand for operating loss andtax credit
carryforwards. Avaluationallowance is providedto reduce deferred tax assets to the amount thatis more likely thannot
to be realized. The Company evaluatesthe realizability of its deferred tax assets and adjusts the amount of the valuation
allowance, if necessary. The factors used to assess the likelihood of realization includethe Company’s forecastof
income, carryback availability, reversing taxable temporary differences and available tax -planning strategies that could
be implementedto realize the deferred tax assets.

Income tax positions must meeta more-likely-than-not recognitionthreshold to be recognized. Incometax
positions thatpreviously failed to meet the more-likely-than-not threshold are recognized in the first subsequent financial
reporting period in which thatthreshold is met. Previously recognized tax positions that nolonger meet the more -likely-
than-not threshold are derecognized in the first subsequent financial reporting period in which that threshold isn o longer
met. Recognized income tax positions are measured atthe largest amount that is greater than 50 percent likely of being
realized. We recognize potential accrued interest and penalties related to an underpayment of income taxes within the
Consolidated Statementof Operations as income tax expense.

(u) Loss per share

Basic loss pershare is determined by dividing net loss attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted loss per shareis determined by dividing net
loss attributable to ordinary shareholders by theweighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding duringthe
period, adjusted for the dilutiveeffect of all potential ordinary shares that were outstanding during the period.
Potentially dilutive shares areexcluded when the effect would be to increase diluted earnings per share orreduce diluted

loss pershare.
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The followingtable reconciles the numeratorand denominator in the basic and diluted loss per share
computation (in thousands):

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Numerator for basic and diluted loss per share

Net loss $ (158,090) $ (130,092) $ (137,165)
Net loss attributableto shareholders used for basic and diluted
EPScalculation $ (158,090) $ (130,092) $ (137,165)
Denominator for basicand diluted loss per share

Weighted average number of shares usedto calculate basic and

diluted loss pershare 934,833,017 854,783,763 629,805,218

The effects of the following potentially dilutive equity instruments have been excluded fromthe diluted loss per
share calculation because they would have an antidilutive effecton theloss per share for the period:

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2021 2020 2019
Weighted average number of share options® 115225480 93,812818 96,675,101

From January 1, 2022 through to March 14,2022, the Company granted 22,876,464 options over ordinary
shares with an exercise price determined by referenceto the marketvalue ofan ADS at the date of grant,and 17,688432
options over ordinary shares with anexercise price equal to the nominal value of the ordinary shares (£0.001 per share).
These grants havenotbeenincludedin the figures above.

(v) New accounting pronouncements

Adopted in the year ended December 31,2021

Convertible instruments and contracts in an entity’s ownstock

OnJanuary 1, 2021, the Company adopted ASU 2020-06 - Debt—Debtwith Conversion and Other Options
(Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging—Contracts in Entity's Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40)—Accounting for
Convertible Instruments and Contractsin an Entity's Own Equity, which simplifies the accounting for convertible
instruments and contracts in an entity’s own stock. The guidance was adopted ona modified retrospective basis,
whereby the guidance is applied to transactions outstandingas of the beginning of the fiscal year in which the guidance

is adopted. The guidance has not had a material impact on the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements.

To be adopted infutureperiods

Measurementof Credit Losses on Financial Instruments

InJune 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13- Financial Instruments - Credit losses, which replacesthe
incurred loss impairment methodology for financial instruments in current GAAP with a methodology that reflects
expected credit losses and requires consideration of a broader range of reasonable and supportable informationto inform
credit loss estimates. Theguidance is effective for the fiscal year beginning January 1, 2020, including interim periods
within that fiscal year. In November 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-10 which resulted in the postponement ofthe
effective date ofthe newguidance for eligible smaller reporting companies (as defined by the SEC), includingthe
Company, at that timeto thefiscal year beginning January 1,2023. The Company intends to adoptthe guidance in the
fiscalyearbeginningJanuary 1,2023; however, earlieradoption is permitted, and the Company may choose to
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implement the guidancein an earlier fiscal year. The guidance mustbe adopted usinga modified-retrospective approach
and a prospective transitionapproach is required for debtsecurities for which an other-than-temporary impairment had
been recognized before the effective date. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the guidance on its
Consolidated financial statements.

Accountingfor Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers

In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-08— Business Combinations (Topic 805)- Accounting for
Contract Assetsand Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers, which improves theaccounting foracquired
revenue contracts with customers in a business combination by addressing diversity in and inconsistency related to the
following: (1) recognition ofanacquired contract liability and (2) payment terms and their effect on subsequent revenue
recognized by the acquirer. The amendments in this ASU resolve this inconsistency by requiring thatan entity (acquirer)
recognize and measure contract assetsand liabilitiesacquiredin a business combinatio nin accordance with Topic 606,
in contrast tocurrent GAAP which requires that assets acquired and liabilities assumedin a business combination,
including contract assets and contract liabilities, are measured at fair value as of the acquisitiondate. For public business
entities, including the Company, the guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning on orafter December 15,2022,
includinginterim periodswithin thatfiscal year. The Company intends to adopt the guidance in the fiscal year beginning
January 1,2023; however, earlieradoption is permitted, and the Company may choose to implementthe guidance in an
earlier fiscalyear. The amendments in this ASU should be applied prospectively to business combinations occurringon
or afterthe effective date of the amendments. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the guidance on its
Consolidated financial statements.

Note 3— Revenue

The Company has three contracts with customers: a collaboration and license agreement with GSK, a
collaborationagreementwith Astellas anda strategic collaborationand licenseagreement with Genentech.

Revenue comprises the following categories (in thousands):

Year ended
December 31,
2021 2020 2019
Developmentrevenue $ 6,149 $ 3958 $ 1,122
$ 6,149 $ 3958 $ 1,122

Deferred revenueincreased by $147,330,000 from $52,092,000atJanuary 1, 2021 to $199,422,000 at
December31,2021due toa $4,200,000 milestone paymentreceived underthe GSK Collaboration and License
Agreement and theupfrontpaymentof $150,000,000 received under the Genentech Collaboration and License
Agreement in October2021.

As of December 31,2020, there was deferred revenue of $52,092,000, of which $1,498,000 was recognized as
revenue in the yearended December31,2021.

The Genentech Collaborationand License Agreement

On September 3,2021, the Company entered intoa Strategic Collaborationand License Agreementwith
Genentech, Inc.and F. Hoffman-La Roche Ltd, which became effectiveon October 19,2021 upon expiry or termination
of allapplicable waiting periods under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust I mprovements Act of 1976.

Underthe Agreement, Genentech and Adaptimmune (each, a “party” and together, the “parties”) will collaborateto
develop two types of allogeneic T-cell therapies: (i) “off-the-shelf” aff T-celltherapies directed to initial collaboration
targets, with Genentech having the right to designate additional collaboration targets, up to five collaboration targets in
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total, and (ii) personalized therapies utilizing o T-cell receptors (TCRs) isolated from a patient, with such therapies
beingadministered tothe same patient.

The parties will collaborateto perform a research program, initially duringan eight year period (which may be
extendedforup totwo additional two year terms at Genentech’s election upon payment of an extension fee for each two-
yearterm), to developthe cell therapies, following which Genentech will determine whether to further developand
commercialize such therapies. Under the Agreement, Adaptimmune exclusively licenses Genentech certain intellectual
property rights it controls to enable Genentech to research, develop, manufacture and commercialize (i) “off-the-shelf”
T-cell therapies directed tothe collaborationtargetsand (ii) personalized T-cell therapies developed within the scope of
the Agreement, and Genentech is solely responsible for the clinical developmentand commercialization of any cell
therapies arising fromthe collaboration. Adaptimmune will manufacture and supply celltherapies for Phase 1 trials of
“off-the-shelf” T-cell therapies unless Genentech decides to assume responsibility for suchmanufacturing.

Underthe Agreement, Adaptimmuneis also subjectto certain restrictions on its ability to further developand
commercialize certain celltherapies. In particular restrictions apply in relation toitsability to develop cell therapy
products to nominated targetsand to develop competing personalized cell therapies. This restriction does not prevent
Adaptimmune from developing cell therapies to other targets or cell therapies containing differenttypes of receptors.

Underthe terms of the Agreement, Adaptimmune will receive $150 million as an upfront payment, whichwas
received in the fourth quarter of2021. Adaptimmune may also receive:

e $150 million in additional payments spread over a period of 5 years from theeffective date of the Agreement,

unlessthe agreement is earlier terminated,;

Researchmilestones of up to $50 million;

Developmentmilestones of upto $100 million in relation to the development of “off-the-shelf”” T-cell therapies
per collaborationtarget (unless Adaptimmune exercises its right to opt-in to receivea profit share) and upto
$200 million in relation tothe development of personalized T-cell therapies;

e Commercialization milestones of up to $1.1 billion for “off-the-shelf” T-cell therapies (unless Adaptimmune
exercises its right to opt-in to receivea profit share and assuming “off-the-shelf” T-cell therapies are developed
to 5targets)andfor personalized T-cell therapies; and

e Netsalesmilestones of upto $1.5billion for “off-the-shelf” T-cell therapies (unless Adaptimmune exercises its
right to opt-in to receive a profit share and assuming “off-the-shelf” T-cell therapies are developedto 5 targets)
and forpersonalized T-cell therapies.

In addition, Adaptimmunewill receive tiered royalties on net sales in the mid-single to low-double digits.
Collaboration target designation fees apply if Genentech exercises its right to designate additional “off-the-shelf”
collaborationtargets up to a maximum of 5 targets.

Adaptimmune also has a right to opt-in to receive a profit share andto co-promote “off-the-shelf” T-cell
therapies. If Adaptimmuneelectsto opt in, then Adaptimmunewill be eligible to share 50 percentof profits and losses
from U.S. saleson such productsandto receiveup to $800 million in ex-U.S. regulatory and sales-based milestone
payments, aswellasroyalties on ex-U.S. net sales.

The payments tothe Company under the contract are typically dueuponachievement of milestones, when
rights are exercised by Genentech or on achievement of specific events for the additional payments, and within standard
paymentterms. The contractdoes notincludea significant financing component.

The parties canterminate the Agreement in the eventof material breach orinsolvency of the other party.
Genentech is entitled toterminate the Agreement in its entirety, on a product-by-product basis or collaboration target by
collaborationtarget basis on provision of 180days notice. Either party may terminate the Agreementon written noticein
the event thatthe US Federal Trade Commissionor US Department of Justice seeks a preliminary injunction under
applicable antitrust laws againstthe parties orwhere HSR clearance has not occurred within 180 days of the effective
date of the Agreement. The Agreement became effective on October 19,2021 uponexpiry of allapplicable waiting
periods under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976.
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The Company has assessed the agreementunder the provisions of ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with
Customersand ASC 808, Collaborative Arrangements. The Company determined that Genentech isa customerand has
applied theprovisions of ASC 606 to the contract and related performance obligations. The Company identified the
following performance obligations under the agreement: (i) research services and rights granted under the licenses for
each of the initial ‘off-the-shelf” collaboration targets, (ii) research services and rights granted under the licenses for the
personalized therapies, (iii) material rights relatingto the option to designate each of the additional ‘off-the-shelf’
collaborationtargets and (iv) material rights relatingto the two options to extend the research term. The Company began
recognizingrevenue for the performance obligations relating to the initial ‘off-the-shelf’ collaboration targets and the
personalized therapiesin 2021.

The aggregatetransaction price atinception of the agreementwas $313.6 million comprising the $150 million
upfront payment, $150 million of additional payments and $13.6 million of other consideration. The fees for extension
of the research program, additional collaboration target designation fees, and future research, development and
commercialization milestones are notconsidered probable as of December 31,2021 and have not beenincluded in the
transaction price. The Company may also receive sales milestones and royalties for future sales of the therapies. These
amounts havenotbeenincluded within the transaction price as of December 31,2021 because they are sales-basedand
would be recognized whenthe subsequent sales occur.

The aggregatetransactionprice is allocatedto the performance obligations depending on the relative standalone
selling price of the performance obligations. In determining the bestestimate of the relative standaloneselling price, the
Company consideredinternal pricing objectives it used in negotiating the contract, together with internal data regarding
the cost and margin of providing research services and market data from comparable arrangements.

The amountof the transaction price allocated to the performance obligation is recognizedas orwhenthe
Company satisfies the performance obligation. The Company expects to satisfy the performance obligations relating to
the initial ‘off-the-shelf’ collaboration targets and the personalized therapies as development progresses and recognizes
revenue based on an estimate of the percentage of completion ofthe projectdetermined based on thecosts incurred on
the projectasapercentage of the total expected costs. The Company considers thatthis depicts the progress ofthe
project, where the significant inputs would be internal project resources and third -party costs. The Company expects to
satisfy the performance obligations relating to the material rights to designate additional ‘off-the-shelf” collaboration
targets fromthepoint that the options are exercised and then as development progresses, in line with the initial ‘off-the-
shelf’ collaboration targets, orat thepointin time thatthe rights expire. The Company expects to satisfy the performance
obligations relating to the material rights to extend the research term from the point that the options are exercisedand
then over period of the extension, orat the point in time that therights expire.

The amountof the transaction price that isallocated to performance obligations thatare unsatisfied or partially
satisfied under the agreement as of December 31,2021 was $310,368,000, of which $191,496,000is allocated to the
research services andrights granted for the initial ‘off-the-shelf’ collaboration targets, $99,079,000 is allocated to the
research services andrights granted for the personalized therapies, $13,360,000is allocated to the material rights to
designatethe additional ‘off-the-shelf’ collaboration targets, $5,146,000 is allocated to the material right for the first
option to extend the research term and $1,287,000is allocated to the material right for the optionto extend the research
term a second time.

The Astellas Collaboration Agreement

OnJanuary 13,2020, the Company entered into the Astellas Collaboration Agreement. The Company received
$50,000,000 as a non-refundable upfrontpaymentin January 2020 a fter entering into theagreement. Under the
agreementthe parties will agree on up to three targets and will co-develop T-cell therapies directed to those targets
pursuantto anagreedresearchplan. Foreachtarget, Astellas will fund co-development up untilcompletion of a Phase 1
trial forproducts directed tosuchtarget.

Upon successful completion ofthe Phase 1 trial fora product, Astellas and Adaptimmune will elect whetherto
progress with co-developmentand co-commercialization of such product, orto allowtheother party to pursuethe
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candidate independently. If the parties progress with co-development and co-commercialization of a product, theneach
party willgrant the other party a co-exclusive license to co-develop and co-commercialize suchproduct in the field of T-
cell therapy. Ifa productis developed solely by one party, then the other party will grant to the continuing party an
exclusive license to develop and commercialize such product in the field of T-cell therapy.

InJune 2020, the parties nominated the target for the first collaboration programand the Company commenced
development of thistarget under the agreementand began recognizing revenue for this performance obligation. In July
2021, the parties nominated thetarget for the second collaboration programand the Company commenced development
of thistarget undertheagreementand began recognizing revenuefor this performance obligation.

Inaddition, Astellas was also granted the right to develop, independently of Adaptimmune, allogeneic T-cell
therapy candidates directed to two targets selected by Astellas. Astellas will havesole rights to develop and
commercialize products resulting from these two targets.

Underthe terms ofthe agreement, Adaptimmune could be entitled to receive up to $847,500,000in further
payments, including:

e development milestones of upto $73,750,000 for each co-developed and co-commercialized product; and
e development milestones of upto $147,500,000 per product and upto $110,000,000 in sales milestones for
products developed unilaterally by Astellas.

Inaddition, Adaptimmuneis entitled to receive research funding of upto $7,500,000 peryearon a per
collaborationtarget basis, which is payable on a quarterly basis within standard paymentterms (typically 30 days), and
tiered royalties onnet sales in the mid-single to mid-teen digits.

To the extent that Astellas and Adaptimmune co-develop and co-commercialize any product, the parties would
share equally allworldwide costs and profits.

Either party canterminatethe agreement in the eventof material breach orinsolvency of the other party.
Astellas can terminatethe Agreementfor convenience in its entirety or partly in relation toany targets and products
directed to suchtargets. Adaptimmune canterminatethe Agreementfor convenience in relation to any targetit is
unilaterally developingandto products directed to such target.

The payments tothe Company under the contract are typically billed asthe developmentservices are performed
or are due on achievement of milestones and within standard payment terms (typically 30 days for development services
and 20 days for milestoneachievement). Managementhas determined thatthe contract does notinclude a significant
financing component because (i) the timing of initiation of the programs, theright to obtain the services andthe right to
terminatethe contract resides with Astellasand (ii) a substantial amountof the consideration promised by the customer
is variable,andthe amountor timing of that consideration varies on the basis of theoccurrence or nonoccurrence ofa
future eventthat is not substantially within the control of the customer or the Company.

The Company has assessed the agreementunder the provisions of ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and ASC 808, Collaborative Arrangements. The Company determined that Astellas isa customerandhas
applied theprovisions of ASC 606 to the contract and related performance obligations. The Company identified the
following performance obligations under the agreement: (i) research services and rights granted under the co-exclusive
license foreach ofthethree co-developmenttargets and (ii) the rights granted for each of the two independent Astellas
targets.

The aggregatetransaction price atinception of the agreementwas the $50,000,000 upfront payment. Future
development milestones are not considered probable as of December 31,2021 and havenotbeenincludedin the
transaction price. Reimbursementof theresearch funding over the co-development period (up until completion ofa
Phase 1 trial for products directed to suchtarget) is variable considerationandincluded in the transaction price as of
December 31,2021to the extentthata significant reversal of revenue isnot probable. The Company may also receive
sales milestones uponthe achievement of specified levels of annual net sales by Astellas underan independent Astellas
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program. These amounts have not been included within the transaction price as of December 31, 2021 becausetheyare
sales-basedandwould be recognized when the subsequent sales occur.

The aggregatetransaction price isallocated to the performance obligations depending on therelative standalone
selling price of the performance obligations. In determining the bestestimate of the relative standaloneselling price, the
Company considered internal pricing objectives it used in negotiating the contract, together with internal data regarding
the cost and margin of providing research services and adjusted -market data from comparable arrangements. The
variable consideration is allocated tothe performance obligationto whichit relates.

The amountof the transaction price allocated to the performance obligation is recognizedas orwhenthe
Company satisfies the performance obligation. The Company expects to satisfy the performance obligations relatingto
the three co-developmenttargets as development progresses and recognizes revenue based onan estimate of the
percentage of completion of the project determined based onthe costs incurred onthe project asa percentage of the total
expected costs. The Company considers thatthis depicts the progress of the project, where the significant inputs would
be internal project resources and third-party costs. The revenue allocated to the research services will be recognized as
development of products directed to the target progressesup untilcompletion ofa Phase 1 trial.

The Company has determined thatthe performance obligations relatingto the two independent Astellas targets
would be recognizedata point-in-time, upon commencement of the licenses in the event of nomination of thetarget,
since they are right-to-use licenses.

The amountof the transaction price that is allocated to performance obligations thatare unsatisfied or partially
satisfied under the agreement as of December 31, 2021 was $77,825,000, of which $15,026,000 isallocated to therights
granted foreach of the two independent Astellas targets, $20,453,000 is allocated toresearchservices and rights granted
underthe co-exclusivelicense forthefirst co-developmenttarget, $20,066,000is allocated to research services and
rights granted underthe co-exclusive license for the second co-development targetand $7,254,000 is allocated to
research services andrights under the co-exclusive license for the third co-developmenttargets.

The GSK Collaboration and License Agreement

The GSK Collaboration and License Agreementconsists of multiple performance obligations, includingthe
transitionof theNY-ESO SPEAR T-cell program to GSK, the development ofa secondandthird target,and an
exclusive license (the “NY-ESO License”) to research, develop, and commercialize the Company’s NY-ESO SPEAR T-
cell therapy program.

In2017, GSK exercisedits optionto obtainthe NY-ESO License andin July 2018, the IND forthe NY-ESO
SPEAR T-cell programtransferred to GSK.

In2017, GSK nominated a second target programwhich was completed in 2018.

In 2019, GSK nominated its third target under the Collaborationand License Agreement andthe Company
received $3,200,000 following the nomination of the target. The development of productstothe third targetis a separate
performance obligation. Revenue allocatedto this performance obligationis recognized as the development progresses.

Underthe terms of the GSK Collaboration and License Agreement, the Company may also beentitledto
development milestones. The development and regulatory milestones are per product milestones and are dependenton
achievementof certain obligations, the nature of the product being developed, stage of developmentof product, territory
in which an obligationis achievedandtype of indication or indications in relationto which the product is being
developed. In addition, forany program multiple products may be developed to address different HLA-types. InJune
2021 the Company received a $4,200,000 milestone payment following achievement ofa development milestoneforthe
third target underthe GSK Collaborationand License Agreement. As a result of the inclusion of thisamount in the
transaction price, $803,000 of revenuewas recognized in the yearended December 31,2021 from performance

obligations partially satisfied in previous periods.
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The Company may also receive commercialization milestones uponthe first commercial sale of a product based
onthe indicationandthe territory and mid-single to low double-digit royalties onworldwide netsales. These amounts
have not been included within thetransaction price as of December 31, 2021 becausethey aresales or usage-based
royalties promised in exchange fora license of intellectual property, which will be recognized whenthe subsequentsale

Oor usage occurs.

The payments tothe Company under the contract are typically dueuponachievement of milestones and within
standard payment terms (approximatingto 45 days). The contract does not include a significant financingcomponent.

The amountof the transaction price allocated to the performance obligation is recognizedas orwhenthe
Company satisfies the performance obligation. The Company satisfies the performance obligations relatingto the
development of each target over time and recognizes revenue based onan estimate of the percentage of completion of
the projectdetermined based on thecosts incurred on the project asa percentage of thetotal expected costs. The
Company considers that this depicts the progress of the project, where thesignificantinputs areinternal project resource
and third-party clinicaland manufacturing costs. The amount of thetransaction price thatis allocated to performance
obligations that are unsatisfied or partially satisfied under theagreementas of December 31, 2021 was $7,424,000.

The previous performance obligation relatingto the NY-ESO License was recognized at a point-in-time, upon

commencementof thelicense in 2018.

Note 4 — Financial instruments

The Company’s financial instruments consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities,

restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses.

Assetsand liabilities measured at fair valueon a recurring basis basedon Level 1, Level 2,and Level 3 fair

value measurement criteriaas of December 31,2021 are as follows (in thousands):

Fair value measurements using

December 31, Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
2021
Assets:
Corporate debt securities $ 214639 $214639 $ — $ —
Agency bonds 4,993 — 4,993 —
$ 219632 $214639 $ 4993 $ —

Assetsand liabilities measured at fair valueon a recurring basisbasedon Level 1, Level 2,and Level 3 fair

value measurement criteria as of December31,2020are as follows (in thousands):

Fair Value Measurements Using

December 31, Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
2020
Assets:
Marketable securities:
Corporate debt securities $ 305334 $305334 $ — $ —
Agency bonds 6,001 — 6,001 —
$ 311,335 305,334 6,001 —

The Company estimates the fair value of available-for-sale debt securities with the aid of a third-party valuation
service, which usesactual trade and indicative prices sourced from third-party providers on a daily basis to estimate the
fairvalue. Ifobserved marketpricesare not available (forexample, securities with short maturities and infrequent
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secondary market trades), the securities are priced usinga valuation model maximizing observable inputs, including
market interest rates.

Significantconcentration of credit risk

The Company held cashand cash equivalents of $149,948,000, marketable securities of $219,632,000 and
restricted cashof $1,718,000as of December 31,2021. The cashand cash equivalents and restricted cash are held with
multiple banks and the Company monitors the credit rating of those banks. The Company maintains cash balances in
excess of amounts insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation in the United States and the U.K. Government
Financial Services Compensation Scheme in the United Kingdom.

The Company has three customers, which are Genentech, Astellasand GSK. There were tradereceivables of
$752,000as of December 31,2021 and $139,000 as of December 31, 2020. The Company has been transacting with
Genentech since October 2021, Astellas since 2020and GSK since 2014, during which time no impairment losses have
been recognized. As of December 31,2021, there were no overdueaccounts receivable.

Foreignexchange risk

The Companyis exposed to foreign exchange rate risk because it operates in the United Kingdom andthe
United States. Expenses are generally denominated in the currency in which the Company’s operations are located,
which are the United Kingdom andthe United States. However, the U.K.-based subsidiary incurs significantresearch
and development costsin U.S. dollarsand, to a lesser extent, Euros.

The results of operations and cash flows will be subjectto fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency
exchange rates, which could hamm the Company’s business in the future. Management seeks to minimizethis exposure
by maintaining currency cash balances at levels appropriateto meet foreseeable expenses in U.S. dollars and pounds
sterling. To date, the Company has not used forward exchange contracts or other currency hedging products to manage
exchange rateexposure, althoughit maydo so in the future. The exchange rate as of December 31,2021, the last
business day ofthe reporting period, was £1.00 to $1.35.

Interest rate risk

Surplus cash and cashequivalentsare invested in interest-bearing savings, money market funds, corporate debt
securitiesand commercial paper fromtimeto time. Investments in corporate debt securities are subjectto fixed interest
rates. The Company’s exposure to interestrate sensitivity is impacted by changes in the underlying U.K. and U.S. bank
interest rates and the fair market value of its corporatedebtsecurities will fallin value if marketinterestrates increase.
Managementbelieves thatanimmediate one percentage pointchange in interest rates would not have a material effect
on the fairmarketvalue of our portfolio, and therefore does notexpectthe operating results or cash flowsto be
significantly affected by changes in market interest rates.

Note 5 — Other currentassets

Other current assets consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,

2021 2020
Corporate tax receivable $ 30,773 $ 20,585
Prepayments 9,043 6,314
Clinical materials 746 2,086
VAT receivable 2,482 367
Othercurrent assets 2,082 444

$ 45126 $ 29,796
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Note 6 — Property, plantand equipment, net
Property and equipment, net consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2021 2020

Computer equipment $ 3692 $ 3572
Laboratory equipment 28,002 26,051
Office equipment 953 893
Leasehold improvements 28,704 28,359
Assets under construction 5,396 —

66,747 58,875
Lessaccumulated depreciation (36,253) (31,097)

$ 30494 $ 27,778

Depreciation expense was $5,630,000, $6,627,000and $7,172,000 for the years ended December 31,2021,
2020 and 2019, respectively.

Note 7 — Intangible assets, net
Intangible assets, net consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,

2021 2020
Acquired software licenses $ 4842 $ 4651
Licensed IP rights— completed technology usedin R&D 209 211
5,051 4,862
Lessaccumulated amortization (4,051) (3,132)

$§ 1000 $ 1730

Amortization expense was $937,000, $967,000, and $838,000 for the years ended December 31,20212020and
2019 respectively. Theestimated aggregate amortization expense expectedto be recorded in respectof these assets for
each of the five yearsended 2026 is $771,000, $222,000, $18,000, $1,000and $1,000, respectively.
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Note 8 — Operating leases

The followingtable shows the lease costs for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 (in thousands):

Year ended
December 31,

2021 2020
Lease cost:
Operating leasecost $ 425 $ 4,044
Short-term lease cost 419 359

$ 4678 $ 4403

Year ended
December 31,
2021 2020

Other information:
Operating cash outflows from operating leases (in thousands) $ 4101 $ 3,769

December 31,

2021 2020
Weighted-average remaining lease term - operating leases 7.8years 6.3years
Weighted-average discountrate - operating leases 6.8% 7.2%

The maturities of operating lease liabilities as of December 31,2021 are as follows (in thousands):

Operating leases

2022 $ 3,939
2023 4,057
2024 3,993
2025 4,041
2026 4,090
after2026 12,896
Total lease payments 33,016
Less: imputed interest 7,548
Presentvalue of leaseliability $ 25,468

The Company has operating leases in relation to property for office and research facilities. The maximum lease
term withoutactivation of termination optionsisto 2041.

On August 13,2021, the Company modified the lease of 60 Jubilee Avenue, Milton Park, Abingdon,
Oxfordshire, UK (the “60 Jubilee Avenue lease”)and on August 20,2021, the Company modified the lease 0f39
Innovation Drive, Milton Park, Abingdon, Ox fordshire, UK (the “39 Innovation Drive lease”). Theeffect of the
modifications extended the first break option exercisable by the Company and has resulted in a change in the lease term
forboth leases. The modification to the 39 Innovation Drive lease also amendedthe lease payments for thatlease. The

modifications did not result in the identification of a separate contract.
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Upon modification, thelease liability has been remeasured using the current estimate ofthe Company’s
incremental borrowing rateand the amountof the remeasurement of the lease liability has beenrecognizedasan
adjustment to the corresponding right-of-use asset. The effect of the modification was to increase the lease liability and
the corresponding right-of-use asset by $4,290,000.

The modification also removed a bank guarantee, which resulted in a reduction in restricted cash of $2,739,000.
The Company paid $1,736,000to the lessorasa rent deposit.

Note 9 — Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

Accrued expenses and other currentliabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2021 2020
Accrued clinicaland developmentexpenditure $ 13,436 $ 13,081
Accrued employeeexpenses 11,758 11,825
Otheraccrued expenditure 4,388 2,126
Other 327 47
$ 29909 $ 27,079

Note 10 — Contingencies and commitments
Leases

Lease payments under operating leases as of December 31,2021 and information about the Company’s lease
arrangements are disclosed in Note 8.

Capital commitments

As of December 31,2021, the Company had commitments for capital expenditure totaling $18,132,000
primarily relatingto construction and related expenditure for its properties in the United Kingdom and United States, of
which the Company expects to incur $17,668,000 within one year and $463,000 within one to three years.

Commitments for clinical materials, clinical trials and contractmanufacturing

As of December 31,2021, the Company had non-cancellable commitments for purchase of clinical materials,
contractmanufacturing, maintenance, and committed funding under the MD Anderson strategic alliance of upto
$14,332,000, whichthe Company expects to incur within one year. The amount and timing ofthese payments vary
dependingon therate of progress of development. Future clinicaltrial expenses have notbeenincluded within the
purchase commitments becausetheyarecontingenton enrollmentin clinicaltrialsandthe activities required to be
performedby theclinicalsites. The Company’s subcontracted costs for clinical trials and contract manufacturing were
$46,469,000, $33,744,000and $32,788,000 fortheyears ended December 31,2021, 2020, and 2019 respectively.

MD Anderson Strategic Alliance
On September 26,2016, the Company announced thatit had entered into a multi-year strategic alliance with

The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center (“MD Anderson”) designed to expeditethe developmentof T-cell
therapies for multiple types of cancer. The Company and MD Andersonarecollaboratingon a number of studies
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includingclinical and preclinical development of the Company’s SPEAR T-cell therapies andwill collaborate on future
clinicalstage firstand second generation SPEAR T-cell therapies across a number of cancers.

Underthe terms ofthe agreement, the Company committed at least $19,644,000 to fund studies. Paymentof
this fundingis contingent on mutual agreementto study orders in order forany studyto be included under the alliance
and the performance of set milestones by MD Anderson. The Company madeanupfront paymentof $3,412,000to MD
Anderson in the year ended December 31,2017 and milestone payments of $2,326,000, $3,549,000 and $454,000in the
yearsended December 31,2018, 2020,and 2021, respectively. The Company is obligated to make further paymentsto
MD Anderson as certain milestones are achieved. Thesecosts are expensedto researchand development as MD
Anderson renders the services under thestrategic alliance.

The agreement may be terminated by either party for material breach by the other party. Individual studies may
be terminated for, amongst other things, material breach, health and safety concerns or where the institutional review
board, the reviewboard at the clinical site with oversight of the clinical study, requests termination of any study. Where
any legalorregulatory authorization is finally withdrawn or terminated, the relevant study willalso terminate
automatically.

Universal Cells Research, Collaboration and License Agreementand Co-developmentand Co-commercialization
agreement

On November 25,2015, the Company entered into a Research, Collaborationand License Agreementrelating
to gene editingand Human Leukocyte Antigen (“HLA”) engineering technology with Universal Cells, Inc. (“Universal
Cells”). The Company paid an upfrontlicense and start-up fee of $2,500,000to Universal Cellsin November2015,a
milestone payment of $3,000,000 in February 2016 and further milestone payments of $200,000 and $900,000 were
madein the yearended December 31,2018and 2017, respectively. The agreementwas amended and re-statedas of
January 13,2020, primarily to reflect changes to the development planagreed between the parties. Further milestone
payments of upto $37,600,000 are payable if certain development and product milestones are achieved of which
milestones of $800,000 and $500,000 have been accrued, but not yetpaid, as of December 31,2021. Universal Cells
would also receive a profit-share paymentforthe first product, and royalties on sales of other products utilizing its
technology. Theupfrontlicense andstart-up fee and milestone payments were expensedto research and development
when incurred.

Astellas Collaboration Agreement

Underthe Astellas Collaboration Agreement, described further in Note 3, the Company could in certain
circumstances elect tounilaterally developa productusingtechnology contributed by Astellas. |f Adaptimmune
unilaterally develops a product with technology contributed by Astellas, Astellas could be eligible to receive up to
$552,500,000, including up to $147,500,000 in milestone payments per product, and up t0$110,000,000 in sales
milestones for products developed unilaterally by Adaptimmune. In addition, Astellas is entitled toreceive tiered
royaltieson netsales in the mid-single to mid-teen digits.

Noile-Immune Collaboration Agreement

On August 26,2019, the Company entered intoa collaborationand license agreementrelatingto the
development of next-generation SPEAR T-cell products with Noile-Immune. An upfrontexclusive license option fee of
$2,500,000 was paid to Noile-lmmune in 2019. This was recognized within Research and Development in the
Consolidated Statementof Operations for the year ended December 31, 2019. Under the agreement, development and
commercialization milestone payments up toa maximum of $312,000,000 may be payable if allpossible targets are
selected and milestones achieved. Noile-Immune would also receive mid-single-digit royalties on netsales of resulting
products.
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Alpine Collaboration Agreement

On May 14,2019, the Company entered into a Collaboration Agreementrelatingto the developmentof next-
generation SPEAR T-cell products with Alpine. The Company paid an upfrontexclusive license option fee of
$2,000,000to Alpine in June 2019. Under the a greement, Adaptimmunewill pay Alpine forongoing research and
development funding costs and development and commercialization milestone payments upto a maximum of
$288,000,000 may bepayable if all possible targets are selected and milestones achieved. The upfront payment of
$2,000,000 and the payments for ongoing research was recognized within Researchand development in the
Consolidated Statementof Operations for the year ended December 31, 2019. Alpine wouldalso receive low single -digit
royalties on worldwide net sales of applicable products.

ThermoFisher License Agreement

In2012, the Company entered intoa series of license and sub-license agreements with Life Technologies
Corporation, part of ThermoFisher Scientific, Inc. (“ThermoFisher”) thatprovide the Company with a field-based
license under certain intellectual property rights owned or controlled by ThermoFisher. The Company paid upfront
license fees of $1,000,000 relating to the licenseand sublicense agreements and has an obligationto pay minimum
annualroyalties (in the tens of thousands of U.S. dollars prior to licensed product approval and thereafterat a level of
50% of running royalties in the previous year), milestone payments and a low single-digit running royalty payable on the
net selling price of each licensed product. The upfront payment made in 2012 was expensed to research and development
when incurred. Subsequent milestone payments have beenrecognizedas an intangible asset dueto thetechnology
havingalternative future use in researchand developmentprojects at thetime ofthe payment. The minimum annual
royalties have been expensedas incurred.

In2016, the Company entered intoa supply agreement with ThermoFisher for the supply ofthe
Dynabeads® CD3/CD28technology. The Dynabeads® CD3/CD28 technology is designed to isolate, activateand
expand human T-cells, andis being used in the manufacturing of the Company’s affinity enhanced T-cell therapies. The
supply agreement runs until December 31, 2025. Under the supply agreementthe Company is required to purchase its
requirements for CD3/CD28 magnetic bead productfrom ThermoFisher fora period of 5 years. ThermoFisher has the
right to terminate the supply agreement for material breach orinsolvency.

Note 11 — Stockholders’ equity
Ordinary shares

Subject toany other provisions of our articles of associationand without prejudice toany special rights,
privileges or restrictions as to votingattached to any shares forming part of our share capital, the voting rights of
shareholdersare as follows. On a show of hands, each shareholder presentin person, and each duly authorized
representative presentin person of a shareholder thatis a corporation, has onevote. On a show of hands, each proxy
present in person who has been duly appointed by oneor m ore shareholders entitled to vote on a resolution has onevote,
but a proxyhas one vote forand one voteagainst a resolution if, in certain circumstances, the proxy is instructed by
more thanone shareholder to vote in different ways on a resolution. On a poll, each shareholder presentin person or by
proxy or (beinga corporation) by a duly authorized representative has one vote for each share held by the shareholder.
We are prohibited (to the extentspecified by the Companies Act 2006) from exercising a ny rights to attend or vote at
meetings in respect of any shares held by the Company as treasury shares.

Subject tothe Companies Act 2006 and the provisions of all other relevant legislation, we may by ordinary
resolution declare dividends outof our profits available for distribution in accordance with the respective rights of
shareholders butno suchdividend shall exceed the amount recommended by thedirectors. If, in the opinion ofthe
directors, our profits available for distribution justify such payments, the directors may from time to time pay interim
dividendsto the holders ofany class of shares. Subject to any special rights attaching to or terms of issue of any shares,
all dividends shallbe declared and paid according to the amounts paid up on the shares on whichthe dividend is paid.
No dividend shall be payable to us in respect of any shares held by us astreasury shares (exceptto theextent permitted
by the Companies Act 2006 and any other relevant legislation). As of December 31,2021, Ada ptimmune Therapeutics
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Plc and Adaptimmune Limited haveaccumulated net losses and, accordingly, no profits available for distribution out of
which to declare or paydividends.

Subject toany special rights attaching to or the terms of issue of any shares, on any winding-up of the Company
oursurplus assets remaining after satisfaction of our liabilities will be distributedamong our shareholders in proportion

to their respective holdings of shares and theamounts paid up on those shares.

Effective from May 14,2021, the Directors were generally authorized to allot new shares or to grant rights to
subscribe fororto convert any security intoshares in the Company up to a maximum aggregate nominalamount of
£307,869.00. Thisauthority will expire on the earlier of the conclusion of the Company’s annual general meeting in
2022 andJune30, 2022 (unless previously renewed, varied or revoked). Effective from May 14, 2021, the Directors
were also empoweredto allot equity securities for cash, pursuantto their generalauthority to allot described in this
paragraph, without first offeringthem to existing shareholders in proportionto their existing holdings up to anaggregate
maximum nominalamount of £307,869.00. This power will expire on the earlier of the conclusion ofthe Company’s
annualgeneral meetingin 2022 and June 30,2022 (unless previously renewed, varied or revoked).

2020 January Offering

On January 24,2020, the Company closed an underwritten public offering of 21,000,000 American Depository
Shares (ADSs), which together with the full exercise by the underwriters on February 7, 2020 of their optionto purchase
an additional 3,150,000 ADSs, generated net proceeds of $90,554,000.

2020 June Offering

OnJune 4,2020, the Company closedanunderwritten public offering of 20,500,000 ADSs, which together
with the full exercise by the underwriters of their optionto purchase an additional 3,075,000 ADSs, generated net
proceeds of $243,834,000.

At-the-Market Offerings

On August 10,2020 the Company entered into a sales agreement with Cowen and Company, LLC (“Cowen”)
(the “Sales Agreement”) under which we may from timeto time issue and sell American Depositary Shares (“ADSs”)
representing our ordinary shares through Cowenin at-the-market (“ATM”) offerings for an aggregate offering price of
up to $200 million. In the yearended December 31,2021, the Company sold 511,555 ADSs representing 3,069,330
ordinary shares resulting in net proceedsto the Company of $2,529,000 a fter deducting commissions payable under the
Sales Agreementandissuance costs. As of December31,2021, $197,360,000 remained available for sale underthe
Sales Agreement.

Note 12 — Share-based compensation

The Company grants options over ordinary shares in Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc under the following option
plans: (i) the Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc Employee Share Option Scheme (adopted onJanuary 14, 2016), (ii) the
Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc 2015 Share Option Scheme (adopted on March 16, 2015) and (iii) the Adaptimmune
Therapeutics plc Company Share OptionPlan (adopted on March 16,2015).

The Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc Company Share OptionPlan is a tax efficient option scheme intended to
comply with therequirements of Schedule 4 to the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 of the United
Kingdom, which provides forthe grantof company share option plan (“CSOP”) options. Grants may not exceed the
maximum value of £30,000 per participant for the shares under the option, which isa CSOP compliance requirement.

Generally, the vesting dates for the options granted under these plans upto December 31,2021 are 25% onthe
firstanniversary of the grantdateand 75% in monthly instaliments over the following three years. However, the options
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granted tonon-executivedirectors under the Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc 2015 Share Option Schemevestand
become exercisable as follows:

Options granted to non-executive directorson May 11, Immediately on grant date
2015:

Options grantedto a non-executive director on June23, 25% on the first anniversary ofthe grantdateand 75% in
2016: monthly installments over the following two years

Options grantedto non-executive directorson August 11,  100% on thefirst anniversary of the grant date
2016:
Options granted to non-executive directorson November ~ 25% on the first anniversary of the grantdateand 75% in
28,2016: monthly installments over the following two years
Options granted to non-executive directorson July 3,2017 100% on thefirst anniversary of the grant date
Options granted to non-executive directors on June 22, 100% on thefirst anniversary of the grant date
2018:

Options grantedto a non-executive directoron July 5, 25% on the first anniversary ofthe grantdateand 75% in
2018: monthly instalments over the following two years
Options granted to non-executive directorson July 2, 100% on thefirst anniversary of the grant date
2019:
Options granted to non-executive directorson July 1, 100% on thefirst anniversary of the grant date
2020:
Options grantedto non-executive directorson July 1, 100% on thefirst anniversary of the grant date
2021:

Effective from January 2018, the Company has also granted restricted stock unit style options (“RSU-style”).
The RSU-style options over ordinary shares in Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc are granted under the Adaptimmune
Therapeutics plc Employee Share Option Scheme (adopted onJanuary 14, 2016). These options haveanexercise price
equalto thenominal value ofanordinary share, of £0.001, and generally vest over four years, with 25% onthe first,and
each subsequent, anniversary of thegrant date.

Options grantedunder these plansare not subjectto performance conditions. The contractual term of options
granted underthese plans s ten years.

The maximum aggregate number of options which may be granted under these plans and any incentive plans
adopted by the Company cannot exceed a scheme limit that equates to 8% of the initial fully diluted share capital of the
Company immediately followingits IPO plus an automatic annual increase of an amountequivalentto 4% of the issued
share capitalon each 30June (orsuch lower numberas the Board, or an appropriate committee of the Board, may
determine). The automatic increaseis effective fromJuly 1,2016.

Prior to December 31,2014, the Company granted options to purchase ordinary shares in Adaptimmune
Limited under three option schemes:

(i) The Adaptimmune Limited Share Option Schemewas adopted on May 30, 2008. Under this scheme
Enterprise Management Incentive (“EMI”) options (which are potentially tax-advantaged in the United Kingdom) have
been granted (subject to the relevant conditions being met) to its employees who are eligible to receive EMI options
underapplicable U.K. tax lawand unapproved options (which do not attracttax advantages) have been grantedto its
employeeswhoare not eligible to receive EMI options, and toits Directors and consultants. In May 2014, the Company
no longer qualified for EMI status and since thatdate, no further EMI options were granted under this scheme; however,

unapproved options have been under granted under this scheme since that date.

(i) The Adaptimmune Limited 2014 Share Option Scheme wasadoptedon April 11,2014. EMI options were
granted (subjectto the relevant conditions being met) under this schemeto ouremployees whoare eligible to receive
EMI options under applicable U.K. tax law. Unapproved options were granted to its employees who arenot eligible to
receive EMI optionsandto directors. In May 2014, the Company no longer qualified for EMI status and since that date,
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no further EMI options were granted under this scheme; however, unapproved options have been under granted under
this scheme since thatdate.

(iif) The Adaptimmune Limited Company Share Option Planwas adopted on December 16,2014. This scheme
allowed the grant of options to our eligible employees prior to the Company’s corporate reorganizationin 2015. This
scheme is a tax efficient option scheme and options were granted on December 19,2014 and on December 31,2014 to
our part-time and full-time employees.

As part of the corporate reorganization in connectionwith our IPO, the holders of options granted under these
schemes over ordinary shares of Adaptimmune Limited were granted equivalent options on substantially the same terms
overordinary shares of Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc (“Replacement Options”) in exchange fortherelease of these
options. The Company does notintend to grant any further options under these schemes.

As of December31,2021, allthe Replacement Options under the Adaptimmune Limited schemes have vested.

The contractual life of options granted under these schemes is ten years.

The followingtable shows thetotal share-based compensation expense included in the Consolidated Statements
of Operations (in thousands):

Year ended
December 31,
2021 2020 2019
Researchand development $ 9,052 $ 4417 % 3,812
Generaland administrative 11,577 5,997 7,241
$ 20,629 10,414 $ 11,053

As of December 31,2021, there was $18,893,000 of total unrecognized compensation costrelated tostock
options granted but not vested under the plans. Thatcost will be recognized overanexpected remaining weighted-
average period of 2.9 years. The following table shows information about share options granted:

Year ended
December 31,
2021 2020 2019
Number of options over ordinary shares granted 21,300,998 15,595,374 15,679,383
Weighted average fair value of ordinary shares options $ 070 $ 059 ¢ 0.48
Number of additional options with a nominal exercise price granted 17,765,778 8,282,152 8,020,410
Weighted average fair value of options with a nominal exercise price  $ 097 $ 085 % 0.86

The following table summarizes all stock option activity fortheyearended December 31, 2021:

Weighted
average Average Aggregate
exercise remaining intrinsic
price per  contractual value
Options option term (years) (thousands)
OutstandingatJanuary 1,2021 91,643,184 £ 0.55
Changesduringtheperiod:
Granted 39,066,776 £ 0.38
Exercised (5,723,646) £ 0.10
Expired (4,866,762) £ 0.79
Forfeited (5,204,114) £ 0.26
Outstanding at December 31,2021 114915438 £ 0.52 7.0 £14,030
Exercisable at December 31,2021 60,058,450 £ 0.66 55 £ 2478
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The followingtable summarizes information about stock options granted based on the market valueatgrant
date which were outstanding as of December 31,2021:

Weighted Average
average remaining Aggregate
exercise price contractual intrinsicvalue
Options per option term (years)  (thousands)
OutstandingatJanuary 1,2021 75,525482 £ 0.67
Changes duringthe period:
Granted 21,300998 £ 0.70
Exercised (2,659,632) £ 0.21
Expired (4,844,367) £ 0.80
Forfeited (1,935,167) £ 0.71
Outstanding at December 31,2021 87,387314 £ 0.68 66 £ 1311
Exercisable at December 31,2021 57,005097 £ 0.69 54 £ 1,068

The followingtable summarizes information about RSU-sty le options whichwere outstanding as of

December31,2021:

Average
remaining Aggregate
contractual intrinsic value
Options term (years) (thousands)
OutstandingatJanuary 1,2021 16,117,702 8.4 10,616
Changes duringthe period:
Granted 17,765,778
Exercised (3,064,014)
Expired (22,395)
Forfeited (3,268,947)
Outstanding at December 31,2021 27,528,124 85 £ 12,720
Exercisable at December 31,2021 ~3,053,353 69 £ 1,411

There were 5,723,646, 11,401,390and 3,549,298 share options exercised in the years ended December 31,

2021,2020and 2019 respectively. In theyears ended December 31,2021,2020and 2019 the total intrinsic value of
stock options exercised was $4,321,000, $8,195,000and $1,977,000, respectively and the cash received from exercise of
stock options was $759,000, $5,663,000 and $366,000 respectively. The Company recognizes tax benefits arisingon the
exercise of stock options regardless of whether the benefit reduces current taxes. The tax benefit arisingon the exercise
of stock options was $862,000, $1,265,000and $1,488,000 for the years ended December 31,2021,2020 and 2019
respectively. The Company satisfies the exercise of stock options through newly issued shares.

Qutstanding Exercisable
Weighted-
Weighted- Weighted-
Total share remaining Total share average
Exercise price options contractual life exercise price options exercise price
£ 0 27,528,124 85 £ 0.00 3,053,353 £ 0.00
0.01-0.25 1,268,588 54 0.17 936,227 0.16
0.26-0.50 15,420,385 4.7 0.41 13,549,821 0.42
0.51-0.75 38,895,120 7.0 0.60 25,612,282 0.62
0.76-1.00 26,156,996 7.1 0.84 12,060,873 0.93
1.01-150 4,255,224 7.4 1.24 3,478,553 1.26
1.51-2.00 1,391,001 5.7 1.70 1,367,341 1.70
Total 114,915,438 70 £ 0.52 60,058450 £ 0.66
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The fairvalueof the stock options granted during the period was calculated using the Black -Scholes option-

pricing model using the following assumptions:

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,

2021 2020 2019
Expected term 5years 5years 5years
Expected volatility 98-100% 90-99% 69-73%
Risk free rate 0.00-061% 0.00-042% 0.22-0.90%
Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0%

The expectedterm of the optionis based on management judgment. The life of the options depends onthe
option expiration date, volatility of the underlying shares and vesting features. We do nothave sufficienthistory to
determine theexpected life based on internal data and therefore the estimate is based on empirical data. Management
uses historical data to determinethe volatility ofthe Company’s share price. The risk -freerate isbased on the Bank of

England’s estimates of the gilt yield curve as of the respective grantdates.
Note 13 — Income taxes

Lossbefore income taxexpenseis as follows (in thousands):

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2021 2020 2019
uU.S. $ 1625 $ (1,359 $ (494)
U.K. (158,924) (128,571) (136,429)
Loss before income tax expense $ (157,299) $ (129,930) $ (136,923)
The components of income tax expenseare as follows (in thousands):
Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2021 2020 2019
United States:
Federal $ 791 $ 162 $ 242
State andlocal — — —
U.K. —
Total currenttax expense 791 162 242
United States:
Federal — — —
State andlocal — — —
U.K. — — —
Total deferred tax expense — — —
Total income tax expense $ 791 $ 162 $ 242
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As of December31,2021and2020the tax effects of temporary differences and carryforwards thatgive rise to
deferred taxassets and liabilities were as follows (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2021 2020
Deferredtax liabilities
Property, plantand equipment: $ 922) $ (796)
Operating leaseright-of-useassets (1,757) (2,009)
Other (238) (156)
Total (2,917) (2,961)
Deferred tax assets
Share-based compensation expense 15,584 9,292
Intangibles 2,401 1,745
Operating leaseliabilities 2,143 2,343
Net operating loss and expenditure credit carryforwards 114,972 71,742
Other 260 237
Total 135,360 85,359
Valuationallowance (132,443) (82,398)
2,917 2,961
Net deferred tax asset/(liability) 3$ — 3 —

The valuationallowance is primarily related to deferred tax assets for operating loss andtax credit carry -
forwards and temporary differences relating to share-based compensation expense. Deferred taxassets havebeen
recognized withouta valuation allowanceto the extentsupported by reversing taxable temporary differences. A
valuation allowance has been provided over the remaining deferred tax assets, which managementconsidered are not
more likely thannotof beingrealized after weighingallavailable positiveand negative evidence including cumulative
losses in recent years and projections of future taxable losses.

The movements in the deferred tax assetvaluation allowance for the year ended December 31,2021 and 2020
areasfollows (thousands):

2021 2020

ValuationallowanceatJanuary 1, $ 82,398 $ 59,172

Increase in valuation allowance through netloss 50,046 23,025

Increase/(decrease) in valuationallowance through other comprehensive

loss 1,512 (2,696)

Foreign exchange translationadjustments (1,513) 2,897
$ 132,443 $ 82,398

The net changein valuationallowance of $50,045,000 for the yearended December 31,2021 includesan
increase of $50,046,000 which was recognized in net loss, and anincrease of $1,512,000 which was recognized in Other
comprehensive loss.
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Reconciliationof the U.K. statutory income tax rateto the Company's effectivetax rate is as follows (in
percentages):

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2021 2020 2019

U.K. taxrate 19.0 % 19.0 % 19.0 %
Tax-exempt reimbursable tax credits included within pretax Research
and development expense 4.1 % 2.8 % 2.8 %
Surrender of R&D expenditures for R&D tax credit refund (10.3)% (8.4)% (7.1)%
Expenses notdeductible (0.2)% (1.4)% — %
Permanent differences for unrealized foreign exchange on
intercompany loans of a long-term investment nature — % —% (1.5)%
Change in valuation allowances (31.8)% (17.8)% (12.4)%
Change in tax rates 18.1 % 4.1 % — %
Difference in tax rates — % —% (1.2)%
R&Dtax credits generated 2.0 % 1.8 % 15 %
Other (1.4)% (0.1)% 0.7)%
Effectiveincome tax rate (0.5)% (0.0)% (0.2)%

The Company is headquartered in the United Kingdom and has subsidiaries in the United Kingdomandthe
United States. The Company incurs tax losses in the United Kingdom. The U.K. corporate taxrate fortheyears ended
December 31,2021, 2020 and 2019was 19%in eachyear. The Company’s subsidiary in the United States has generated
taxable profits due to a service agreementbetween the Company’s subsidiaries in the United States and the United
Kingdom. The U.S. federal corporate taxrate was 21%fortheyears ended December 31,2021, 2020 and 2019,
respectively.

The United Kingdom’s Finance Act 2021, which was enacted on June 10,2021, maintained the corporation tax
rate at 19%up until the year commencing April 1,2023, at which pointthe rate will rise to 25%. As of December 31,
2021,the Companyuseda 25%and 21%tax rate in respect of the measurement of deferred taxes arising in the U.K. and
the U.S., respectively, which reflects the currently enacted tax rates and the anticipated timing of the unwinding o f the
deferred tax balances. In respect ofthe measurementof deferred taxes arisingin the U.K, the increase in the tax rateto
be adopted by the Company from 19% in the yearended December 31,2020to 25% in the year ended December 31,
2023 hasincreasedthe net deferred tax asset and corresponding valuationallowance by $28,420,000. The effectof the
change in tax rates on the Consolidated statement of operations is $nil, after consideration of the change in valuation
allowance.

As of December 31,2021, we do nothaveunremitted earnings in our U.S. subsidiary.

As of December 31,2021, we had U.K. net operating losses of approximately $423,572,000, expenditure credit
carryforwards of $762,000 and U.S. tax credit carryforwards of $8,316,000. Unsurrendered U.K. tax losses and tax
credit carryforwards canbe carried forward indefinitely to be offset against future taxable profits; however, this is
restricted to anannual £5,000,000 allowance in eachstandalone company or group and abovethis allowance, there will
be a 50% restrictionin the profits thatcan be covered by losses brought forward. U.K. tax credit carryforwards canbe
carried forward indefinitely to be offset againstfuture tax liabilities of the company. U.S. tax credit carryforwards can be
carried forward for 20 years to be offset against future tax liabilities, subject to aminimum tax payment of25%of the
tax charge. The tax credit carryforwards expire between 2036and 2041.

Our tax returns are under routineexaminationin the U.K. and U.S. tax jurisdictions. Thescope of these
examinations includes, but isnot limited to, thereview of our taxable presence in a jurisdiction, our deduction of certain
items, our claims forresearchand developmentcredits, our compliancewith transfer pricingrulesandregulations and
the inclusion orexclusion of amounts from our tax returns as filed. The Company is no longer subjectto examinations
by tax authorities for the tax years 2014 and prior in the United Kingdom. However, U.K. net operating losses from the
tax years 2014 and priorwould be subjectto examination if andwhen usedin a future taxreturnto offset taxable
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income. Our U.K. income tax returns have been accepted by Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs through the period
ended December 31,2016. The Company is subject to examinations by taxing authorities in the United States foralltax
years 2014 through 2021. Our U.S. federal income tax return for the yearended June 30,2014 and December 31,2016
were audited by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service and resulted in no changes. We are also subject to audits by U.S. state
taxingauthorities where we have operations.

Unrecognizedtax benefits arise whenthe estimated benefit recorded in the financial statements differs from the

amounts taken orexpected to be taken in a tax return because of uncertainties in the tax law. As of December 31,2021
and December 31,2020, the Company had no unrecognized tax benefits.

Note 14 — Geographic information
Operations by geographicarea

Revenue represents recognized income from the Astellas Collaboration Agreement, the GNE Collaborationand
License Agreement and the GSK Collaborationand License Agreement. Allrevenue wasderivedin the United

Kingdom.

Long-lived assets (excluding intangibles, deferred tax and financial instruments) were located as follows (in
thousands):

December 31, December 31,

2021 2020

U.K. $ 29,701 $ 24,329
U.S. 21,668 22,239
Total long-lived assets® $ 51369 $ 46,568

Major customers:

During the yearended December 31,2021, 63%and 36% of the Company’s revenues were generated from
Astellasand GSK, respectively.
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